Western University Scholarship@Western

Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository

August 2010

Controlled Delivery of Serp-1 Protein from Poly(vinyl alcohol) Hydrogel

Karen L. Kennedy, The University of Western Ontario

Supervisor: Dr. Wankei Wan, *The University of Western Ontario* A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Doctor of Philosophy degree in Biomedical Engineering © Karen L. Kennedy 2010

Follow this and additional works at: https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd

Part of the Biomaterials Commons

Recommended Citation

Kennedy, Karen L., "Controlled Delivery of Serp-1 Protein from Poly(vinyl alcohol) Hydrogel" (2010). *Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository*. 7. https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd/7

This Dissertation/Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by Scholarship@Western. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository by an authorized administrator of Scholarship@Western. For more information, please contact wlswadmin@uwo.ca.

CONTROLLED DELIVERY OF SERP-1 PROTEIN FROM POLY(VINYL ALCOHOL) HYDROGEL

(Spine title: Controlled Protein Delivery from Poly(vinyl alcohol) Hydrogel)

(Thesis format: Monograph)

by

Karen L. Kennedy

Biomedical Engineering Graduate Program

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

The School of Graduate and Postdoctoral Studies The University of Western Ontario London, Ontario, Canada

© Karen L. Kennedy 2010

THE UNIVERSITY OF WESTERN ONTARIO SCHOOL OF GRADUATE AND POSTDOCTORAL STUDIES

CERTIFICATE OF EXAMINATION

Supervisor

Dr. Wankei Wan

Supervisory Committee

Dr. Jeffrey Hutter

Examiners

Dr. John Brash

Dr. Ray Guo

Dr. Argyrios Margaritis

Dr. Argyrios Margaritis

Dr. Martin Zinke-Allmang

Dr. MacKenzie Quantz

The thesis by

Karen L. Kennedy

entitled:

Controlled Delivery of Serp-1 Protein from Poly(vinyl alcohol) Hydrogel

is accepted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Date_____

Chair of the Thesis Examination Board

ABSTRACT

Poly(vinyl alcohol) (PVA) was selected and evaluated as a controlled drug delivery matrix for Serp-1, a potential new therapeutic with anti-inflammatory properties for control of restenosis. PVA hydrogels, containing a high water content, can be formed by physical crosslinking via a process involving freezing and thawing the material in multiple cycles. PVA, being a well known biomaterial, is suited for biomedical applications and the high water content and hydrophilicity provides a friendly environment for the delivery of large protein based drugs. Using bovine serum albumin (BSA) as a model protein, the controlled release properties of PVA were investigated. Release profiles demonstrated diffusion controlled release and adjusting the number of freeze-thaw cycles resulted in a change in release rate. It was also determined that fabricating a reservoir-type system by adding an additional layer of protein-free PVA as an outer barrier provides a method of changing the release kinetics. From a one-layer matrix-type PVA/BSA system the release kinetics follow diffusion controlled release, while from a two-layer reservoir-type system the release kinetics are zero-order. The thickness of the outer barrier controlled the rate of BSA release. Using BSA as a model protein again, its release from PVA hydrogel into phosphate buffered saline (PBS) solutions of varying ionic strength was explored. The amount of BSA released was shown to be influenced by the ionic strength of PBS used as the release medium. Increasing the ionic strength of the release medium caused a reduction in mesh space of the hydrogel and increase in apparent PVA concentration, leading to a reduction in BSA release. These results are important to consider for applications in the physiological environment where salts are unavoidable.

The release of Serp-1 from PVA hydrogel was systematically investigated by considering the effect of the PVA processing parameters. A decrease in release rate was observed when the number of freeze-thaw cycles was increased, the PVA solution concentration was increased, or the freezing and thawing rates were decreased. By manipulating the different processing parameters studied, the diffusive properties of Serp-1 from PVA hydrogel could be controlled over a 30-fold range. In contrast to the

PVA/BSA system where virtually all the protein is released, the amount of Serp-1 released from an equivalent system was found to be only approximately 50 % with the remaining protein trapped in the PVA matrix. This is likely due to a combination of factors including the possible stronger interaction of Serp-1 and PVA, as well as shrinkage of the hydrogel structure.

A therapeutic level of Serp-1 release was achieved by increasing the initial protein loading and with only two freeze-thaw cycles the release was extended over a period of approximately 100 hours. A promising PVA/Serp-1 controlled drug delivery system with tunable properties has been demonstrated. The use of such a controlled release system would offer an improvement over the current Serp-1 delivery method of infusion by gradually releasing Serp-1 over time at the local site of arterial injury. The system can be tuned to adjust the release rate of Serp-1 one by selecting the appropriate combination of processing conditions. The release kinetics can also be adjusted by selecting a one-layer matrix-type system or two-layer reservoir-type system. Therefore, there are many options to tune the PVA/Serp-1 system to meet therapeutic requirements once they are known following clinical trials of the new therapeutic agent.

KEYWORDS

Hydrogel, poly(vinyl alcohol), bovine serum albumin, Serp-1, controlled release, diffusion, freeze-thaw cycles, physical crosslinking

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank my main supervisor Dr. Wankei Wan, the most important influence and leader of this project. Dr. Wan provided me with a great opportunity to undertake this thesis and a great learning experience. His knowledge, support, guidance and insightful discussions have been a great source of encouragement over my years as a graduate student. I would also like to express my gratitude to Dr. Alex Lucas, for her willingness to critique my work and provide helpful feedback. She was an invaluable source of knowledge on the Serp-1 protein and all things related.

This project would not have been possible without the technical assistance from Viron Therapeutics, Inc. I would like to especially thank Elaine King for her support and input on the Serp-1 work; Andrew Peters for training me to do ELISA; Yunming Sun for assisting with the Western blots; and Dr. Colin Mcaulay and Dr. Xing Li for their discussions and advice. Viron Therapeutics, Inc. also kindly donated all the Serp-1 protein and associated antibodies for this work.

Working in Dr. Wan's biomaterials lab group for so many years has led me to become acquainted with many great students and collaborators. Of special mention is Dr. Lifang Yang for her direction on controlled release during the early stages of work. I would also like to thank the rest of the lab group, especially Dr. Leonardo Millon, Dr. Donna Padavan, Elaine Wong and Dr. Kenneth Wong, who were always incredible to work with and such great friends who made my time as a graduate student so enjoyable.

The Biomedical Engineering Graduate Program has afforded the opportunity for graduate studies and in particular Diana Timmermans, our graduate assistant has been a great support. I would like to acknowledge my sources of funding, The University of Western Ontario and the Canadian Institutes of Health Research Training Grant in Vascular Research.

Finally, I must thank my parents, Ray and Dawn Kennedy and sister, Raelene Kennedy, for their love and support, for without which I would not have been able to commit to such a long career of furthering my education.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CERTIFICATE OF EXAMINATION	II
ABSTRACT	III
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	V
TABLE OF CONTENTS	VI
LIST OF TABLES	X
LIST OF FIGURES	XI
LIST OF APPENDICES	XVI
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	XVII
CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Background and Motivation	1
1.2 Objectives	3
CHAPTER 2 LITERATURE REVIEW	4
2.1 Molecules for Restenosis Reduction	5
2.2 Drugs for Drug-Eluting Stents	6
2.2.1 Paclitaxel	6
2.2.2 Sirolimus and its Derivatives	7
2.3 Serp-1	7
2.3.1 Biological Role and Therapeutic Effect	8
2.3.2 Animal Studies	9
2.4 Controlled Release	10
2.4.1 Release Mechanisms	10

2.4.1.1 Diffusion Controlled Release: Matrix versus Reservoir Systems	12
2.4.2 Empirical Models	15
2.4.2.1 Power Law	15
2.4.2.2 Diffusion Model	17
2.4.3 Delivery of Large Water Soluble Drugs (Protein)	18
2.5 Materials for Drug-Eluting Stent Coatings	19
2.5.1 Elastomers	21
2.5.2 Phosphporylcholine	21
2.5.3 Bioresorbable Materials	22
2.5.4 Controlled Release for Drug-Eluting Stents	23
2.6 PVA as a Delivery Matrix	26
2.6.1 Diffusive Properties of Poly(vinyl alcohol)	27
2.7 Motivation for Thesis	28
CHAPTER 3 MATERIALS AND METHODS	30
3.1 Materials	30
3.2 Preparation of PVA Hydrogel Delivery Matrices	31
3.2.1 Preparation of PVA Hydrogel	31
3.2.1.1 Freeze-Thaw Cycling of PVA Samples	31
3.2.2 Preparation of PVA/BSA Hydrogels	31
3.2.2.1 Multi-Layered PVA/BSA Hydrogels	32
3.2.3 Preparation of PVA/Serp-1 Hydrogels	33
3.3 Controlled Release Studies	33
3.3.1 Franz Diffusion Cells	33
3.3.2 Controlled Release of BSA from PVA	35
3.3.2.1 Model Protein Release Studies	35
3.3.2.2 Release from Multi-Layered Samples	35
3.3.2.3 Release Mediums of Different Ionic Strengths	36
3.3.3 Controlled Release of Serp-1 from PVA	36
3.3.3.1 Therapeutic Serp-1 Loading	37
3.3.3.2 Release into Human Whole Blood	37

3.3.3.3 Serp-1 Release in Different Vessels and Different Buffers	38
3.3.3.4 Serp-1 Remaining in PVA Matrix	39
3.4 Protein Quantification	40
3.4.1 UV-Visible Spectroscopy	40
3.4.2 Enzyme-Linked Immunosorbent Assay (ELISA)	40
3.4.2.1 Serp-1 Activity	41
3.4.3 SDS-PAGE and Western Blot	42
3.5 Release Kinetics	43
3.5.1 Release Kinetics of BSA from PVA	43
3.5.2 Release Kinetics of Serp-1 from PVA	43
3.6 Statistics	44
CHAPTER 4 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	45
4.1 Model Protein Release from PVA Hydrogel	45
4.1.1 BSA Release Profile	46
4.1.2 BSA Release from Multi-Layered PVA Samples	50
4.1.2.1 Matrix versus Reservoir	50
4.1.3 Effect of Release Medium Ionic Strength	56
4.2 Serp-1 Activity	62
4.2.1 Repeated Freezing and Thawing of Serp-1	63
4.2.2 Serp-1 Behaviour in Vessels of Different Materials	65
4.2.3 Serp-1 Behaviour in Different Buffers	66
4.3 Controlled Release of Serp-1 from PVA Hydrogel	69
4.3.1 Number of Freeze-Thaw Cycles	69
4.3.2 PVA Concentration	70
4.3.3 Freezing Rate and Thawing Rate	71
4.3.4 Diffusion Properties of Protein in PVA	73
4.3.4.1 Serp-1 Remaining in Matrix	76
4.3.5 Release Kinetics of Serp-1	79
4.3.6 Protein Loading	91
4.3.7 Therapeutic Dosage and Timeframe	92

4.3.8 Serp-1 Release into Human Whole Blood	94
4.4 Design of a Controlled Release System	96
CHAPTER 5 CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE WORK	100
5.1 Conclusions	100
5.2 Future Work	102
BIBLIOGRAPHY	104
APPENDIX A ELISA PROTOCOL	121
APPENDIX B SDS-PAGE PROTOCOL	125
APPENDIX C WESTERN BLOT PROTOCOL	127
APPENDIX D COPYRIGHT PERMISSIONS	130
CURRICULUM VITAE	136

LIST OF TABLES

TABLE 2.1. Release exponent, n, for different release mechanisms and geometries [92].	16
TABLE 3.1. Gel loading for SDS-PAGE.	42
TABLE 4.1. The effect of the number of freeze-thaw cycles on the release ofBSA from PVA. Samples were fabricated with 10 wt% PVA, 0.05 wt%BSA, and both freezing and thawing rates at 0.1 °C/min.	49
TABLE 4.2. Ionic strengths of PBS used.	_ 56
TABLE 4.3. Concentration of Serp-1 remaining in the PVA matrix following release after 0, 12, and 48 hours as calculated from the Western blots. The concentration is converted into percentage to compare to the amount released from the release profile.	79
TABLE 4.4. Controlled release of Serp-1 from PVA with varying PVA processing parameters. Shown are the release exponent values from the Ritger-Peppas model and diffusion coefficients for each combination of PVA processing parameters studied.	82
TABLE 4.5. Release exponents and diffusion coefficients of the uncorrected data and corrected data to account for 49 % of Serp-1 remaining in the PVA matrix for Serp-1 release from 10 wt% PVA with 2 freeze-thaw cycles.	86
TABLE 4.6. Calculated values for corrected M_{∞} to account for the trapped Serp-1 as a function of the number of freeze-thaw cycles.	88
TABLE 4.7. Controlled release of Serp-1 from PVA as a function of the number of freeze-thaw cycles. Shown are the diffusion coefficients for the corrected data set using calculated M_{∞} ' values to account for a portion of Serp-1 remaining in the PVA matrix. Studies were performed releasing Serp-1 (0.001 wt%) from PVA (10 wt%) processed with freezing and thawing rates of 0.10 °C/min.	91

FIGURE 2.1. Reservoir-type and matrix-type drug delivery systems. Reservoir- type contains a saturated drug reservoir surrounded by a rate-controlling membrane of constant thickness and diffusivity. Matrix-type has drug uniformly dispersed in a polymer matrix and drug depletes over time.	12
FIGURE 2.2. Release profiles of different release mechanisms, demonstrating the significance of the release exponent.	_ 16
FIGURE 2.3. Early-time and late-time approximations of the Diffusion Model. Adapted from [88].	18
FIGURE 2.4. Different possible mechanisms of drug release from a DES platform. Grey represents stent strut, blue is the coating and green is the drug. Adapted from [20].	25
FIGURE 3.1. Schematic of the Franz diffusion cell apparatus. The hydrogel containing drug is clamped in between the receptor chamber and the top allowing diffusion to occur in one direction into the receptor.	34
FIGURE 4.1. Comparison of therapeutic protein Serp-1 (a) with model protein BSA (b). (a) Courtesy of Jakob Richardson. (b) Reprinted with permission from [160].	46
FIGURE 4.2. The effect of the number of freeze-thaw cycles on the release of BSA from PVA for 1 cycle (●), 2 cycles (▼), 3 cycles (■), 4 cycles (♦), 5 cycles (▲) and 6 cycles (●). Samples were fabricated with 10 wt% PVA, 0.05 wt% BSA, and both freezing and thawing rates at 0.1 °C/min.	47
FIGURE 4.3. An example of fitting the Diffusion Model using the early-time approximation. Shown are 1 cycle (●), 2 cycles (▼), 3 cycles (■), 4 cycles (♦), 5 cycles (▲) and 6 cycles (●). Samples were fabricated with 10 wt% PVA, 0.05 wt% BSA, and both freezing and thawing rates at 0.1 °C/min. R ² values for the linear fits are 0.9551 (cycle 1), 0.9817 (cycle 2), 0.9945 (cycle 3), 0.9475 (cycle 4), 0.9603 (cycle 5), and 0.9115 (cycle 6).	48
FIGURE 4.4. Fractional BSA release from PVA, comparing (a) matrix-type (■) and (b) reservoir-type (▼) systems. For (a) the Diffusion Model is fit and for (b) the Diffusion Model is fit (dashed line, R ² =0.9343) as well as a linear fit (solid line, R ² =0.9679). The matrix was fabricated of 10 wt%	

PVA with 0.1 wt% BSA using 3 freeze-thaw cycles. The reservoir had a drug layer of 10 wt% PVA with 0.1 wt% BSA and 1 freeze-thaw cycle and an outer barrier of 10 wt% PVA of 3 freeze-thaw cycles.	52
FIGURE 4.5. Amount of BSA release from PVA, comparing (a) matrix-type (■) and (b) reservoir-type (▼) systems. The matrix was fabricated of 10 wt% PVA with 0.1 wt% BSA using 3 freeze-thaw cycles. The reservoir had a drug layer of 10 wt% PVA with 0.1 wt% BSA and 1 freeze-thaw cycle and an outer barrier of 10 wt% PVA of 3 freeze-thaw cycles.	53
FIGURE 4.6. BSA release from PVA, reservoir-type systems with different coating thicknesses, showing the absolute amount released on the left axis and the amount released per surface area on the right axis. The outer coating thicknesses were $0.8 \text{ mm}(\bullet)$ and $1.6 \text{ mm}(\bullet)$.	55
FIGURE 4.7. (a) Mass loss of 10 wt% PVA hydrogels with two freeze-thaw cycles after one week in distilled water and PBS of varying ionic strengths, water or 0X PBS (●), 0.5X PBS (▽), 1X PBS (■), 2X PBS (◊). (b) Reswelling of 10 wt% PVA hydrogels with two freeze-thaw cycles in distilled water after one week in 0.5X PBS (●), 1X PBS (▽), 2X PBS (◊). Dashed line indicates mass percent of 10 wt% PVA hydrogel after one week of soaking in distilled water. Printed with permission from [162].	58
 FIGURE 4.8. Controlled release profile of BSA (0.1 wt%) from 10 wt% PVA into PBS of varying ionic strength, water or 0X PBS (●), 0.5X PBS (♥), 1X PBS (●), 2X PBS (♦). Error bars represent the standard deviation with n=3. 	59
 FIGURE 4.9. Controlled release profile of BSA (0.1 wt%) from 10 wt% PVA, comparing the use of water or PBS as a solvent for PVA. Samples were fabricated by dissolving PVA in PBS and releasing BSA into either water (■) or PBS (◊) and also by dissolving PVA in water and releasing BSA into either water (●) or PBS (▽). Error bars represent the standard deviation with n=3. 	60
FIGURE 4.10. Controlled release profile of BSA (0.1 wt%) from PVA into water, 10.6 wt% PVA(●) and 10.8 wt% PVA (■). Curves match closely with BSA (0.1 wt%) release from 10 wt% PVA into 0.5X PBS (▽) and 1X PBS(◊). Error bars represent the standard deviation with n=3.	62
FIGURE 4.11. Concentration of Serp-1 following the controlled freeze-thaw cycles (1-6) compared to a control with no freezing and thawing. The	

concentrations were determined by ELIZA using specific antibodies for active Serp-1 only and thus it is also a measure of activity. A range of starting concentrations are demonstrated for (A) 100 ng/mL, (B) 10,000

ng/mL and (C) 1 mg/mL. Error bars represent the standard deviation with n=3.	64
FIGURE 4.12. Release profiles of Serp-1 demonstrating the difference in release from different vessels by comparing polypropylene tubes (■) and glass diffusion cells (●)	60
FIGURE 4.13. Release profiles of Serp-1 demonstrating the difference in release into different release mediums in the diffusion cell. Shown are a buffer containing 1% BSA (■) and PBS (●).	6'
FIGURE 4.14. Release profiles of Serp-1 in diffusion cells with release mediums of to PBS (●) or buffer containing 1% BSA (□), which is compared to Serp-1 release in a polypropylene tube (■).	68
FIGURE 4.15. Controlled release profiles demonstrating the effect of the number of freeze-thaw cycles with 1 cycle (●), 2 cycles (▼), 3 cycles (■), 4 cycles (♦), 5 cycles (▲) and 6 cycles (●). Studies were performed releasing Serp-1 (0.001 wt%) from PVA (10 wt%) into a buffered medium using Franz diffusion cells at 37 °C. Error bars represent the standard deviation with n=3.	7
 FIGURE 4.16. Controlled release profiles demonstrating the effect of concentration of PVA solution with 8 wt% (●), 10 wt% (▼) and 12 wt% (■). Studies were performed releasing Serp-1 (0.001 wt%) from PVA with 2 freeze-thaw cycles into a buffered medium using Franz diffusion cells at 37 °C. Error bars represent the standard deviation with n=3. 	7
FIGURE 4.17. Controlled release profiles demonstrating the effect of the freezing rate of the PVA freeze-thaw cycles with 0.15 °C/min (●) and 0.10 °C/min (●). Studies were performed releasing Serp-1 (0.001 wt%) from PVA (10 wt%) with 2 freeze-thaw cycles into a buffered medium using Franz diffusion cells at 37 °C. Error bars represent the standard deviation with n=3.	7
FIGURE 4.18. Controlled release profiles demonstrating the effect of the thawing rate of the PVA freeze-thaw cycles with 0.5 °C/min (●), 0.10 °C/min (▼) and 0.05 °C/min (■). Studies were performed releasing Serp-1 (0.001 wt%) from PVA (10 wt%) with 2 freeze-thaw cycles into a buffered medium using Franz diffusion cells at 37 °C. Error bars represent the standard deviation with n=3.	7

FIGURE 4.19. CSLM image of FITC-BSA in the PVA matrix. The green represents pockets of FITC-BSA surrounded by the non-fluorescent black of the PVA matrix.

74

78

80

81

84

85

86

- FIGURE 4.20. Determination of Serp-1 content remaining in the PVA matrix after release reaches completion. The top shows the release profile of Serp-1 from PVA hydrogel. The bottom shows Western blots of the PVA matrix after 0, 12 and 48 hours. By comparing to the standards, the approximately concentration of each sample can be determined.
 FIGURE 4.21. An example of using the Power Law to find the release exponent, *n*. Shown here is a log-log plot of the release profile of Serp-1 from PVA as a function of the number of freeze-thaw cycles, with 1 cycle (●), 2
 - cycles (\checkmark), 3 cycles (\blacksquare), 4 cycles (\diamondsuit), 5 cycles (\blacktriangle) and 6 cycles (\blacklozenge). The slope of log-log plot is representative of *n*. R² values for the linear fits are 0.9910 (cycle 1), 0.9763 (cycle 2), 0.9795 (cycle 3), 0.9659 (cycle 4), 0.9601 (cycle 5), and 0.9943 (cycle 6).
- **FIGURE 4.22.** An example of using the square root of time versus M_t/M_{∞} to find the diffusion coefficient, *D*. Shown here is the release profile of Serp-1 from PVA as a function of the number of freeze-thaw cycles, with 1 cycle (•), 2 cycles (•), 3 cycles (•), 4 cycles (•), 5 cycles (•) and 6 cycles (•). The slope of representative of $4^2(D/\pi l^2)$ from the early time approximation of the Diffusion Model. R² values for the linear fits are 0.9956 (cycle 1), 0.9832 (cycle 2), 0.9916 (cycle 3), 0.9845 (cycle 4), 0.9896 (cycle 5), and 0.9949 (cycle 6).
- **FIGURE 4.23.** Controlled release profile of Serp-1 from 10 wt% PVA with 2 freeze-thaw cycles from original data (\circ) and the corrected M_{∞} ' = 0.51· M_{∞} (\bullet) to account for 49 % of Serp-1 remaining in the PVA matrix. Error bars represent the standard deviation with n=3.
- **FIGURE 4.24.** Power Law fit of the controlled release profile of Serp-1 from 10 wt% PVA with 2 freeze-thaw cycles corrected with M_{∞} '=0.51· M_{∞} to account for 49 % of Serp-1 remaining in the PVA matrix. R² = 0.9984. Error bars represent the standard deviation with n=3.
- **FIGURE 4.25.** Diffusion Model fit of the controlled release profile of Serp-1 from 10 wt% PVA with 2 freeze-thaw cycles corrected with M_{∞} '=0.51· M_{∞} to account for 49 % of Serp-1 remaining in the PVA matrix. Shown are the early-time approximation (R² = 0.9722) and late-time approximation (R² = 0.9905). Error bars represent the standard deviation with n=3.

- **FIGURE 4.26.** Release profiles corrected using M_{∞} ' to account for Serp-1 trapped in PVA matrix. The effect of the number of freeze-thaw cycles is demonstrated with 1 cycle (\bullet), 2 cycles (\checkmark), 3 cycles (\blacksquare), 4 cycles (\blacklozenge), 5 cycles (\blacktriangle) and 6 cycles (\blacklozenge). Studies were performed releasing Serp-1 (0.001 wt%) from PVA (10 wt%) into a buffered medium using Franz diffusion cells at 37 °C. Error bars represent the standard deviation with n=3.
- **FIGURE 4.27.** An example of using the square root of time versus M_t/M_{∞} to find the diffusion coefficient, *D*. Shown here are the release profiles of Serp-1 corrected by M_{∞} ' to account for Serp-1 trapped in PVA matrix. The effect of the number of freeze-thaw cycles is demonstrated, with 1 cycle (\bullet), 2 cycles (\checkmark), 3 cycles (\blacksquare), 4 cycles (\blacklozenge), 5 cycles (\blacktriangle) and 6 cycles (\blacklozenge). The slope of representative of $4^2(D/\pi l^2)$ from the early time approximation of the Diffusion Model. R² values for the linear fits are 0.9956 (cycle 1), 0.9832 (cycle 2), 0.9916 (cycle 3), 0.9845 (cycle 4), 0.9896 (cycle 5), and 0.9949 (cycle 6).
- FIGURE 4.28. Controlled release profiles demonstrating the effect of the drug loading with 0.010 wt% Serp-1 (■), 0.005 wt% Serp-1 (●), and 0.001 wt% Serp-1 (▼). Studies were performed releasing Serp-1 from PVA (10 wt%) with 2 freeze-thaw cycles into a buffered medium using Franz diffusion cells at 37 °C. Error bars represent the standard deviation with n=3.
- **FIGURE 4.29.** In vitro release profile of Serp-1 from PVA at a therapeutic loading into a buffered medium. The PVA samples were prepared using two freeze-thaw cycles, 10 wt% PVA solution, 0.1 °C/min freezing and thawing rates, with about 200 µg Serp-1 loaded. Data represents the average of 3 samples and the error bars are the standard deviation.
- **FIGURE 4.30.** *In vitro* release profile of Serp-1 from PVA at a therapeutic loading into human whole blood. The PVA samples were prepared using two freeze-thaw cycles, 10 wt% PVA solution, 0.1 °C/min freezing and thawing rates, with about 200 µg Serp-1 loaded. Data is preliminary and is the average of 2 samples.

89

92

90

96

94

LIST OF APPENDICES

Appendix A ELISA Protocol	
Appendix B SDS-PAGE Protocol	125
Appendix C Western Blot Protocol	
Appendix D Copyright Permissions	130

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

BMS	Bare Metal Stent		
BSA	Bovine Serum Albumin		
CABG	Coronary Artery Bypass Graft Surgery		
CSLM	Confocal Scanning Laser Microscope		
DES	Drug-Eluting Stent		
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic Acid		
EC	Endothelial Cell		
ECM	Extracellular Matrix		
ELISA	Enzyme-Linked Immunosorbent Assay		
FDA	Food and Drug Administration		
FITC-BSA	Fluorescein Isothiocyanate Conjugated Bovine Serum Albumin		
HPMC	Hydroxy Propyl Methyl Cellulose		
HRP	Horseradish Peroxidase		
LbL	Layer-by-Layer		
K ₂ EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetracetic Acid Dipotassium Salt		
MMP	Matrix Metalloproteinase		
mTOR	Mammalian Target of Rapamycin		
Mw	Number Average Molecular Weight		
PAI	Plasminogen Activator Inhibitor		
PBMA	Poly(n-butyl methacrylate)		
PC	Phosphorylcholine		
PCI	Percutaneous Coronary Intervention		
PCL	Poly(caprolactone)		
PDLLA	Poly(D,L-lactic acid)		
PEG	Poly(ethylene glycol)		
PEVA	Poly(ethylene-co-vinyl acetate)		
PLGA	Poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid)		
PLLA	Poly(L-lactic acid)		
PVA	Poly(vinyl alcohol)		
RSL	Reactive Site Loop		
SDS-PAGE	Sodium Dodecyl Sulfate Polyacrylamide Gel Electrophoresis		
SIBS	Poly(styrene-isobutylene-styrene)		
SMC	Smooth Muscle Cell		
TMB	Tetramethylbenzidine		
Tg	Glass Transition Temperature		
tPA	Tissue Plasminogen Activator		
uPA	Urokinase Plasminogen Activator		
uPAR	Urokinase Plasminogen Activator Receptor		
UV-Vis	Ultraviolet-Visible		

INTRODUCTION

1.1 BACKGROUND AND MOTIVATION

Cardiovascular disease is a leading cause of death in the Westernized world. Coronary artery disease is most common type of cardiovascular disease and is caused by atherosclerosis. The build-up of plaque on artery walls, or atherosclerosis, results in narrowed or blocked arteries. Atherosclerosis of the coronary arteries is a risk for heart attack and treatment options are crucial. Treatment may include coronary artery bypass graft surgery (CABG) or percutaneous coronary intervention (PCI). PCI has its advantages since it is a much less invasive procedure and can provide almost immediate improvement of the quality of life. PCI involves balloon angioplasty and deployment of a stent to push back the plaque and provide a mechanical structure to keep the vessel open while it heals. The main disadvantage of PCI is restenosis, where re-narrowing within the stented region occurs in the first three weeks following injury, affecting 15-20% of cases [1]. In-stent restensis is a reaction to the injury caused by the angioplasty balloon expansion and stent implantation, and in addition, may be a foreign body response to the implanted stent [2]. This biological response manifests after endothelial denudation leading to recruitment of inflammatory cells and cellular proliferation and migration of smooth muscle cells (SMCs) and fibroblasts ending in neointimal formation [3-5].

Drug-eluting stents (DESs) have become an important treatment option as they are intended to prevent in-stent restenosis by delivering therapeutics to control neointimal formation. They offer local drug delivery to manage the tissue in-growth leading to neointimal hyperplasia. The most common drugs delivered are anti-proliferative agents that have the downfall of not being specific to cell type [6]. Both endothelial cells (ECs) and SMCs are inhibited when re-endothelialization is an important step in maintaining stent patency. Current DESs have problems with late-stent thrombosis, local toxicity, and hypersensitivity reactions [7-10]. There is a need to create new coatings for DESs including the use of new materials and new drugs. The design of such a system would require materials that are biocompatible and hemocompatible as well as having the ability to control the release of a specific drug in a timely manner. The controlled release mechanism and drug-material interaction plays a large role in how this is achieved.

Poly(vinyl alcohol) (PVA) is a common biomaterial and the physically crosslinked class of PVA hydrogels by the low temperature thermal cycling method have been studied for drug delivery applications. PVA is physically crosslinked by repeated freezing and thawing cycles making it more biomedical friendly due to the lack of chemical crosslinking agents. This class of PVA hydrogels have tuneable mechanical properties and controlled release rates based on the processing parameters utilized [11, 12]. The use of PVA as a controlled release matrix has been studied for protein release [13-15]. PVA is an attractive alternative for local drug release in the coronary artery because its hydrophilic nature allows for the delivery of large water-soluble drugs such as protein. The existing polymer coatings on DESs are mostly hydrophobic and are unable to incorporate protein drugs neglecting an important class of drugs which could potentially be useful to control restenosis.

Serp-1 is a serine proteinase inhibitor that is isolated from the myxoma virus. This viral protein has demonstrated anti-inflammatory activity and the ability to reduce plaque growth in animal models following angioplasty injury [16, 17]. Serp-1 is a regulator of the thrombolytic, thrombotic and inflammatory pathways. By targeting particular components of these pathways, Serp-1 has the potential to regulate restenosis by an alternative method as opposed to arresting the cell cycle non-specifically, as done by the popular anti-proliferative agents used on DES platforms.

1.2 OBJECTIVES

The overall goal of this thesis project was to design a PVA hydrogel controlled release system to deliver the Serp-1 protein for the management of restenosis.

The objectives are:

- To examine the diffusion properties of PVA hydrogel using bovine serum albumin (BSA) as a model protein
- (2) To observe the difference in release kinetics of BSA from single layered (matrix) PVA hydrogel versus multi-layered (reservoir) PVA hydrogel
- (3) To determine the effect of release medium on the release profile of BSA from PVA
- (4) To characterize the diffusion of Serp-1 from PVA hydrogel
- (5) To model the release kinetics of Serp-1 from PVA hydrogel

LITERATURE REVIEW

Percutaneous coronary intervention (PCI), also known as angioplasty, often involves threading a catheter into an artery to the area narrowed by plaque then dilating a balloon to push back the plaque and open the vessel. A metallic stent can be expanded to hold the vessel open after balloon angioplasty. The action of a balloon and stent forcing the artery open leads to injury of the vessel wall. The response to this injury from the overstretching of the arterial wall can lead to restenosis [2, 18]. The re-narrowing of the vessel, or restenosis, within the stented region is the main reason for stent failure and is defined as more than 50 % loss of lumen diameter [19]. Neointimal hyperplasia is the main culprit of in-stent restenosis and is a complex response that starts with disruption of the endothelial layer. This involves platelet activation and the influx of inflammatory cells, followed by cellular migration and proliferation in the intimal layer. Vascular SMCs and fibroblasts travel from the media and adventitia into the intima and begin to deposit extracellular matrix (ECM), remodeling the vessel wall and forming scar tissue that may obstruct blood flow [1, 4, 5].

To prevent restenosis, efforts have been placed on therapeutic treatment. Systemic administration of anti-restenotic drugs has not been successful owing to deficient drug concentration reaching the local arterial target [8, 20]. To alleviate this, local drug administration is used to ensure a high enough drug concentration at the target site is achieved and to minimize adverse systemic effects. Drug-eluting stents (DESs) have been the most successful local delivery method thus far. A DES is a bare metal stent (BMS) coated with an anti-restenotic drug to be released. Typically the drug is in a polymer matrix so that the polymer provides some control over the drug release

properties. The first and second generations of DESs include four key stents which have been US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) approved: Cypher (2003) by Cordis Corporation, Taxus (2004) by Boston Scientific, and then Endeavor (2008) by Medtronic, and Xience (2008) by Abbott. There are still concerns over the use of the current DESs which may experience insufficient drug delivery [21], potency and non-specificity of drugs [6], delayed healing and late stent thrombosis [7, 22], and local hypersensitivity [9, 10]. Thus, there is a need for a new approach for local drug delivery to fight restenosis, which may include new drugs, new delivery platforms, and/or new devices.

2.1 MOLECULES FOR RESTENOSIS REDUCTION

Following PCI there are multiple molecules which have been considered for restenosis reduction. Therapeutic strategies for preventing restenosis usually target the healing response that leads to neointimal hyperplasia by hindering platelet activation, acute inflammation, SMC migration and proliferation, ECM production, angiogenesis and vascular remodeling [18]. These agents may include anti-platelet and anti-coagulant, anti-inflammatory and immunosuppressant, anti-proliferative, and pro-healing drugs. Local delivery of these anti-restenotic agents has been directed at several biological targets in clinical studies. For example, anti-coagulant molecules such as heparin and argatroban [23] are thrombin inhibitors. Nitric oxide [24] and angiopeptin [25] have been considered for their modulation of SMC proliferation. Several other agents used target the cell cycle at different stages causing cell cycle arrest to slow or stop cell proliferation. These include paclitaxel [26-30], 7-Hexanoyltaxol [31-33], sirolimus [34-36], tacrolimus [37], everolimus [38, 39], zotarolimus [40, 41]. Actinomycin D [42] inhibits RNA synthesis, while batimastat [43] inhibits matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs). Dexamethasone [44-46] and mycophenolic acid [47] are both immunosuppressants. Prohealing agents VEGF genes [48], estradiol [49, 50], and anti-CD34 antibodies [51] all promote enodthelialization.

2.2 DRUGS FOR DRUG-ELUTING STENTS

Delivery of drugs from DESs must take into consideration factors such as the therapeutic concentration range, timeframe of delivery, and local pharmacokinetics. Local delivery of these drugs to the injured site allows for prolonged delivery at high concentrations without the risk of systemic toxicity and avoids the loss of agents with short half lives [8]. Yet, it is still essential that the concentration of the drug be within the therapeutic range so that it is high enough to be effective but not toxic [21]. The timing of drug release should match the healing of the arterial wall and it is thought a timeframe of around 30 days for most anti-restenotic drugs is required [52, 53].

Heparin, a thrombin inhibitor, has been the common anti-coagulant studied for DESs due to its extensive clinical use [54], but other agents that prevent the cascade of events leading to coagulation, such as anti-platelet drugs, are also thought to be useful but have been met with limited success [4]. Dexamethasone is of interest because it is known for its anti-inflammatory properties [44]. Pro-healing agents provide a different approach by promoting re-endothelialization so the arterial wall heals quickly and restores normal function to preserve stent patency. The endothelial wall is critical as it provides anti-thrombotic factors and without complete re-endothelialization late stent thrombosis is a risk [6, 7]. The most popular therapeutic strategy is the use of anti-proliferative agents. Commercially used DESs in America all have anti-proliferative agents on their platforms. These include paclitaxel and sirolimus as well as some derivatives of sirolimus, which will be discussed in the following sections.

2.2.1 Paclitaxel

Paclitaxel is an anti-proliferative agent as a result of its ability to stabilize microtubules causing cell cycle arrest at the mitotic phase, rendering the microtubules dysfunctional and incapable of cell replication [55-57]. Also known by its trade name Taxol, it is commonly used for cancer treatment for its ability to cause cell death in

replicating cancer cells. Paclitaxel is found in the extract from the bark of Pacific Yew tree [55].

Paclitaxel is the active ingredient of the Taxus Express stent by Boston Scientific. Clinically, this DES has shown that it is more effective in reducing restenosis when compared to a BMS as demonstrated in the TAXUS I-IV trials [26-29, 58-60].

2.2.2 Sirolimus and its Derivatives

Sirolimus (rapamycin) is also known for its anti-proliferative properties. Its mode of action differs from paclitaxel in that it inhibits the mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR), arresting the cell cycle at the transition of G1 to S phase [61]. It is also thought to have immunosuppressant properties potentially making a more attractive option. Its immunosuppressant activity comes from the propensity to inhibit cell cycle progression in T lymphocytes [62]. Sirolimus is a fermentation product of a soil microorganism from Rapu Nui [61].

Several sirolimus-analogues have also been considered for their potential use as anti-restenotic drugs. For instance, everolimus has a similar mode of action and is the active agent of Abbott's Xience V stent [63]. Zotarolimus, used on Medtronic's Endeavor stent, is another analogue that has a shorter circulating half-life, reducing its systemic immunosuppressant potency [64].

2.3 SERP-1

A new therapeutic agent still under clinical trials is Serp-1 for its potential antiinflammatory and anti-atherogenic properties. Serp-1 is a serine proteinase inhibitor (serpin) that is secreted by the myxoma virus, a pathogen of rabbits. It is a 55 kDa glycoprotein with promise as an anti-inflammatory agent as it has been shown to modulate immune cell responses [65]. A phase I safety trial in man of Serp-1 was successful and no adverse side effects were observed. Currently, it is undergoing a phase IIa safety and efficacy trial where patients are given an infusion of Serp-1 immediately after balloon angioplasty and stent implantation. It is the first human trial of a native anti-inflammatory viral protein [66].

2.3.1 Biological Role and Therapeutic Effect

The activity of Serp-1, like other serpins, is dependent on its conformation and reactive site loop (RSL). To maintain their inhibitory activity, serpins stay in an unstable conformation with the RSL sticking out of the β -sheet. The more stable state with the RSL inserted in the β -sheet gives a non-inhibitory or latent state similar to a cleaved serpin [67]. They operate via a suicide inhibition, where the RSL binds to a protease and drags it across the face of the serpin changing the native conformation of both the serpin and protease, rendering both inactive. Alteration of the RSL of Serp-1 results in loss of protease inhibitory activity and anti-inflammatory activity [68, 69].

Serpins are known for the inhibitory activity acting as regulators of many proteolytic cascades [67]. As a serpin, Serp-1 is considered for its regulation of thrombosis, thombolysis, and inflammatory pathways. The thrombotic cascade results in clotting from both intrinsic and extrinsic cascades leading to activation of factor X and thrombin formation. Thrombin activates fibrinogen to form fibrin, creating a clot. The thrombolytic cascade is responsible for clot dissolving. Thrombolytic participants tissue plasminogen activator (tPA) and urokinase plasminogen activator (uPA) cleave the proform of plasminogen to form active plasmin. Playing a part in inflammation, tPA, uPA, uPA receptor (uPAR) and their serpin, plasminogen activator inhibitor (PAI-1), are up-regulated at sites of tissue injury. The plasminogen activators along with plasmin activate MMPs to degrade connective tissue, collagen, and elastin, allowing invading cells to migrate in damaged tissue. The plasminogen activators also release growth factors. Excessive uPA or PAI-1 has been associated with increased plaque growth and increased inflammation [70, 71].

Serp-1 is a native viral immunomodulatory protein that redirects the host immune response away from the invading virus. It is an inhibitor of tPA, uPA and plasmin from the thrombolytic pathway and an inhibitor of factor Xa from the thrombotic pathway [72]. Thus, Serp-1 has the potential of being a strong regulator of the cascades directly affecting arterial plaque and inflammation. In the presence of heparin, Serp-1 inhibits thrombin and has the potential to be more anti-thrombotic than anti-thrombolytic [73]. Serp-1 also has been shown to block activation of ECs, platelets, monocytes, and T cells which signifies its ability to regulate immune responses [74, 75].

2.3.2 Animal Studies

Purified Serp-1 has been used in animal models to demonstrate its capability to diminish inflammation and cell migration. For instance, in a rabbit model using angioplasty injury, one bolus of 30-3000 ng of Serp-1 was infused with a Wolinsky catheter. This low dose, local infusion was given at the time of balloon angioplasty and resulted in effective inhibition of plaque growth at 4 weeks and blocked early inflammatory cell invasion [17].

In other studies of angioplasty injury in rabbit aorta or microswine models, Serp-1 was not effective after a single bolus immediately after stent implant. However, plaque was reduced after 2, 3 or 11 daily intravenous injections after stent implant [16, 66]. Therefore, with recurring injury such as occurs with repeated angioplasty or an implanted stent, there was less effective reduction in plaque with a single bolus, but multiple injections significantly reduced plaque [16, 66]. This study also confirmed that Serp-1 reduced monocyte and T-cell invasion at the site of vascular injury [16].

In another study, a mouse model of carotid cuff injury was evaluated. Serp-1 was infused subcutaneously continuously by an osmotic pump for 4 weeks [76]. It was found there was a significant (67 %) reduction in plaque size and a reduction in markers for plaque instability. However, if treatment was started 5 weeks after cuff placement instead of one week, there was no significant reduction observed [76]. It was also shown

that macrophage number was decreased with increased SMCs and collagen content, signifying a more stable plaque phenotype with less risk of plaque rupture [76].

Serp-1 has also been investigated in models for aortic transplant [77], renal transplant [78], arthritis [79], and angiogenesis [80].

2.4 CONTROLLED RELEASE

Drug delivery can take many forms from patches, to injected microspheres, to pumps, to tablets, to implants, and so on. Any drug delivery device has the goal of delivering a therapeutic agent to a target site. Improving upon this is the concept of controlled release. Controlled release provides a method to deliver the drug for a specific and predictable rate, dose and timeframe. While simply getting the drug to a targeted local site is enough for some applications, quite often it is important to control the release kinetics so that the drug is effective for an appropriate amount of time. This includes maintaining the drug concentration within a therapeutic range so that it does not become toxic if it is too high or so that it is ineffective if it is too low. Polymeric systems are the dominant approach for controlled release systems, but non-polymer based systems are also available including liposomes, porous metallic surfaces and pumps [81-83]. However, the discussion of this thesis will be restricted to polymer based systems as it directly relates to the current study.

2.4.1 Release Mechanisms

Several release mechanisms exist for controlling drug delivery from polymeric systems, such as diffusion, degradation, ion-exchange, osmosis, and chemically modified. For drug delivery, physical mechanisms are more easily achieved than chemical mechanisms. Chemical mechanisms have the disadvantage of having to chemically modify the drug to tether it to the delivery polymer [21]. Therefore, physical mechanisms are easier to use for controlled drug delivery and can be quite effective. The

mechanism of release predicts the release kinetics which can be modified by varying the geometry of device, the thickness of polymer membrane, surface area, type of polymer used, and so on [21]. In fact, the controlled release properties of a specific system are dependent on several factors, mostly to do with the properties of the polymer, the properties of the drug, and their interaction. Properties of the polymer to be considered include molecular weight, degree of crosslinking, hydrophobicity, etc. Important properties of the drug may include its solubility in the polymer, size, surface charge, etc.

Diffusion controlled release simply involves embedding a drug into a polymeric matrix and allowing it to migrate out of the matrix based on a concentration gradient of the drug between the surrounding environment and inside the polymer matrix. The rate at which the drug diffuses is dependent the distance it has to travel and the tortuousity of the path which is based on the properties of the polymer. The kinetics of this mechanism will be further discussed in the following section. Degradation controlled release is dependent on the degradation or dissolution of the polymer with drug encapsulated, releasing the drug as the polymer breaks down. When the time period of degradation is much greater than the release period, the degradation rate of the polymer controls the rate of release [84]. Ion exchange release means that the drugs are electrostatically bound to the polymer matrix and can be exchanged with ions of the same charge from the surrounding environment. Ion exchange is a promising approach for deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) delivery due to it being a charged molecule [21]. Osmotically controlled release typically involves swelling an osmogen or salt-containing device that puts pressure on a drug depot, forcing the drug out through an orifice. The release kinetics are zero-order because of the constant osmotic pressure that builds as water is drawn across a semi-permeable membrane to the osmogen, and swelling squeezes the drug out at a steady-state [85]. Swelling controlled release involves water moving into the polymer network and swelling the polymer matrix so that there are larger pores and more space for the drug to diffuse out. The macromolecular chains relax as the polymer transforms from the glassy state to a rubbery state allowing diffusion to occur [86].

2.4.1.1 Diffusion Controlled Release: Matrix versus Reservoir Systems

There are two systems for release by diffusion, matrix-type or reservoir-type. A matrix-type device contains a drug that is uniformly distributed throughout a polymer matrix. A reservoir-type device has a drug core which is surrounded by an outer layer or membrane. FIGURE 2.1 demonstrates the differences in the two systems.



FIGURE 2.1. Reservoir-type and matrix-type drug delivery systems. Reservoir-type contains a saturated drug reservoir surrounded by a rate-controlling membrane of constant thickness and diffusivity. Matrix-type has drug uniformly dispersed in a polymer matrix and drug depletes over time.

A reservoir drug delivery system should display release that is independent of time with zero-order kinetics. The release rate is controlled by diffusion through the outer membrane [87]. The thickness of the membrane can be adjusted to regulate the release rate, making it easy to alter the dosage without changing the formulation. The drug reservoir can contain the concentrated drug alone or can be a polymer matrix within which the drug is suspended. In the case of the latter, the polymer matrix should provide

less diffusional resistance than the outer rate-limiting membrane layer. The release kinetics for this type of system follow Fick's first law, under sink conditions, where the concentration of the drug core is sufficiently high so that the concentration difference on either side of the membrane is constant. This constant flux (*J*) is described by EQUATION 2.1, where *D* is the diffusion coefficient, *C* is the drug concentration, $\frac{\partial C}{\partial x}$ is the concentration gradient along position *x*, *K* is a partition coefficient, and *l* is the thickness of the membrane [88].

$$J = -D \frac{\partial C}{\partial x}$$
 or $J = \frac{DK\Delta C}{l}$ (EQUATION 2.1)

A disadvantage of the reservoir-type drug delivery system is that a sudden rupture of the outer membrane would lead to the release of the drug all at once or 'dose dumping'. This has the obvious problem of resulting in sudden local toxicity. Another disadvantage of this type of system may be the occurrence of a time-lag or burst effect. A time-lag occurs when the drug molecule takes some time to cross the outer membrane barrier before releasing at a steady state. The opposite can occur resulting in a burst which may happen if the drug has migrated into the membrane layer during storage and rapidly releases at the beginning before steady state is reached [89].

Matrix-type (monolithic) drug delivery systems are polymeric matrices with drug molecules dissolved or dispersed. The release rate is time dependent and influenced by the initial drug loading and geometry [87]. Drug release occurs by diffusion of the drug to the surface and is controlled by the properties of the polymer matrix. The main disadvantage of matrix-type systems is that the release is not zero-order.

For drugs that are soluble within the matrix there are two cases depending if the drug concentration is above or below the concentration of its solubility within the matrix. When the drug concentration is less than its solubility in the matrix, the release rate decreases over time as molecules near the surface have a shorter distance to travel and release first [84]. In fact, for slab geometry the cumulative release is proportional to the

square root of time. This process is described by Fick's second law (EQUATION 2.2) since the concentration of the drug within the volume is changing with time $\left(\frac{\partial C}{\partial t}\right)$.

$$\frac{\partial C}{\partial t} = D \frac{\partial^2 C}{\partial x^2}$$
(EQUATION 2.2)

When the drug concentration is greater than its solubility in the matrix, the release rate is limited by the drug dissolution. Drug rich phases must first dissolve into the polymer matrix before diffusing to the surface. In this instance, the famous Higuchi model (EQUATION 2.3) can be used to describe the pseudo steady state kinetics [90]. Here M_t is the amount of drug released, A is the surface area, C_s is the drug solubility in the matrix, and C_o is the initial drug concentration. Assumptions made for this equation are that $C_o >> C_s$, swelling is negligible, perfect sink conditions are maintained, and edge effects are negligible [86, 91].

$$M_t = A \left[DC_s \left(2C_o - C_s t \right) \right]^{1/2}$$
(EQUATION 2.3)

For drugs that are not soluble in the polymer matrix, diffusion must occur through water-filled pores created by the drug particles themselves. An example of such a system would be water-soluble protein in a hydrophobic polymer. In this case, the solid drug particles are dispersed throughout the polymer and dissolve when placed in contact with an aqueous environment. The drug molecules do not diffuse through the polymer phase but through the water-filled network created as the drug particles dissolve [84]. This requires interconnecting pores be created by the solid drug particles. Therefore, the drug loadings need to be high since low loadings yield disconnected pores. Often with these systems the release is not 100 % since there is always the possibility of isolated particles. Larger drug particles and higher loadings result in increased release rates due to the simpler pathways they create. For these systems an effective diffusion coefficient (D_{eff}) can be found (EQUATION 2.4) based on the tortuosity (τ), porosity (ε), and the diffusion coefficient in the water-filled pores (D_{pore}) [84].

$$D_{eff} = \frac{D_{pore} \cdot \varepsilon}{\tau}$$
(EQUATION 2.4)

2.4.2 Empirical Models

Mathematical modeling of controlled drug delivery systems provides information on release kinetics and transport processes. Diffusion is the most frequently modeled process as it is the common mechanism for pharmaceutical controlled release applications. Empirical or semi-empirical models help to describe the movement of molecules through the polymeric matrix.

2.4.2.1 Power Law

The Power Law was first described by Ritger and Peppas in 1987 for drug release purposes [92]. This semi-empirical model (EQUATION 2.5) is used to analyze the behaviour of drug release and is valid for the first 60 % of release. Here, M_t/M_{∞} is the fraction of drug released, with M_t being the amount of drug released at time t and M_{∞} the infinite drug loading, k is a kinetic constant and n is the release exponent [92].

$$\frac{M_t}{M_{\infty}} = kt^n$$
 (EQUATION 2.5)

The value of the release exponent n provides useful information on the mechanism of release. FIGURE 2.2 demonstrates the differences in release profiles for varying n values. For thin slab geometry, an n value of 0.5 indicates Fickian diffusion [92]. For other geometries and release mechanisms, the value of n can be found in TABLE 2.1.



FIGURE 2.2. Release profiles of different release mechanisms, demonstrating the significance of the release exponent.

Release Exponent, <i>n</i>		Drug Polooso Machanism	
Thin film	Cylinder	Sphere	Di ug Kelease Wiechanishi
0.50	0.45	0.43	Fickian diffusion
0.50 < <i>n</i> < 1.0	0.45 < <i>n</i> < 1.0	0.43 < <i>n</i> < 1.0	Anomalous
1.0	1.0	1.0	Zero-order release

TABLE 2.1. Release exponent, n, for different release mechanisms and geometries [92].

2.4.2.2 Diffusion Model

The Diffusion Model arises from Fick's second law of diffusion under the assumption of one-dimensional release under perfect sink conditions. Specifically for thin slab geometry, the solution can be represented as a series (EQUATION 2.6) or an error function (EQUATION 2.7) [88].

$$\frac{M_t}{M_{\infty}} = 1 - \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{8 \exp\left(-D[2n+1]^2 \pi^2 t/l^2\right)}{(2n+1)^2 \pi^2}$$
(EQUATION 2.6)

$$\frac{M_t}{M_{\infty}} = 4 \left(\frac{Dt}{l^2}\right)^{1/2} \left(\pi^{-1/2} + 2\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} (-1)^n i erfc \frac{nl}{2\sqrt{Dt}}\right)$$
(EQUATION 2.7)

These complex equations can be simplified for everyday use into a short-time approximation (EQUATION 2.8) and a long-time approximation (EQUATION 2.9) [88]. A plot of the two approximations is shown in FIGURE 2.3.

$$\frac{M_t}{M_{\infty}} = 4 \left(\frac{Dt}{\pi l^2}\right)^{1/2} \quad \text{for} \quad 0 \le \frac{M_t}{M_{\infty}} \le 0.6 \quad (\text{EQUATION 2.8})$$

$$\frac{M_t}{M_{\infty}} = 1 - \frac{8}{\pi^2} \exp\left(-\frac{\pi^2 Dt}{l^2}\right) \text{ for } 0.4 \le \frac{M_t}{M_{\infty}} \le 1.0$$
 (Equation 2.9)



FIGURE 2.3. Early-time and late-time approximations of the Diffusion Model. Adapted from [88].

2.4.3 Delivery of Large Water Soluble Drugs (Protein)

Although polymer matrices make for good delivery vehicles for drugs, the commonly used polymers are hydrophobic and best accommodate hydrophobic drug molecules. However, this eliminates the use of a range of hydrophilic drugs of therapeutic benefit. In particular, proteins are a large class of therapeutics which are typically water-soluble and sensitive agents that can be challenging to deliver effectively.

The biological activity of a protein can be difficult to maintain until reaching its target. Oral delivery of proteins is limited by the gastric system and thus multiple injections or intravenous infusions become the delivery methods of choice [93]. Local drug delivery of protein therapeutics would overcome the difficulties of patient compliance and also help to retain the protein activity, increasing its efficacy.
Incorporating a protein drug into a polymer matrix can protect the protein from proteolysis and antibody neutralization *in vivo* in addition to providing a controlled release vehicle [94]. Design of a controlled release system for a protein drug should take into consideration properties of the protein including molecular size, biological half-life, immunogenicity, conformational stability, dose requirement, site and rate of administration, pharmocokinetics, and pharmacodynamics [93, 95].

It can be a challenge to incorporate proteins into a polymer matrix. Complications that may be encountered during manufacturing include protein denaturing by chemicals used, leaching out of the protein in aqueous solutions while removing porogens from the polymer matrix, and loss of protein activity when chemically tethering to the polymer backbone [96]. To avoid these problems, hydrogels with high water content are viewed as protein friendly delivery materials. Water-soluble proteins can easily diffuse through a hydrogel matrix with only its size as a restriction [96]. Swollen hydrogels offer more effective area for diffusion of larger macromolecular drugs [93]. The downfall of using hydrogels for controlled release applications is that the release rate is often rapid, but there are tactics to alleviate this. For instance, the crosslinking density can be increased to decrease the diffusion of the protein [96].

2.5 MATERIALS FOR DRUG-ELUTING STENT COATINGS

Polymers are thus far the material of choice for DES coatings. The coating of a DES has several roles including being a surface that is friendly in the blood-contacting cardiovascular environment as well as being able to control the release of the drug it contains. These devices are implanted in direct contact with the bloodstream, therefore they must not only be biocompatible, but also preferably be hemocompatible. Hemocompatibility means that the material properties will not change blood functions, transform blood components or form thromboses [97]. The interaction between blood and a foreign material can initiate protein adsorption, platelet adhesion and activation, leukocyte adhesion and activation, and the activation of the complement and coagulation

pathways [98]. However, in general all synthetic polymers are blood incompatible, thus the challenge becomes to use materials and techniques to increase their blood compatibility. To aid in hemocompatibility, materials with a surface that is nonthrombogenic are crucial. The surface properties of a material greatly influence its thrombogenicity. These include surface energy, wettability, texture, and charge [53, 99]. Hydrophobic surfaces tend to absorb more plasma proteins than uncharged hydrophilic surfaces. And, smooth surfaces are less likely to adsorb protein while rough surfaces can be strong activators of blood platelets.

Several approaches have been undertaken to modify a material's surface to enhance its hemocompatibility. Three approaches to this are surface passivation to minimize blood-material interaction, immobilization of bioactive molecules on the surface, and promotion of endothelialization [100]. Passive coatings can be biologically inert materials that act as a barrier between stent and the bloodstream, including gold, carbon, and silicon carbide [19, 53]. Heparin, an anti-coagulant, is a frequently employed molecule that can be immobilized on the surface by endpoint attachment for improved hemocompatibility [54]. Additionally, the promotion of endothelialization of a surface has gained some attention in recent years as a method to create a hemocompatible surface This can be achieved by two different approaches. that mimics nature. The first approach is to seed a materials surface with ECs with the help of cell adhesion proteins or peptide sequences, allowing a confluent layer to cover the surface before implantation. The second approach is to either immobilize a molecule to the surface or release molecules that attract ECs from the bloodstream in vivo. This includes antibodies that capture endothelial precursor cells to encourage endothelialization [51].

In addition to surface properties, some other important criteria exist for the materials used to coat stents. This encompasses the stent and coating stability after placement, the solubility compatibility between polymer, solvent and drug during coating process, the coating stability, expandability and integrity during stent deployment, and the materials must be sterilizable [101, 102].

Another major design criterion for the DES coating material is its ability to provide controlled drug delivery. These devices contain an active ingredient to help reduce restenosis. Therefore, the polymer coating must allow the drug to be delivered in a timely method, ensuring consistent dosing and release kinetics that are controlled and predictable [102]. Later sections of this thesis will discuss controlled release factors in further detail.

The first DESs are coated with hydrophobic elastomers. However, Medtronic's Endeavor stent takes a new approach using phosphorylcholine (PC) as a coating material and Abbott's Xience V stent uses a fluorinated copolymer. Biodegradable coatings and materials for fully degradable stents are currently being researched intensely.

2.5.1 Elastomers

Elastomers were originally the material of choice for stent coatings for their ease of incorporating the common hydrophobic drugs and expandability for stent deployment. The Cypher is coated with a combination of poly(ethylene-co-vinyl acetate) (PEVA) and poly(n-butyl methacrylate) (PBMA). The Taxus is coated with poly(styrene-isobutylenestyrene) (SIBS). These elastomers have disadvantages including lack of control over release without creating a new formulation, where drug release is essentially modified by the drug loading and/or the addition of polymer layers and not the properties of the material itself. A further disadvantage may be hypersensitivity as reactions have been reported [9, 10, 103].

2.5.2 Phosphporylcholine

PC is a more recently investigated material for stent coatings since it mimics the cell membrane by containing both hydrophilic and hydrophobic components. The outer edge of the coating is hydrophilic for a reduced thrombogenic potential whereas the inner layer is lipophilic and acts as drug reservoir [19, 104]. Clinically, PC is used on

Medtronic's Endeavour stent and Biomcompatible's BiodivYsio stent. On the BiodivYsio DES, a range of drugs have been applied and are loaded onto the stent by immersing the stent in an alcoholic or aqueous solution of the drug [105]. Water-soluble drugs release more rapidly than hydrophobic drugs which are delayed by the hydrophobic drugs interacting with the hydrophobic domains of the PC [105]. Dexamethasone, an anti-inflammatory, is absorbed on the BiodivYsio platform and marketed in Europe by Abbott as the Dexmet stent [44-46]. Other drugs that have been investigated with PC coatings include angiopeptin [25, 105], estradiol [50], batimastat [43], c-myc antisense oligonucleotide [104] and therapeutic genes [106-108]. Compared to other polymer coatings on DESs, PC coated stents have demonstrated less thrombus formation, decreased inflammatory response, and less adverse effects on the rate of reendothelialization [109-112].

2.5.3 Bioresorbable Materials

Biodegradable or bioresorbable materials have been investigated for two different approaches to DESs. As a coating that disintegrates over time leaving behind a metal stent, or a fully degradable/resorbable stent that props open the blood vessel until it has finished healing and remodeling. Either can be used for drug delivery, but a full polymeric stent provides more volume for drug loading than a coating. There are advantages and disadvantages of fully biodegradable stents. While they avoid a permanent metallic implant, leave access for future revascularization procedures, and reduce late stent thrombosis, they are limited by early recoil and possible severe inflammatory reactions from polymer degradation products [113].

Drug release from degradable polymeric materials can be mostly controlled by the degradation rate and is influenced by viscoelasticity and glass transition temperature (T_g), molecular weight, and hydrophilicty. Polyesters are the commonly studied class of degradable materials for this application. Polyesters degrade by hydrolysis with some contribution from enzymatic digestion. The most common polyester, poly(L-lactic acid)

(PLLA), is stiff with high tensile strength and T_g . Poly(caprolactone) (PCL) degrades slower taking one to two years, due to its high crystallinity and hydrophobicity. Poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) (PLGA) is amorphous and relatively more hydrophilic allowing for a faster degradation in a few months [114].

An example of a biodegradable stent is Abbott's BVS stent, a PLLA scaffold that elutes everolimus. The PLLA has a poly(D,L-lactic acid) (PDLLA) coating which houses the everolimus and controls the drug release, releasing 80 % of the drug in 28 days. The ABSORB clinical trial demonstrated that at six months the angiographic instent late loss was comparable to that of the Taxus and the Endeavor stents, but more than that of the Xience V DES [115]. The late loss was attributed to stent recoil which resulted in a reduction of stent area. The two year follow-up of this trial confirmed the stent was fully bioabsorbed, vasomotion was restored, and no restenosis was observed suggesting late thrombosis was improved [116].

2.5.4 Controlled Release for Drug-Eluting Stents

DESs are drug delivery devices for which it is important that they also offer control over the drug release. Like many drug delivery applications a prolonged or sustained delivery may be desired depending on the therapeutic released. Additionally, since the drug is delivered locally to the arterial wall, the dose delivered must be controlled within the therapeutic range. The appropriate timeframe and dosage is dependent on the therapeutic agent used as they all have different requirements and biological targets.

Drug delivery should coincide with the vessel wall remodeling and healing [52], and generally 30 days of release is necessary [53]. The therapeutic agents released ideally would inhibit neointimal hyperplasia by suppressing platelet activation, acute inflammation, SMC migration and proliferation, ECM production, angiogenesis and vascular remodeling [18]. For DESs carrying anti-proliferative agents, a general rule of thumb is that the agent must be delivered for at least three weeks since this is the critical

time in which the SMCs are migrating and proliferating [20]. Other timeframes may be required for agents that prevent restenosis by targeting other biological processes.

Local pharmacokinetics are dependent on transport of the drug through the tissue by diffusion and convection as well as the drug properties including molecular weight, charge and hydrophobicity [117, 118]. Hydrophobic drugs take longer to elute and are retained in the arterial tissue, while hydrophilic drugs elute faster and are retained for less time but distribute more evenly in the tissue [52, 119]. Thus it is beneficial to use a hydrophobic drug when high tissue concentrations are preferred, but a hydrophilic drug when there is a narrow therapeutic concentration window [118]. Equilibrium, transport properties and binding capacity affect drug retention. When the threshold of drug adsorption is reached, further drug released will be washed away. Therefore, the drug efficiency is not strictly based on the release kinetics alone and sometimes restenosis may be inhibited with a bolus delivery of drug without sustained release [120]. The response is a function of drug dose, exposure time, drug absorption ability, degree of injury, and the repairing process [121]. However, controlled release plays an important role in more than one of those actions.

For the current DESs, diffusion from a polymer coating is the method of choice. FIGURE 2.4 presents a schematic of possible drug release mechanism for a DES. Some drugs, like paclitaxel [122], can be coated directly on the metallic stent (FIGURE 2.4(a)), but most agents require a polymeric matrix. The polymer coating can also provide enhanced control over drug release. Diffusion from a single layer of polymer coating is a common format for DESs and operates as a matrix-type release device (FIGURE 2.4(b)). Release from a polymer coating can also be achieved by swelling controlled release with a polymer matrix that swells (FIGURE 2.4(c)). Diffusion can also occur via reservoir-type release by adding an additional drug-free polymer layer (FIGURE 2.4(d)). An additional drug release platform for DESs that has been studied is the use of drug reservoir wells [123], where the drug is contained in wells on the stent strut and releases through a polymer coating (FIGURE 2.4(e)). Biodegradable polymers can also be used for DESs, either as a coating on a metallic stent (FIGURE 2.4(f)) or as a fully biodegradable stent

(FIGURE 2.4(g)) and drug release can be controlled by the degradation or erosion of the polymer.

The Cypher stent elutes sirolimus from a combination of PEVA and PBMA. One version of the Cypher is a reservoir-type device with a top coat to prolong the delivery. However, the *in vitro* release profile demonstrates a burst effect before a steady state is reached [21]. Most of the drug is released in three weeks with the remaining extending to 90 days [124]. The Taxus stent elutes paclitaxel from SIBS. For this DES, release is by diffusion but in the case where the drug is in excess of its solubility in the matrix, with the release following the Higuchi model (EQUATION 2.3). Pacliltaxel does not dissolve in the polymer but exists as discrete particles embedded in SIBS [102], and its release occurs by dissolution of the paclitaxel into the release medium. For Taxus, the *in vitro* release profile demonstrates a biphasic release pattern by way of a short burst release of 2 days that is dissolution controlled and then a long and slow sustained release of 10 days that is diffusion controlled [102, 125]. The Endeavor releases Zotarolimus from a PC coating where it releases 75 % of the drug in 2 days and 100 % within the first 10 days [126]. The Xience V stent releases everolimus from a fluorinated copolymer and releases 75 % within the first 30 days and 100 % in up to 120 days by a diffusion mechanism [63].



FIGURE 2.4. Different possible mechanisms of drug release from a DES platform. Grey represents stent strut, blue is the coating and green is the drug. Adapted from [20].

Much research exists on improving on current drug release strategies for DESs. One example, is the use of the BiodivYsio stent for DNA delivery. The positively charged surface of the PC coating is used to attract the negatively charged DNA molecules. Ion exchange is the release mechanism, where the DNA should be replaced by negative ions in the body such as chloride [21, 127]. Another example is the layer-bylayer (LbL) method typically involving coating the stent in layers of drug and polymer. A multilayered phospholipid polymeric hydrogel was used to incorporate paclitaxel. The hydrophobic domains were used to incorporate paclitaxel into the hydrogel [128]. In another study, polyelectrolyte layers were created with oppositely charged heparin and chitosan. Heparin was meant to reduce thrombus formation and chitosan was to encourage cell attachment and growth in the hopes of promoting rapid healing of the endothelium. [129]

2.6 PVA AS A DELIVERY MATRIX

PVA is a non-toxic, water-soluble polymer. PVA hydrogels can be formed by chemical crosslinking [130-132], UV-irradiation [133], annealing [134], or low temperature cycling [135]. For biomedical applications, physical methods are preferred over chemical methods using toxic crosslinking agents such as glutaraldehyde. Physically crosslinked PVA hydrogels by low temperature thermal cycling, freeze-thaw methods have been extensively investigated [135-141].

The process of creating PVA hydrogels by the freeze-thaw method involves freezing PVA solutions to below the freezing temperature of PVA and thawing back to room temperature repeatedly. The result is a thermoreversible gel produced by a combination of hydrogen bonding, polymer crystallite formation and liquid-liquid phase separation producing a heterogenous structure with phase separated domains [142, 143]. The structure of these hydrogels has been studied by several approaches including transmission electron microscopy [144] and scattering techniques including small angle x-ray scattering [144] and small angle and ultra small angle neutron scattering [145, 146].

The thermal cycling produces a hydrogel with a polymer rich region and polymer poor region [145, 147-150]. The initial freeze-thaw cycle develops ice crystals in the amorphous regions which force the polymer chains into regions of high local polymer concentration [138, 145, 147]. Additional freeze-thaw cycles leads to increasing the size and number of crystallites. The polymer chain-linking crystallites form around 3 nm and are spaced by amorphous regions that span 19 mm [145]. Polymer poor regions are created from the melting of ice crystals during thawing, creating water-filled pores of dimension greater than 100 nm [145, 151].

Several processing parameters affect the structure of PVA hydrogels, including the molecular weight of PVA, the PVA solution concentration, and freezing and thawing conditions [11, 147, 148, 152, 153]. Increasing the number of freeze-thaw cycles increases the mechanical properties [11] and decreases the controlled release rates [12]. The pore size decreases with either an increase in polymer concentration and/or number of freeze-thaw cycles [140, 142]. The size and density of the cyrstallites decreases with an increased freezing rate [154].

Using the processing parameters, the mechanical properties of PVA hydrogels can be tailored for applications with properties comparable to soft tissues ranging from skin to cardiovascular tissue [11]. Since controlled release properties are closely related to the structural properties, they too should be easily tailored for specific applications.

2.6.1 Diffusive Properties of Poly(vinyl alcohol)

PVA hydrogels by the freeze-thaw method have been investigated for drug delivery and controlled release applications [13, 135, 143, 152, 155-157]. The physical crosslinking method avoids the chemical crosslinking reactions that may deactivate bioactive compounds for delivery. In particular, physically crosslinked PVA hydrogels are non-toxic and hydrophilic making them good for protein delivery matrices.

Protein release from PVA hydrogels occurs by a diffusion controlled mechanism [13, 153]. The structure of the hydrogel plays an important role in the diffusive

properties of the hydrogel as the protein must migrate through the mesh of polymer chains. Diffusion typically occurs very rapidly from hydrogel matrices therefore it is critical to have methods to control the release and be able to reduce the diffusion rate. As discussed in the previous section, the structure of PVA is greatly influenced by the processing parameters. Therefore, it is possible to alter the release rate by adjusting the processing conditions [12].

Several studies have been conducted on PVA hydrogel to demonstrate its utility as a controlled release matrix. These investigations commonly used protein as a model drug, namely BSA [13-15, 152]. Li *et al* studied the release of BSA from PVA hydrogel nanoparticles by the freeze-thaw method. The authors found the release rate of BSA decreased with increasing number of freeze-thaw cycles [13]. This trend has also been confirmed by other groups [14, 15]. Moreover, previous work from our laboratory has revealed that a faster freezing rate or a faster thawing rate will increase the release rate of BSA [12]. Hickey *et al* considered the effect of the number of freeze-thaw cycles on the mesh size of the polymer network and the resulting effect on the diffusion coefficient of solutes. When the crystalline fraction was increased by the freeze-thaw process used, the mesh size decreased resulting in a reduced diffusion coefficient [135].

2.7 MOTIVATION FOR THESIS

Although DES have overcome some difficulties, such as elastic recoil and negative remodeling, they still suffer from in-stent restenosis. The currently used devices have poor control of drug release and use drugs which may do more harm than good. If the drug loading is reduced often there is insufficient delivery resulting in lack of clinical effects [21]. However, if the amount of drug delivered is increased there is a risk of the drug concentration being too toxic or powerful. The coating materials are not easily adjustable to regulate their diffusive properties. The only adjustable features are the addition of a top coat or using variable drug loadings. One of the main downfalls of current DESs is the use of drugs that are non-specific to cell type. Paclitaxel and

sirolimus inhibit both SMCs and ECs [6]. This causes impaired healing and delayed reendothelialization, leading to late-stent thrombosis [7, 8, 22, 101]. To minimize late thrombosis the patient is forced on dual anti-platelet therapy for an extended period of time [6, 158, 159].

Our approach to improving upon the current technologies involves using PVA to deliver Serp-1 protein locally to the site of vascular injury. PVA hydrogels provide a hydrophilic matrix that offers advantages over hydrophobic materials by having a reduced thrombogenic potential and having the ability to load protein drugs. Our system also offers tunable diffusion properties just by varying the freeze-thaw processing conditions. The advantage of this is that the same material can be used but is easily adjusted. The release kinetics can also be changed to zero-order with the addition of a second layer of PVA. Again, no additional materials are required, PVA is used for both layers and the processing conditions can give each layer different diffusion properties. Finally, our approach considers the use of a new protein drug, Serp-1. Its main action gives anti-inflammatory properties. By having a different biological target than other drugs considered, this provides a novel approach for the control of restenosis.

This thesis demonstrates work done to examine the diffusion properties of PVA hydrogel using BSA as a model protein. The difference in release kinetics of BSA from single layered (matrix) PVA hydrogel versus multi-layered (reservoir) PVA hydrogel is also observed. Then the release of the therapeutic agent, Serp-1, is characterized and the release kinetics are modelled.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1 MATERIALS

PVA with a molecular weight (M_W) of 146,000-186,000 and 99 +% hydrolysis was obtained from Sigma Aldrich (St. Louis, MO). Bovine serum albumin (BSA) was purchased from Fisher Scientific (Fair Lawn, NJ) and the Protein Dye Reagent Concentrate (cat# 500-0006) for assaying BSA concentration was purchased from Bio-Rad Laboratories, Inc. (Hercules, CA).

Viron Therapeutics Inc. (London, ON) kindly donated all Serp-1 protein and antibodies (ATD11 and bAXB7.9) used for enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) capture and detection. Other reagents for the Serp-1 ELISA included calcium carbonate buffer capsules purchased from Sigma Aldrich (St. Louis, MO), horseradish peroxidase (HRP) streptavidin (cat# P21124) purchased from Pierce Biotechnology, Inc. (Thermo Fisher Scientific), tetramethylbenzidine (TMB) substrate kit (cat# DY999) purchased from R&D Systems (Minneapolis, MN), and reagent grade, 18 N sulfuric acid (H₂SO₄) purchased from Caledon Laboratory Chemicals (Georgetown, ON).

All buffers and solutions were made with distilled deionized water. Tween-20 was obtained from Sigma Aldrich (St. Louis, MO). Phosphate buffered saline (PBS) was prepared using potassium phosphate (KH₂PO₄) from Caledon Laboratory Chemicals (Georgetown, ON), potassium chloride (KCl) from EMD Chemicals, Inc. (Darmstadt, Germany), sodium chloride (NaCl) from Caledon Laboratory Chemicals (Georgetown, ON), sodium phosphate dibasic heptahydrate (Na₂HPO₄.7H₂O) from Sigma Aldrich (St. Louis, MO), which were all ACS reagent grade.

3.2 PREPARATION OF PVA HYDROGEL DELIVERY MATRICES

3.2.1 Preparation of PVA Hydrogel

PVA solution was prepared by dissolving 8, 10, or 12 wt% of PVA in water. Dissolution was achieved in a reaction kettle that was maintained at 90 °C and outfitted with a reflux condenser. Mechanical mixing at 100 rpm was used to ensure a uniform solution was obtained. The PVA solution was heated and mixed for four hours. The solution was poured into containers and allowed to cool to room temperature. PVA solution was poured into the appropriate mould and sealed for freeze-thaw cycling.

3.2.1.1 Freeze-Thaw Cycling of PVA Samples

The mould containing the PVA solution was submerged in a heated/refrigerated circulating water bath. The hydrogel samples were created by repeated freeze-thaw cycling. One cycle involves freezing from 20 °C to -20 °C at a set rate and holding at -20 °C for one hour before thawing back to 20 °C at a set rate. Freezing and thawing rates were typically set at 0.1 °C/min, but were also varied between 0.05 °C/min and 0.5 °C/min for some experiments. The number of cycles was varied between one and six depending on the study.

3.2.2 Preparation of PVA/BSA Hydrogels

Fresh 10 wt% PVA solution that was cooled to room temperature was carefully poured and 4.4 g weighed into a 50 mm polypropylene Petri dish. A solution of BSA was pipetted into the PVA solution to obtain 0.1 wt% of BSA. The mixture was well stirred to ensure uniform distribution of the protein. The PVA/BSA solution was allowed to sit at room temperature in the Petri dish mould for a period of three hours to allow any bubbles induced during mixing to rise. The moulds were well sealed in plastic bags and clamped into a custom holder to be submerged in the water bath for the freeze-thaw cycles, as described above in section 3.2.1.1, to form approximately 1.5 mm thick hydrogel discs.

After the required freeze-thaw cycles were completed, the hydrogels were removed from the moulds and the thickness was measured using a custom-made micrometer. The hydrogel discs were measured five times each and an average taken for the thickness.

3.2.2.1 Multi-Layered PVA/BSA Hydrogels

A 25 mL or 15 mL volume of 10 wt% PVA solution was spread onto a custom aluminum mould (125 x 125 mm) with a thickness of either 1.6 mm or 0.8 mm. The mould was closed and then subjected to two freeze-thaw cycles as described above in section 3.2.1.1. This layer was protein-free and creates an outer layer of PVA to act a coating barrier to diffusion.

The mould was opened for a second layer to be added, but the thickness of the first layer was measured. Ten measurements were taken at random places on the hydrogel sheet and averaged for the thickness. The dimensions of the sheet were also measured.

Fresh PVA solution that was cooled to room temperature was carefully poured and weighed into a plastic container. A solution of BSA was pipetted into the PVA solution to obtain 0.1 wt% of BSA. The mixture was well stirred to ensure uniform distribution of the protein. A 25 mL volume of this PVA/BSA mixture was spread directly onto the surface of the PVA layer of two freeze-thaw cycles to create the second layer of approximately 1.5 mm thickness. The mould was closed and further subjected to one more freeze thaw cycle.

Following the freeze-thaw cycle, the result was a two-layer hydrogel sheet. One layer of PVA of three cycles and one layer of PVA/BSA of one cycle. The thickness and

dimensions measurements were repeated again with the two-layer sheet. Then three 40 mm discs were punched from the sheet to be used for the controlled release experiments.

3.2.3 Preparation of PVA/Serp-1 Hydrogels

Fresh PVA solution that was cooled to room temperature was carefully poured and 4.4 g weighed into a 50 mm polypropylene Petri dish. Serp-1 was pipetted into the PVA solution to obtain 0.001 wt% of Serp-1. This amount was varied when studying the effect of Serp-1 loading. The mixture was gently stirred to ensure uniform distribution of the protein. The PVA/Serp-1 solution was allowed to sit at room temperature in the Petri dish mould for a period of three hours to allow any bubbles induced during mixing to rise. The moulds were well sealed in plastic bags and clamped into a custom holder to be submerged in the water bath for the freeze-thaw cycles as described above in section 3.2.1.1 to form approximately 1.5 mm thick hydrogel discs.

After the required freeze-thaw cycles were completed, the hydrogels were removed from the moulds and the thickness was measured using a custom-made micrometer. The hydrogel discs were measured five times each and an average taken for the thickness. Additionally, the mould was rinsed with 1 mL of assay buffer, which was retained for the ELISA. This was to account for any Serp-1 that may have been squeezed out of the hydrogel during processing.

3.3 CONTROLLED RELEASE STUDIES

3.3.1 Franz Diffusion Cells

The majority of the *in vitro* controlled release studies were done using Franz diffusion cells (FIGURE 3.1). These are vertical diffusion cells with a donor chamber that sits above a receptor chamber and a membrane is typically clamped between the two chambers for permeation studies. For our use, the diffusion cells were modified by

clamping the hydrogel between the two chambers and not actually using the donor chamber since the molecule of interest was previously imbedded into the hydrogel matrix. This allowed for diffusion to occur from the bottom surface of the hydrogel in one direction into the receptor. The 25 mm diameter opening of the diffusion cell provided the area for diffusion to occur.



FIGURE 3.1. Schematic of the Franz diffusion cell apparatus. The hydrogel containing drug is clamped in between the receptor chamber and the top allowing diffusion to occur in one direction into the receptor.

The receptor chamber was filled with 20 mL of water or buffer for the release medium. The release medium was magnetically stirred and maintained at 37 °C by a water jacket. The PVA hydrogel samples containing protein were mounted on the diffusion cells with the bottom in direct contact with the release medium and they were wrapped with parafilm to prevent drying. Samples of the release medium were taken at selected time points by temporarily removing the hydrogel sample and pipetting a known

volume out of the receptor. The release medium was replenished with an equal volume of fresh solution each time and the hydrogel sample returned to its position.

3.3.2 Controlled Release of BSA from PVA

3.3.2.1 Model Protein Release Studies

PVA hydrogels containing BSA were prepared as described above in section 3.2.2. Six samples were prepared and each one was subjected to one up to six freezethaw cycles. The hydrogel samples were mounted in the diffusion cells and with water as the release medium. The release studies were conducted by sampling 5 mL of the release medium at selected time points over a 60 hour period. The samples of release medium were collected for protein detection using ultraviolet-visible (UV-vis) spectroscopy (see section 3.4.1). Once the protein concentration in each sample was determined, the release profile was generated by plotting the cumulative release versus time. The experiments were repeated three times for each sample and the average release curves were plotted.

3.3.2.2 Release from Multi-Layered Samples

Multi-layered PVA hydrogels containing BSA were prepared as described above in section 3.2.2.1. Two samples were created with different outer layer thickness, 1.6 mm or 0.8 mm. The hydrogel samples were mounted in the diffusion cells and with water as the release medium. The release studies were conducted by sampling 5 mL of the release medium at selected time points over a 500 hour period. The samples of release medium were collected for protein detection using UV-vis spectroscopy (see section 3.4.1). Once the protein concentration in each sample was determined, the release profile was generated by plotting the cumulative release versus time. The experiments were repeated three times for each sample and the average release curves were plotted.

3.3.2.3 Release Mediums of Different Ionic Strengths

PVA hydrogels containing BSA were prepared as described above in section 3.2.2. Four samples were prepared and each one was subjected to two freeze-thaw cycles. The hydrogel samples were mounted in the diffusion cells and with water or PBS as the release medium. Different ionic strengths of release medium was used for each sample, 0X (water), 0.5X, 1X, and 2X. Another two PVA/BSA hydrogel samples were prepared the same as before with the exception that 1X PBS was used as the solvent instead of water. For these two samples the release studies were carried out with a release medium of water or 1X PBS.

The release studies were conducted by sampling 5 mL of the release medium at selected time points over a 140 hour period. The samples of release medium were collected for protein detection using UV-vis spectroscopy (see section 3.4.1). Once the protein concentration in each sample was determined, the release profile was generated by plotting the cumulative release versus time. The experiments were repeated three times for each sample and the average release curves were plotted.

3.3.3 Controlled Release of Serp-1 from PVA

PVA hydrogels containing Serp-1 were prepared as described above in section 3.2.3. Six samples were prepared with 10 wt% PVA and each one was subjected to one up to six freeze-thaw cycles. Three additional samples were prepared with 8 wt%, 10 wt%, and 12 wt% PVA and subjected to two freeze-thaw cycles each. Two further samples were prepared with 10 wt% PVA, and two freeze-thaw cycles with a thawing rate of 0.1 °C/min and a freezing rate of either 0.15 °C/min or 0.1 °C/min. Three more samples were prepared with 10 wt% PVA, and two freeze-thaw cycles with a freezing rate of 0.1 °C/min and a thawing rate of either 0.5 °C/min or 0.1 °C/min or 0.05 °C/min. Another three samples were prepared with 10 wt%, 0.005 wt%, and 0.001 wt%.

The hydrogel samples were mounted in the diffusion cells and with PBS containing 1 % BSA and 0.025 % Tween-20 as the release medium. The release studies were conducted by sampling 5 mL of the release medium at selected time points over a 50 hour period. The samples of release medium were collected for protein detection using ELISA (see section 3.4.2). Once the protein concentration in each sample was determined, the release profile was generated by plotting the cumulative release versus time. The experiments were repeated three times for each sample and the average release curves were plotted.

3.3.3.1 Therapeutic Serp-1 Loading

PVA/Serp-1 samples were prepared by adding 300 μL of 17.2 mg/mL Serp-1 to a solution of 10.9 wt% PVA (3.45 g). After mixing in the protein, the final PVA concentration was 10 wt%. The materials were mixed in a 50 mm polypropylene Petri dish and then subjected to two freeze-thaw cycles. After cycling, the hydrogel was then removed from the Petri dish and three 10 mm discs were cut from the solid sample, each with a thickness of approximately 1.2 mm. The theoretical loading of each 10 mm disc was about 206 μg of Serp-1. These three discs were each placed in 20 mL of PBS containing 1 % BSA and 0.025 % Tween-20 as the release medium in a polypropylene tube and put into a shaker bath at 37°C. The release medium was sampled at time intervals to determine the concentration of Serp-1 present by ELISA (see section 3.4.22). Once the protein concentration in each sample was determined, the release profile was generated by plotting the cumulative release versus time as an average of the three samples.

3.3.3.2 Release into Human Whole Blood

PVA/Serp-1 samples were prepared by adding 300 μ L of 17.2 mg/mL Serp-1 to a solution of 10.9 wt% PVA (1.725 g). After mixing in the protein, the final PVA concentration was 10 wt%. The materials were mixed in one well of a polystyrene tissue

culture plate (6 well) with a diameter of 35 mm under aseptic conditions and then subjected to two freeze-thaw cycles. After cycling, the hydrogel was then removed from the 6 well plate and two 10 mm discs were cut from the solid sample, each with a thickness of approximately 1.2 mm. The theoretical loading of each 10 mm disc was about 206 μ g of Serp-1. A healthy volunteer was used to collect human whole blood in the presence of the anti-coagulant ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid dipotassium salt (K₂EDTA). Two of these discs were each placed in 10 mL of human whole blood in a polypropylene tube and put into a shaker at 37 °C. The blood was sampled at time intervals to determine the concentration of Serp-1 present. The samples were processed to obtain the plasma and then frozen until the ELISA was done. Once the protein concentration in each sample was determined, the release profile was generated by plotting the cumulative release versus time as an average of the two samples.

3.3.3.3 Serp-1 Release in Different Vessels and Different Buffers

Two simple release experiments were performed to determine the best method of conducting the Serp-1 controlled release experiments. The first experiment was done by comparing release vessels with either a diffusion cell or a polypropylene tube in a shaker bath. A PVA/Serp-1 sample was prepared as described above in section 3.2.3, using 10 wt% PVA and two freeze-thaw cycles. The hydrogel sample was mounted in a diffusion cell and with PBS containing 1 % BSA and 0.025 % Tween-20 as the release medium. The release studies were conducted by sampling 5 mL of the release medium at selected time points over a 50 hour period. A second PVA/Serp-1 sample was prepared similarly and then cut to a 10 mm disc. This sample was placed in 10 mL of the same release medium in a polypropylene tube which was kept in a shaker bath at 37 °C. The release medium (2 mL) again was sampled at selected time points over a 50 hour period. The samples of release medium were collected for protein detection using ELISA (see section 3.4.2). Once the protein concentration in each sample was determined, the release profile was generated by plotting the cumulative release versus time.

The second experiment by comparing different release mediums in the diffusion cell. Two samples were prepared with 10 wt% PVA and two freeze-thaw cycles. They were mounted in diffusion cells, one with PBS as the release medium and the other with PBS containing 1 % BSA and 0.025 % Tween-20 as the release medium. The release studies were conducted by sampling 5 mL of the release medium at selected time points over a 50 hour period. The samples of release medium were collected for protein detection using ELISA (see section 3.4.2). Once the protein concentration in each sample was determined, the release profile was generated by plotting the cumulative release versus time.

3.3.3.4 Serp-1 Remaining in PVA Matrix

PVA/Serp-1 samples were prepared by adding 110 μL of 17.2 mg/mL Serp-1 to a solution of 10 wt% PVA (4.4 g). The materials were mixed in a 50 mm polypropylene Petri dish and then subjected to two freeze-thaw cycles. Three samples were fabricated, but one was kept for a 0 h time point as a fully loaded matrix. The other two hydrogel samples were mounted in the diffusion cells and with PBS containing 1 % BSA and 0.025 % Tween-20 as the release medium. The release studies were conducted by sampling 5 mL of the release medium at selected time points. One hydrogel sample was removed and stored after 12 h. The other was run for 48 h before completing the study. The three PVA hydrogel samples were stored in the fridge until further study by Western blot (See section 3.4.3) to determine the amount of Serp-1 remaining in the matrix.

The samples of release medium were collected for protein detection using ELISA (see section 3.4.2). Once the protein concentration in each sample was determined, the release profile was generated by plotting the cumulative release versus time.

3.4 PROTEIN QUANTIFICATION

Two methods were used to detect protein concentration in the release medium. For BSA the Bradford method was used to bind a dye to the protein and the colour change was distinguished by measuring the absorbance with UV-vis spectroscopy. For Serp-1 a sandwich ELISA was performed using antibodies to capture and detect the active form of Serp-1.

3.4.1 UV-Visible Spectroscopy

The Bradford method was used to add an acidic dye reagent to the BSA release samples. In 15 mL tubes, one part dye reagent concentrate was added to four parts of the BSA release samples. If need be, the samples were diluted with water and the appropriate amount of dye added. The linear region of the assay is 1.2 to $10.0 \mu g/mL$. The tubes were gently shaken to mix and left to incubate at room temperature for 15 min. Samples were then transferred to a 1 cm cuvette. The absorbance of each sample was measured at 595 nm on a Beckman Coulter, DU520, UV-visible spectrophotometer. Three readings for each sample were taken. The absorbance was compared to a calibration curve to determine protein concentration.

3.4.2 Enzyme-Linked Immunosorbent Assay (ELISA)

A sandwich ELISA was used to detect Serp-1 in the release samples. The protocol used was inherited from Viron Therapeutics standard operating procedures and details can been seen in Appendix A.

Briefly, samples and standards were added to a polypropylene 96 well plate for dilutions. The assay range is 2 to 24 ng/mL. A standard curve was generated n the first two columns of the 96 well plate by diluting purified Serp-1, 200 ng/mL, in assay buffer

from 0 to 24 ng/mL. In the remaining columns, the samples were serially diluted into the assay range. All samples and standards were run in duplicate.

For the assay, a polystyrene 96 well plate was used. Each well was first coated with the coat antibody in calcium carbonate buffer and the plate was incubated in the fridge at 4 °C overnight. The coat buffer was removed and blocking buffer was added to the wells and allowed to incubate at room temperature for one hour. The plate was washed three times with wash buffer. Then the standards and samples were transferred from the dilution plate to the assay plate and allowed to incubate at room temperature for The plate was washed three times with wash buffer. The biotinylated one hour. detection antibody was diluted in assay buffer and added to each well, incubating at room temperature for one hour. The plate was washed three times with wash buffer. HRP streptavidin was diluted in assay buffer and added to each well, incubating at room temperature for one hour. The plate was washed three times with wash buffer. Equal portions of substrate A and substrate B were mixed from the TMB substrate kit. This mixture was dispensed into the wells and incubated at room temperature for only four minutes. At this time a stop solution of 2 N H_2SO_4 was added to each well. The plate was then immediately placed in the plate reader and the optical density for each well was read at 450 nm using a Bio-Tek Instruments EL307C manual microplate reader. The data was transferred to an Excel spreadsheet and the concentration of each sample was determined using the standard curve generated on each plate. Only those values in the linear region of the standard curve were used.

3.4.2.1 Serp-1 Activity

The activity of Serp-1 is also measured by ELISA. The ELISA uses antibodies that are specific to the active form of Serp-1. Therefore, for studies where the activity was of interest, an ELISA was performed and the resulting concentration of each sample compared to a control. Similar concentrations are representative of similar activity levels. This was performed to determine if Serp-1 maintains its activity through the freeze-thaw cycles used for PVA processing and also to compare Serp-1 activity in different buffers.

3.4.3 SDS-PAGE and Western Blot

Sodium dodecyl sulfate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE) and Western blotting were used to determine the amount of Serp-1 remaining in the PVA matrix. The PVA hydrogels were collected after selected time points (12 h and 48 h) from a controlled release study and a fully loaded matrix (0 h) was also prepared. The hydrogels were melted back into liquid form by heating above 70 °C in a round bottom flask equipped with a mechanical mixer. Once in the liquid form, the PVA samples were diluted with water and prepared for the SDS-PAGE.

The 0 h sample was diluted 16X and 64X and the 12 h and 48 h samples were diluted 8X and 32X in water. 40 μ L of each dilution was added to 15 μ L of 4X SDS-PAGE sample buffer. The samples, controls (Serp-1, 5 μ g/mL) and standard marker were loaded into the gels as shown in TABLE 3.1 for electrophoresis. Further detailed methods can be seen in Appendix B.

	Gel 1									
Lane	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
Sample	Bio-Rad Standard	0 h (64X)	12 h (32X)	48 h (32X)	Serp-1	Serp-1	Serp-1	Serp-1	Serp-1	Serp-1
Volume	10 µL	10 µL	10 µL	10 µL	1 µL	2 μL	5 μL	10 µL	20 µL	30 µL
Amount					5 ng	10 ng	25 ng	50 ng	100 ng	150 ng
	Gel 2									
					G	el 2				
Lane	1	2	3	4	5	el 2 6	7	8	9	10
Lane Sample	1 Bio-Rad Standard	2 0 h (64X)	3 12 h (32X)	4 48 h (32X)	5 0 h (16X)	6 12 h (8X)	7 48 h (8X)	8 Serp-1	9 Serp-1	10 Serp-1
Lane Sample Volume	1 Bio-Rad Standard 10 μL	2 0 h (64X) 20 μL	3 12 h (32X) 20 μL	4 48 h (32X) 20 μL	G 5 0 h (16X) 5 μL	6 12 h (8X) 5 μL	7 48 h (8X) 5 μL	8 Serp-1 5 μL	9 Serp-1 10 μL	10 Serp-1 20 μL

TABLE 3.1. Gel loading for SDS-PAGE.

Following SDS-PAGE, a Western blot was run to detect Serp-1 on the gels. The gel was blotted on a nitrocellulose membrane to transfer the protein. The protein was then detected with primary and secondary antibodies. The bands on the blot were visualized by chemiluminescent detection and film development. The film was converted to a digital image with a Bio-Rad Gel Doc system. The bands were then analyzed using ImageJ software to find the relative intensity of each band as determined their size and density. The values of each sample were compared to Serp-1 standards run on the same gel to approximate the amount of Serp-1 present in each sample. Further detailed methods can be seen in Appendix C.

3.5 RELEASE KINETICS

The release kinetics of the controlled release studies of protein from PVA hydrogel were analyzed with empirical and semi-empirical models. The Power Law (EQUATION 2.5) was used to analyze the controlled release behaviour and determine the mechanism of release. The Diffusion Model (EQUATION 2.8 and EQUATION 2.9) was used to determine the diffusion coefficients of each protein from PVA hydrogel.

3.5.1 Release Kinetics of BSA from PVA

SigmaPlot software was used to perform non-linear regression of the release data. The early time approximation of the Diffusion Model was fitted to estimate the diffusion coefficient, *D*.

3.5.2 Release Kinetics of Serp-1 from PVA

For the Serp-1 release data, non-linear regression was not ideal since most release profiles demonstrated less than 50 % release. Thus, a more basic approach was used. A log-log plot of the release profile was used to observe the Power Law relationship and find *n*. Linear regression was used to find the slope which is representative of the release exponent. For the Diffusion Model, the cumulative release was plotted versus the square root of time to observe a linear relationship. The slope, equal to $4^2(D/\pi l^2)$, of this plot was used to calculate *D*.

3.6 STATISTICS

Experiments were repeated three times and data expressed as the mean \pm standard deviation. Microsoft Excel software was used to calculate the mean and standard deviation. Error bars on the release profiles represent the standard deviation.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

The goal of this thesis was to design a system to deliver the Serp-1 viral protein over an extended period of time, whereby the system has tunable properties to adjust the timeframe and dosage. Thermally processed PVA hydrogels were investigated for their tunable controlled release properties. A model protein, BSA, was initially used to study the diffusive properties of PVA. Subsequently, the controlled release of Serp-1 was examined and the kinetics of release analyzed.

4.1 MODEL PROTEIN RELEASE FROM PVA HYDROGEL

BSA is commonly used for hydrogel controlled release applications as a model protein to demonstrate release properties. We chose to study the release of BSA as a model protein from PVA initially to demonstrate some of the properties of the PVA system for controlled release applications. BSA is readily available, cost effective, and relatively simple to measure making it an ideal model protein. For our particular application, BSA also was chosen for its size of 67 kDa, which is comparable to Serp-1's at 55 kDa (FIGURE 4.1).

Using a model protein that is a similar size to the actual agent of interest, Serp-1, is important for diffusion applications when comparing release rates. The rate of diffusion is influenced by the size of the diffusing molecule and the mesh space available for the molecule to migrate through the mesh. Thus, based on size alone BSA should have a comparable rate of diffusion as Serp-1. However, other factors could contribute to

a difference in observed release rates. The surface groups on each protein may interact with the PVA hydrogel matrix differently. Serp-1 may have an increased attraction to PVA since it is a glycoprotein and contains sugar groups on its surface. The OH groups from the glycoprotein may hydrogen bond with the OH groups in PVA. If this happens, Serp-1 may have a reduced release rate or reduced amount of release.



FIGURE 4.1. Comparison of therapeutic protein Serp-1 (a) with model protein BSA (b). (a) Courtesy of Jakob Richardson. (b) Reprinted with permission from [160].

4.1.1 BSA Release Profile

Some initial studies were done to investigate the diffusive properties of the PVA system. From the literature we know that the number of freeze-thaw cycles affects the rate of release [13-15, 135]. Adopting a similar experiment using our own lab protocol for the controlled freeze-thaw process, a controlled release profile of BSA from PVA was generated. FIGURE 4.2 demonstrates the control of BSA release as a function of the number of freeze-thaw cycles. With each systematically increasing cycle there is an increase in the local PVA concentration in the polymer rich regions as well as an increase

in the volume fraction of the crystalline regions [135]. Thus, the mobility of BSA through the amorphous zones of the polymer rich region is reduced with each cycle leading to the observed decrease in BSA release.



FIGURE 4.2. The effect of the number of freeze-thaw cycles on the release of BSA from PVA for 1 cycle (\bullet), 2 cycles (\checkmark), 3 cycles (\blacksquare), 4 cycles (\blacklozenge), 5 cycles (\blacktriangle) and 6 cycles (\bullet). Samples were fabricated with 10 wt% PVA, 0.05 wt% BSA, and both freezing and thawing rates at 0.1 °C/min.

The Diffusion Model (EQUATION 2.8) was fitted to the data to determine the diffusion coefficient for each freeze-thaw cycle. FIGURE 4.3 displays the fit of the model on a representative set of data. Only the early-time approximation was used as it is common to use only the first equation of the model to find the diffusion coefficient and data falling under 60 % release was fitted. TABLE 4.1 is a summary of the results from

the kinetic analysis of the BSA release profiles. The results indicate a decreasing trend in diffusion coefficient, *D*, with increasing number of freeze-thaw cycles as expected. The diffusion coefficients fell within a range of 1.17×10^{-9} to 1.19×10^{-7} cm²/s.



FIGURE 4.3. An example of fitting the Diffusion Model using the early-time approximation. Shown are 1 cycle (\bullet), 2 cycles (\checkmark), 3 cycles (\blacksquare), 4 cycles (\blacklozenge), 5 cycles (\blacktriangle) and 6 cycles (\bullet). Samples were fabricated with 10 wt% PVA, 0.05 wt% BSA, and both freezing and thawing rates at 0.1 °C/min. R² values for the linear fits are 0.9551 (cycle 1), 0.9817 (cycle 2), 0.9945 (cycle 3), 0.9475 (cycle 4), 0.9603 (cycle 5), and 0.9115 (cycle 6).

Cycle #	$\begin{array}{rl} D_{EARLY} \pm & Std \ Dev \\ & (10^{-8} \ cm^2/s) \end{array}$
1	11.9 ± 6.59
2	3.18 ± 3.24
3	0.74 ± 0.53
4	0.85 ± 0.67
5	0.54 ± 0.52
6	0.12 ± 0.11

TABLE 4.1. The effect of the number of freeze-thaw cycles on the release of BSA from PVA. Samples were fabricated with 10 wt% PVA, 0.05 wt% BSA, and both freezing and thawing rates at 0.1 °C/min.

Comparing these results with those of similar work reported previously from our lab, a similar trend was observed for BSA release from PVA hydrogel as a function of the number of freeze-thaw cycles. The release of BSA was found to decrease with increasing number of cycles and the diffusion coefficients were on the order of 10^{-8} cm²/s [12]. Therefore, the results presented in TABLE 4.1 are as expected based on previous experience working with the same system in our lab.

Structure of the physically crosslinked PVA hydrogel prepared by thermal cycling has been investigated extensively [144-146] and has been used to elucidate the structure of PVA hydrogel prepared by freeze-thaw processes. It was found that it has a heterogeneous structure with phase separated domains. In the initial freeze-thaw cycle, ice crystals in the amorphous regions force the polymer chains into regions of high local polymer concentration, forming crystallites [138, 145, 147]. Further cycling increases the overall crystallinity by increasing the size of primary crystallites, as well as forming additional smaller secondary crystallites, transforming the microstructure into a fibrillar network. The crystallites have dimensions of about 3 nm and are separated by amorphous regions of around 20 to 30 nm in size within the polymer rich regions. These

polymer rich regions are surrounded by polymer poor regions (macropores) with dimensions of >100 nm [145, 151]. The porous structure arises from the existence of the polymer poor regions which are essentially filled with water. Every thermal cycle after the first freeze-thaw cycle resulted in an increase in the local PVA concentration in the polymer rich regions concomitant with an increase in the volume fraction of the crystalline regions [135]. This would increase the time required for the movement of BSA through the amorphous zones of the polymer rich region resulting in the observed decrease in the release.

4.1.2 BSA Release from Multi-Layered PVA Samples

BSA was used as a model protein to further investigate properties of protein release from PVA hydrogels under different configurations. For example, the majority of work published in the literature has demonstrated BSA release from a PVA matrix (monolith). A simple, yet effective way to alter the release kinetics is to add an outer layer to create a reservoir-type system.

4.1.2.1 Matrix versus Reservoir

BSA release was observed from both a matrix-type system and a reservoir-type system to compare the release kinetics (FIGURE 4.4). The matrix-type system was the typical PVA hydrogel slab used in previous studies and was processed with three freeze-thaw cycles. The reservoir-type system was achieved by adding an additional layer of PVA without protein on a BSA-containing slab to act as a barrier to diffusion. For the system studied, the BSA containing layer was of one freeze-thaw cycle, while the outer BSA free layer was of three cycles. Therefore, the inner BSA layer could be regarded as a reservoir for BSA and should allow relatively free movement of BSA while the outer layer provides more resistance to molecular movement and acts as a rate-controlling barrier.

FIGURE 4.4(a) displays the matrix-type system as a diffusion controlled release system and the Diffusion Model (EQUATION 2.8 and EQUATION 2.9) fit is shown. Also displayed is the reservoir-type system (FIGURE 4.4(b)) showing a more gradual release with close to zero-order kinetics. For comparison the reservoir-type system is shown with both a Diffusion Model (EQUATION 2.8) fit and a linear fit. It is clear that the Diffusion Model (R^2 =0.9343) does not fit the reservoir-type data well and that a linear fit (R²=0.9679) appears more appropriate. Reservoir-type systems maintain a constant concentration of molecules diffusing across a barrier while matrix-type systems release molecules directly from the surface. Thus, the linear relationship is expected since reservoir-type systems follow zero-order release kinetics, unlike matrix-type systems which follow Fickian diffusion [87]. Both types of systems studied have BSA diffusing through PVA of three cycles, however, the reservoir-type reduces the rate of release since initially there is no BSA in the outer barrier of PVA and the BSA must be released across the barrier from the inner reservoir. Thus, the BSA releases at a constant rate, whereas for the matrix-type the BSA readily diffuses out with the molecules closer to the surface releasing first and the release rate is time dependent, slowing as molecules from the most furthest region take longer to reach the surface.



FIGURE 4.4. Fractional BSA release from PVA, comparing (a) matrix-type (\blacksquare) and (b) reservoir-type (\blacktriangledown) systems. For (a) the Diffusion Model is fit and for (b) the Diffusion Model is fit (dashed line, R²=0.9343) as well as a linear fit (solid line, R²=0.9679). The matrix was fabricated of 10 wt% PVA with 0.1 wt% BSA using 3 freeze-thaw cycles. The reservoir had a drug layer of 10 wt% PVA with 0.1 wt% BSA and 1 freeze-thaw cycle and an outer barrier of 10 wt% PVA of 3 freeze-thaw cycles.

The diffusion coefficient for the matrix-type system is 1.15×10^{-8} cm²/s determined by fitting the Diffusion Model in FIGURE 4.4. However, for the reservoir-type system, release rate determination requires absolute release amounts. FIGURE 4.5 displays the above data plotted with the actual BSA release amounts instead of fractional release on the y-axis. From FIGURE 4.5 the linear release rate of the reservoir-type system was determined to be 5.23×10^{-5} µg/cm²·s.



FIGURE 4.5. Amount of BSA release from PVA, comparing (a) matrix-type (\blacksquare) and (b) reservoir-type (\blacktriangledown) systems. The matrix was fabricated of 10 wt% PVA with 0.1 wt% BSA using 3 freeze-thaw cycles. The reservoir had a drug layer of 10 wt% PVA with 0.1 wt% BSA and 1 freeze-thaw cycle and an outer barrier of 10 wt% PVA of 3 freeze-thaw cycles.

The effect of barrier thickness on release rate of the reservoir system is demonstrated in FIGURE 4.6. According to Fick's first law, the flux of a molecule across a membrane is largely dependent on the thickness of the membrane. This thickness is the distance a molecule must migrate across. Consequently, the thicker the layer the longer it will take for the molecule to cross. As demonstrated, when the outer BSA-free barrier layer of PVA was increased in thickness, the release rate of BSA was reduced.

To determine the release rates in the two cases of barrier thickness, the absolute amount of BSA release is again required and is shown in FIGURE 4.6. For a barrier thickness of 0.8 mm the release rate was $1.53 \times 10^{-4} \ \mu g/cm^2$ s and for a thickness of 1.6

mm the release rate was $5.23 \times 10^{-5} \,\mu\text{g/cm}^2$. The release rate does not scale linearly with barrier thickness. The thicknesses of the barriers differ by a factor of two, but the release rates differ by a factor of about three. Holding all other parameters constant, the release rates should be inversely proportional to the thickness according to Fick's first law (EQUATION 2.1). A potential reason for the release rate not scaling linearly with barrier thickness could be due to mixing at the interface between the two layers. Since the reservoir and the barrier layers are prepared by the freeze-thaw technique consecutively, it is inevitable that some degree of mixing at the interface will occur when the PVA solution is poured onto a previously solidified layer of two freeze-thaw cycles (barrier) to create the one cycle (reservoir) layers. This mixing potentially reduces the thickness of the barrier layer leading to a higher release rate, but its overall effect should decrease with an increased barrier thickness.

Advantages of the multi-layered PVA system include a release rate independent of time and the release rate can be controlled by simply changing the barrier layer thickness. This type of system would especially benefit applications where a constant release rate is required. An example is the release of anti-microbial agents for the control of infection in surface wounds. It would also apply to cases where extended drug availability is needed and the concentration can be adjusted by controlling the initial drug loading.


FIGURE 4.6. BSA release from PVA, reservoir-type systems with different coating thicknesses, showing the absolute amount released on the left axis and the amount released per surface area on the right axis. The outer coating thicknesses were 0.8 mm (\bullet) and 1.6 mm ($\mathbf{\nabla}$).

One distinct advantage of the multi-layer PVA reservoir-type system is that only one type of material was required for its fabrication. And, the layers of PVA easily bond together in the physical crosslinking process, forming two distinct layers of the same material that adhere well. If the two layers do not adhere well, there would be the risk of device failure and the possibility of 'dose dumping'. This would result in a much faster release of the drug from the inside reservoir layer if the outer barrier layer is defective. Often times a different material from the drug core is used to coat reservoir-type devices. Examples of this include transdermal patches and oral tablets. Delayed release oral tablets typically have an internal drug core containing pore formers such as hydroxy propyl methyl cellulose (HPMC) and poly(ethylene glycol) (PEG). The most common materials used for the outer membrane are ethylcellulose and acrylic copolymers [89]. Transdermal patches can be multilaminate systems, for instance, Nicoderm is composed of a nicotine-containing ethyl vinyl acetate drug layer and a polyethylene rate-controlling membrane [89]. By using two different materials for the layers, different diffusive properties can be achieved but there would be a higher probability of the interface between the two layers failing by delamination.

Since PVA hydrogel has tunable properties, it is easy to fabricate a system with multiple layers of different diffusive properties by adjusting the processing parameters used for each layer. In the above example, the number of cycles for each layer was varied, but the other processing parameters including freezing and thawing rates in addition to PVA concentration are other options for adjusting the properties of each layer.

4.1.3 Effect of Release Medium Ionic Strength

BSA was also used as a model protein to demonstrate release from PVA when an osmotic pressure is induced on the hydrogel by using release mediums of varying ionic strength. An osmotic pressure gradient was created by conducting the controlled release experiments in PBS, while the PVA hydrogel was fabricated with water. Thus, there was a concentration difference of ions inside the hydrogel matrix from outside in the release medium. FIGURE 4.8 illustrates the *in vitro* controlled release profile of BSA from PVA hydrogel when PBS of increasing ionic strength is used as the release medium. As can be seen, the amount of BSA release decreased with increasing PBS ionic strength. The corresponding ionic strengths of PBS used are given in TABLE 4.2.

	Ionic Strength (mol/L)		
0X PBS	0		
0.5X PBS	0.09		
1X PBS	0.17		
2X PBS	0.34		

TABLE 4.2. Ionic strengths of PBS used.

Osmosis causes the hydrogel to deswell as water moves out of the hydrogel matrix to the release medium of higher ionic concentration in an effort to reach osmotic pressure equilibrium. Patachia et al investigated the behavior of PVA hydrogels in electrolyte solutions and determined the mass of the hydrogel decreased over time when placed in solutions containing sodium chloride or potassium chloride. The authors indicated the mass loss was due to water being eliminated through osmosis. The effect was stronger as the concentration of electrolytes in the solution was increased [161]. Effectively the water loss causes a slight collapse in macromolecular structure of the hydrogel matrix. Additional evidence comes from collaborative work with another member in our group who has demonstrated that there is up to 30 % mass loss of PVA hydrogels in PBS of varying ionic strengths (FIGURE 4.7(a)) [162]. Also demonstrated are the reswelling curves of the same PVA hydrogels when placed back in water following shrinkage in PBS. FIGURE 4.7(b) indicates that the samples do not necessarily fully reswell back to their original weight which is denoted by the dashed line. This signifies that the osmotically induced shrinkage of PVA hydrogels can be, at least partially, irreversible [162]. FIGURE 4.7 illustrates the changes in mass for PVA samples of two freeze-thaw cycles. Further work with PVA samples of six freeze-thaw cycles exhibits a similar trend, however the effect is not as pronounced [162]. Hence, the effect of osmotic pressure will be less on stiffer PVA hydrogels created with increased number of freeze-thaw cycles.



FIGURE 4.7. (a) Mass loss of 10 wt% PVA hydrogels with two freeze-thaw cycles after one week in distilled water and PBS of varying ionic strengths, water or 0X PBS (\bullet), 0.5X PBS (\neg), 1X PBS (\blacksquare), 2X PBS (\diamond). (b) Re-swelling of 10 wt% PVA hydrogels with two freeze-thaw cycles in distilled water after one week in 0.5X PBS (\bullet), 1X PBS (\neg), 2X PBS (\diamond). Dashed line indicates mass percent of 10 wt% PVA hydrogel after one week of soaking in distilled water. Printed with permission from [162].

The shrinkage of the structure affects the release rate since the release is dependent on the ability of the protein to be able to move through the mesh of the polymer network, which is largely contingent on the degree of crosslinking, crystallinity and the mesh space available for diffusion [163-165]. Given that protein release from PVA hydrogels is known to be by a diffusion process, the mesh space available for the protein's mobility plays a major role in the release rate. The BSA has to diffuse across a relatively higher crystalline density and one of higher PVA content due to the water loss. Therefore, with the increased ionic strength of the release medium, there is less space for diffusion of BSA and some becomes permanently trapped in the PVA matrix leading to the observed decrease in released amount.



FIGURE 4.8. Controlled release profile of BSA (0.1 wt%) from 10 wt% PVA into PBS of varying ionic strength, water or 0X PBS (\bullet), 0.5X PBS (\triangledown), 1X PBS (\blacksquare), 2X PBS (\diamond). Error bars represent the standard deviation with n=3.

A second study was implemented to determine if reducing the osmotic pressure by changing the PVA solvent to PBS could affect the BSA release. FIGURE 4.9 displays four possible scenarios. Samples fabricated by dissolving PVA in PBS and releasing BSA into either water or PBS. And, samples fabricated by dissolving PVA in water and releasing BSA into either water or PBS. For PVA samples dissolved in the same solvent used for the release medium, the osmotic pressure should be alleviated. Yet, it can be seen that PVA in water does not behave exactly the same as PVA in PBS. This is likely due to the presence of ions during the physical crosslinking process which may influence the hydrogen bonding and structural properties of the hydrogel. Of more important interest are the scenarios where PVA is not dissolved in the same medium as used as the release medium. In FIGURE 4.9, when PVA is dissolved in water and then placed in contact with PBS, the effect is the same as shown in FIGURE 4.8, where the release is decreased due to the osmotic pressure effect. However, when PVA is dissolved in PBS and then placed in contact with water, the observed effect is opposite. In this case, the osmotic pressure gradient is reversed and water will want to move into the hydrogel causing it to swell. This will effectively create more space for diffusion and the rate and amount of release will increase.



FIGURE 4.9. Controlled release profile of BSA (0.1 wt%) from 10 wt% PVA, comparing the use of water or PBS as a solvent for PVA. Samples were fabricated by dissolving PVA in PBS and releasing BSA into either water (\blacksquare) or PBS (\diamond) and also by dissolving PVA in water and releasing BSA into either water (\bullet) or PBS (∇). Error bars represent the standard deviation with n=3.

One further study was carried out to assess the effect of an increase in effective PVA concentration in the hydrogel by osmotic water loss on BSA release. When placed in a solution of higher ionic strength, the hydrogel deswells as water is lost due to osmotic pressure. This causes an overall effective increase in the PVA content of the hydrogel. PVA concentration is a known parameter that influences the release rate of protein from the hydrogel, where increasing the PVA concentration decreases the release rate [12]. For our study it was predicted the release profile of BSA in a 10 wt% PVA hydrogel matrix into PBS would be similar to that of PVA of a higher concentration into water. From the mass of water loss, it was determined that the PVA concentration should increase to 10.6 wt% over time in 1X PBS. By determining the amount of water lost from the PVA hydrogel when in 1X PBS from when in water, the effective PVA concentration can be determined from a ratio of the initial PVA content (10 wt%) to the percentage of mass loss due to water alone. FIGURE 4.10 shows a comparison of release profiles. With an initial PVA concentration of 10.6 wt% the release into water was found to closely match that of 10 wt% PVA into 0.5X PBS and not 1X PBS. Instead an initial PVA concentration of 10.8 wt% into water was found to more closely resemble 10 wt% PVA into 1X PBS.

As water is lost from the hydrogel it takes some time to reach equilibrium and the deswelling effect is not immediate. Therefore, the PVA concentration will change gradually overtime and would not be possible to match exactly by changing the initial PVA concentration as done in this study. The PVA concentration will initially be lower and gradually increase overtime in PBS which will gradually decrease the released amount of BSA. Thus, varying the initial PVA concentration for release in water would not be an exact match. Nonetheless, this study demonstrated an overall decrease in protein release when the initial polymer concentration is increased. A similar effect is seen where increasing PBS strength eventually increases the polymer concentration, causing a decrease in the amount released. Therefore, there is an equivalence of effects where an increase in PVA concentration and shrinkage of the PVA structure from osmotic pressure decrease BSA release from PVA hydrogel.



FIGURE 4.10. Controlled release profile of BSA (0.1 wt%) from PVA into water, 10.6 wt% PVA(\bullet) and 10.8 wt% PVA (\bullet). Curves match closely with BSA (0.1 wt%) release from 10 wt% PVA into 0.5X PBS (\bigtriangledown) and 1X PBS(\diamond). Error bars represent the standard deviation with n=3.

4.2 SERP-1 ACTIVITY

When working with systems containing protein, there are many possible ways a protein may lose its activity, thus it is critical to ensure the protein activity is maintained so the system is effective and efficient. The processing of PVA hydrogels involves repetitive freezing and thawing which can greatly reduce some protein's activity. For that reason, the first step to working with the Serp-1 viral protein was to make certain the protein's activity was maintained through the freeze-thaw cycling. Additionally, when working with protein, its behaviour in different buffers and vessels of different materials

can affect working concentrations of active protein, particularly due to surface adsorption problems.

4.2.1 Repeated Freezing and Thawing of Serp-1

Serp-1 protein was subjected to the same controlled freeze-thaw cycles used to process PVA. In this study the protein on its own was tested to ensure its activity was maintained through all six possible cycles. An ELISA was used to measure the concentration of Serp-1 following each cycle and compared to the concentration of a control sample with no freeze-thaw treatment. The ELISA utilized functions by using specific antibodies for the active form of Serp-1. Therefore, not only is it a measure of concentration, but it is also a measure of the activity of the protein as non-active forms will not be detected.

FIGURE 4.11 shows the concentrations measured for cycles one to six for three different starting concentrations of Serp-1, (A) 100 ng/mL, (B) 10,000 ng/mL and (C) 1 mg/mL. When comparing to the concentration of control group in each graph, the activity was maintained through all freeze-thaw cycles for each starting concentration of Serp-1. Consequently, the freeze-thaw cycling does not deactivate the Serp-1 protein. Therefore, it should be reasonable to expect the activity of Serp-1 to be maintained under the PVA processing conditions provided that PVA itself does not denature the protein.



FIGURE 4.11. Concentration of Serp-1 following the controlled freeze-thaw cycles (1-6) compared to a control with no freezing and thawing. The concentrations were determined by ELIZA using specific antibodies for active Serp-1 only and thus it is also a measure of activity. A range of starting concentrations are demonstrated for (A) 100 ng/mL, (B) 10,000 ng/mL and (C) 1 mg/mL. Error bars represent the standard deviation with n=3.

4.2.2 Serp-1 Behaviour in Vessels of Different Materials

Protein stability and adsorption to the vessel wall in which it is contained can often be a problem when working at low protein concentrations. For our studies, if Serp-1 adsorbs to the wall of the vessel in which the release experiment is conducted, the measurement of the concentration will be lacking the adsorbed amount and the observed kinetics will not be entirely accurate. To test this, a simple release experiment was conducted in two different vessels, a glass diffusion cell and a polypropylene tube. From FIGURE 4.12 it can be seen that the concentration of detected Serp-1 was higher in the polypropylene tube which should not adsorb much protein. The results indicate that protein adsorption is a problem when working with the glass diffusion cells. However, the diffusion cells offer other advantages and are convenient for the *in vitro* release studies, therefore, the next section investigates how to minimize the adsorption while working with the diffusion cells.

These results also help to validate the use of polypropylene dishes as moulds to fabricate the hydrogel samples containing Serp-1. Polypropylene Petri dishes were used to make all the controlled release hydrogel samples in an effort to not lose any of the loaded Serp-1 due to adsorption to the mould during processing.



FIGURE 4.12. Release profiles of Serp-1 demonstrating the difference in release from different vessels by comparing polypropylene tubes (\blacksquare) and glass diffusion cells (\bigcirc).

4.2.3 Serp-1 Behaviour in Different Buffers

The *in vitro* controlled release studies were conducted in glass Franz diffusion cells. Serp-1 loss due to adsorption to the diffusion cell surface, as demonstrated in FIGURE 4.12, must be kept under control. One approach to minimize Serp-1 adsorption to the diffusion cell is by competitive pre-adsorption of another inert protein, such as BSA, onto the diffusion cell surface. This approach was evaluated using PBS containing BSA as the release medium.

BSA is often used as an added ingredient in biological mediums to stabilize other protein structure and prevent losses of protein to surfaces. Here, it acts in a competitive manner with Serp-1. If BSA adsorbs to the vessel walls first and the kinetics of adsorption for BSA is favorable, Serp-1 will stay in solution, allowing for accurate determination of Serp-1 concentration. This was investigated by conducting experiments

of Serp-1 release from PVA hydrogel into different buffers. FIGURE 4.13 demonstrates a simple *in vitro* release experiment of Serp-1 from PVA hydrogel into two different release mediums, PBS and PBS containing 1 % BSA. As shown, the detected concentration of released Serp-1 was higher for the buffer containing BSA. This effect is due to the presence of BSA which is commonly used as a blocking agent to prevent non-specific interactions between protein and surfaces, thereby ensuring Serp-1 stays in solution after being released from the hydrogel to maximize its detection.



FIGURE 4.13. Release profiles of Serp-1 demonstrating the difference in release into different release mediums in the diffusion cell. Shown are a buffer containing 1% BSA (\blacksquare) and PBS (●).

To confirm the effectiveness of the BSA surface coating, the release profiles of the BSA coated glass diffusion cell and that of the previous study conducted in a polypropylene tube are compared in FIGURE 4.14. It can be seen that the presence of 1 % BSA simultaneously with Serp-1 at low concentrations is effective to prevent any

significant adsorption of Serp-1 on the glass diffusion cell, thus allowing the Serp-1 protein to stay in solution for assay.



FIGURE 4.14. Release profiles of Serp-1 in diffusion cells with release mediums of to PBS (\bullet) or buffer containing 1% BSA (\Box), which is compared to Serp-1 release in a polypropylene tube (\blacksquare).

Following the results of this controlled release experiment, the BSA containing buffer was subsequently used as the release medium for all Serp-1 controlled release studies. This BSA containing buffer was also convenient to use since it is the same buffer used for assay dilutions for the ELISA to detect Serp-1. Therefore, it does not interfere with the detection method and is an appropriate release medium to work with.

4.3 CONTROLLED RELEASE OF SERP-1 FROM PVA HYDROGEL

In vitro controlled release experiments were performed using the therapeutic Serp-1 protein to investigate the effect of the key process parameters, including the number of freeze-thaw cycles, PVA solution concentration and freezing and thawing rates, on the release properties of PVA hydrogels. The release kinetics were then analyzed and compared to the model protein, BSA, release characteristics. Finally, in a practical sense, the release was tailored for a therapeutic level of delivery for Serp-1 and the *in vitro* release monitored in human whole blood.

4.3.1 Number of Freeze-Thaw Cycles

One through six freeze-thaw cycles were examined since it is known from a previous study using a similar freeze-thaw protocol that the mechanical properties of the PVA hydrogel reached a steady state after six cycles [11]. The mechanical properties are influenced by the structure of the hydrogel that is formed during the freezing and thawing process as are the controlled release properties, thereby rationalizing the correlation for the number of freeze-thaw cycles. Release experiments were carried out using 10 wt% PVA and 0.001 wt% Serp-1 with constant freezing and thawing rates of 0.1 °C/min from 20 °C to -20 °C. FIGURE 4.15 depicts the results, showing that as the number of cycles was increased the release rate decreased. The PVA hydrogels were able to provide release of Serp-1 for more than 24 hours.

The systematic decrease in release rate is comparable to our model protein studies with BSA and with other groups in literature [13, 135]. Each increasing cycle leads to an increase in the local PVA concentration in the polymer rich regions as the material phase separates, also associated with an increase in the volume fraction of crystalline regions [135]. This effectively decreases the mobility of the protein through the amorphous portions of the polymer rich region giving the decrease in release.



FIGURE 4.15. Controlled release profiles demonstrating the effect of the number of freeze-thaw cycles with 1 cycle (\bullet), 2 cycles (\checkmark), 3 cycles (\blacksquare), 4 cycles (\blacklozenge), 5 cycles (\blacktriangle) and 6 cycles (\bullet). Studies were performed releasing Serp-1 (0.001 wt%) from PVA (10 wt%) into a buffered medium using Franz diffusion cells at 37 °C. Error bars represent the standard deviation with n=3.

4.3.2 PVA Concentration

PVA solution concentrations of 8, 10, and 12 wt% were considered to determine the effect of polymer content on the release. Experiments were performed using two freeze-thaw cycles and 0.001 wt% Serp-1 loading, with constant freezing and thawing rates of 0.1 °C/min from 20 °C to -20 °C. FIGURE 4.16 shows that as the PVA concentration is increased, the release decreases. Samples with 8 wt% and 10 wt% PVA demonstrated close release profiles, while increasing PVA content to 12 wt% did decrease the release rate of Serp-1. The increase in PVA solution concentration results in an increase in polymer concentration in the polymer rich regions of the hydrogel. This in turn causes a decrease in the mobility of the protein and thus the reduction in diffusion of Serp-1 out of the PVA hydrogel.



FIGURE 4.16. Controlled release profiles demonstrating the effect of concentration of PVA solution with 8 wt% (\bullet), 10 wt% (\checkmark) and 12 wt% (\blacksquare). Studies were performed releasing Serp-1 (0.001 wt%) from PVA with 2 freeze-thaw cycles into a buffered medium using Franz diffusion cells at 37 °C. Error bars represent the standard deviation with n=3.

4.3.3 Freezing Rate and Thawing Rate

The effect of the freezing rate or thawing rate was investigated. The freezing rate was varied from 0.10 °C/min to 0.15 °C/min while keeping the number of freeze-thaw cycles at two, Serp-1 loading at 0.001 wt%, PVA concentration of 10 wt% and a thawing rate of 0.1 °C/min. FIGURE 4.17 shows that Serp-1 release decreases as the freezing rate

is reduced. Similarly the thawing rate was varied from 0.05 °C/min to 0.10 °C/min to 0.5 °C/min while holding constant the number of freeze-thaw cycles at two, Serp-1 loading at 0.001 wt%, PVA concentration of 10 wt% and a freezing rate of 0.1 °C/min. FIGURE 4.18 demonstrates the effect of increasing the thawing rate leading to an increase in release rate of Serp-1.

A reduction in the freezing or thawing rate creates a longer processing time for the PVA hydrogel. This allows more time for the PVA chains to organize into ordered crystalline domains, resulting in an increase in number and size of the crystallites. This means the density of the polymer rich regions will increase and the mobility of the protein through these regions will be reduced, slowing the release of Serp-1.



FIGURE 4.17. Controlled release profiles demonstrating the effect of the freezing rate of the PVA freeze-thaw cycles with 0.15 °C/min (\bullet) and 0.10 °C/min (\mathbf{v}). Studies were performed releasing Serp-1 (0.001 wt%) from PVA (10 wt%) with 2 freeze-thaw cycles into a buffered medium using Franz diffusion cells at 37 °C. Error bars represent the standard deviation with n=3.



FIGURE 4.18. Controlled release profiles demonstrating the effect of the thawing rate of the PVA freeze-thaw cycles with 0.5 °C/min (\bullet), 0.10 °C/min (\bullet) and 0.05 °C/min (\bullet). Studies were performed releasing Serp-1 (0.001 wt%) from PVA (10 wt%) with 2 freeze-thaw cycles into a buffered medium using Franz diffusion cells at 37 °C. Error bars represent the standard deviation with n=3.

4.3.4 Diffusion Properties of Protein in PVA

Control over the release of protein from PVA hydrogel is largely dependent on the structure of the hydrogel since it is a diffusion controlled release mechanism [13, 153]. The structure of PVA hydrogel arises from phase separation that occurs during the freezing and thawing process. The hydrogel is formed with polymer rich regions and polymer poor regions. The polymer rich regions have a higher local concentration of PVA with ordered domains of crystallites (3 nm) linking the polymer chains and amorphous PVA of dimension 19 nm [145]. The polymer poor regions are greater than 100 nm and pockets of water left behind as the ice crystals melt during the thawing stage [145, 151]. FIGURE 4.19 is an image demonstrating these two regions. A fluorescent probe, fluorescein isothiocyanate conjugated BSA (FITC-BSA), was incorporated into the PVA matrix. The confocal scanning laser microscope (CSLM) image shows the fluorescent protein localized in the polymer poor regions while the PVA rich regions are not fluorescent and are the black zones separating the regions filled with water-soluble protein. This indicates that most of the water-soluble proteins will reside in the water-filled pores when incorporated into the matrix.



FIGURE 4.19. CSLM image of FITC-BSA in the PVA matrix. The green represents pockets of FITC-BSA surrounded by the non-fluorescent black of the PVA matrix.

The protein then must diffuse out of the polymer poor regions across the polymer rich regions to be released out of the matrix. For that reason, the structural properties become important, as the space in the polymer mesh allows the migration of protein. The diffusion properties are controlled by controlling the structure from altering the processing conditions. The results given thus far in this thesis support this phenomenon. As demonstrated, the number of freeze-thaw cycles, PVA concentration, and freezing and thawing rates all affect the diffusion controlled release of protein, which can be used to design a release profile that would be best suited for restenosis control using Serp-1.

Notably, there are some differences when comparing the release profiles of either BSA or Serp-1 from the PVA matrix. Generally, BSA release goes to completion and exhibits close to 100 % release, whereas Serp-1 never reaches 100 %. Of course this is largely dependent on the processing conditions, and when the conditions are such that the release will be slower, the amount released will often be reduced, even with BSA. However, at the faster rates, when BSA demonstrates close to 100 % release, Serp-1 shows only about half of that. Both proteins are of a comparable intermediate size, with BSA at 67 kDa and Serp-1 at 55 kDa. Hence, they should have the ability to migrate through the mesh space in a similar way, and so there must be other reasons for the difference in release properties.

We know from work previously discussed using BSA as a model protein, the ionic strength of the release medium plays a role in the outcome of the amount of protein released. If the ionic strength of the release medium is higher than the solvent used in the PVA hydrogel preparation (90 % water), than an osmotic pressure is induced, drawing water out of the hydrogel. When this happens the structure shrinks and the local PVA concentration increases, contributing to a decrease in observed protein release. The studies done with Serp-1 used a buffer as the release medium, while studies done with BSA used water as the release medium. Therefore, the BSA system would not have induced an osmotic pressure gradient. However, the Serp-1 system likely suffered from the osmotic pressure effect and this is likely part of the release medium in the BSA studies was about 30 % (FIGURE 4.8). But, for Serp-1 less than 50 % release is typically observed, so the osmotic pressure is likely not the only contributing factor.

4.3.4.1 Serp-1 Remaining in Matrix

To account for approximately 50 % of Serp-1 not observed on the release profile, there are two possibilities. First, it is possible that a non-active form of Serp-1 is undetected during the assay to determine concentration of Serp-1 released. The concentration is determined by an ELISA using antibodies that are specific only to the active form of Serp-1. If Serp-1, somehow lost activity during the processing and/or release experiment, it would go undetected in the release medium measurements. During processing the protein undergoes multiple freeze-thaw cycles which is a common source of denaturing for many proteins. However, we know that Serp-1 maintains its activity throughout six freeze-thaw cycles as previously shown in FIGURE 4.11.

Unfortunately, there are no antibodies available to detect all forms of Serp-1, so a different approach was required to determine if Serp-1 was only released in the active form and that the remaining protein remained in the PVA matrix. To do this a backward approach was used to measure the amount of Serp-1 remaining in the actual PVA hydrogel following the completion of the release experiment. Release experiments were performed as usual, and three samples were used for different time points. The release profile is given in FIGURE 4.20, showing the three time points considered, 0, 12, and 48 hours. After these time points the PVA hydrogel was collected to determine the amount of Serp-1 remaining in the PVA matrix. The 0 hour sample represents a fully loaded matrix before the release experiment is conducted. The PVA matrix was melted back to liquid form by heating above 70 °C and the liquid samples were tested for Serp-1 content by Western blot. The Western blots (FIGURE 4.20) of the Serp-1 samples were compared to standards and the concentrations of each sample were approximated. These results are shown in TABLE 4.3 and suggest the majority of Serp-1 not released is still within the PVA matrix. Comparing the percentage left in the matrix (TABLE 4.3) to the percentage released (FIGURE 4.20), the two amounts add up to approximately 100 % for all three time points.

There is a possibility that Serp-1 interacts more strongly with the PVA matrix than BSA. If this is the case, there is the potential that a significant amount of Serp-1 is

simply trapped in the PVA matrix and cannot be released. This is confirmed by these results demonstrating a large amount of Serp-1 remains in the PVA matrix after the release experiment is completed. For clinical applications, the interaction between Serp-1 and the PVA matrix and its effects on the controlled release of Serp-1 must be considered. It is clear that a higher initial loading will be required. The initial loading must take into account that a portion of Serp-1 will remain in the PVA matrix and will not be released to be of therapeutic use. The processing conditions of the PVA system will likely affect the percentage of Serp-1 trapped since these conditions influence the structure of the hydrogel. A systematic study could be done to determine the percentage of Serp-1 remaining in the PVA matrix for all the different processing conditions discussed in previous sections. With that knowledge, the required increase in initial loading could be determined and accounted for when designing a controlled release PVA/ Serp-1 system for specific clinical applications.



FIGURE 4.20. Determination of Serp-1 content remaining in the PVA matrix after release reaches completion. The top shows the release profile of Serp-1 from PVA hydrogel. The bottom shows Western blots of the PVA matrix after 0, 12 and 48 hours. By comparing to the standards, the approximately concentration of each sample can be determined.

TABLE 4.3. Concentration of Serp-1 remaining in the PVA matrix following release after 0, 12, and 48 hours as calculated from the Western blots. The concentration is converted into percentage to compare to the amount released from the release profile.

	Approximated Concentration	Percentage Left in Matrix
0 hr	0.34 mg/mL	100 %
12 hr	0.24 mg/mL	69 %
48 hr	0.13 mg/mL	49 %

4.3.5 Release Kinetics of Serp-1

Thus far, the data has been represented in release profiles plotted as the cumulative fractional protein release (M_t/M_{∞}) versus time. Each study was done in triplicate and the average curve was plotted with error bars representing the standard deviation. These curves are now further analyzed using well known models to quantify the release kinetics and distinguish the effect of the different processing parameters.

Protein release from PVA has previously been classified as a diffusion controlled mechanism [13, 153]. To verify this, the Power Law (EQUATION 2.5) was initially used to classify the release behaviour of our data. This relationship is valid for the first 60 % of release and for a thin slab a release exponent, n, value of 0.5 represents Fickian diffusion [92]. The release profiles were converted to log-log plots to determine the value of n, which corresponds to the slope. Linear regression was used to find the slope of each log-log plot. FIGURE 4.21 shows a typical log-log plot for Serp-1 release as a function of the number of freeze-thaw cycles.



FIGURE 4.21. An example of using the Power Law to find the release exponent, *n*. Shown here is a log-log plot of the release profile of Serp-1 from PVA as a function of the number of freeze-thaw cycles, with 1 cycle (\bullet), 2 cycles (\checkmark), 3 cycles (\blacksquare), 4 cycles (\blacklozenge), 5 cycles (\blacktriangle) and 6 cycles (\blacklozenge). The slope of log-log plot is representative of *n*. R² values for the linear fits are 0.9910 (cycle 1), 0.9763 (cycle 2), 0.9795 (cycle 3), 0.9659 (cycle 4), 0.9601 (cycle 5), and 0.9943 (cycle 6).

The results are summarized in TABLE 4.4. The values of n ranged from 0.44 to 0.67 which means they were close to 0.5 and thus it can be considered to be diffusion controlled release. It should also be noted that a value of n between 0.5 and 1.0 specifies anomalous transport with a contribution from chain relaxation as well as diffusion [166]. Some of the conditions tested would result in less physical crosslinking than others and this would affect the release exponent value. For example, those samples with the fastest thawing rate or with the lowest PVA concentration had the highest release exponent suggesting they may have had additional relaxation or swelling contributing to a higher n value.

Since most release exponent values were close to 0.5, the Diffusion Model applies. This model has two fits for the early and late time approximations as represented by EQUATION 2.8 and EQUATION 2.9. It is not uncommon to use only the first equation for analysis of the first 60 % of release. The early time approximation states that M_t/M_{∞} is proportional to the square root of time. Therefore, a plot of M_t/M_{∞} versus the square root of time was used to determine the slope which represents $4^2(D/\pi l^2)$. FIGURE 4.22 shows a square root of time plot for Serp-1 release as a function of the number of freeze-thaw cycles. From the slope, the value of the diffusion coefficient was found and is given in TABLE 4.4.



FIGURE 4.22. An example of using the square root of time versus M_t/M_{∞} to find the diffusion coefficient, *D*. Shown here is the release profile of Serp-1 from PVA as a function of the number of freeze-thaw cycles, with 1 cycle (\bullet), 2 cycles (\checkmark), 3 cycles (\blacksquare), 4 cycles (\blacklozenge), 5 cycles (\blacktriangle) and 6 cycles (\blacklozenge). The slope of representative of $4^2(D/\pi l^2)$ from the early time approximation of the Diffusion Model. R² values for the linear fits are 0.9956 (cycle 1), 0.9832 (cycle 2), 0.9916 (cycle 3), 0.9845 (cycle 4), 0.9896 (cycle 5), and 0.9949 (cycle 6).

Matrix Parameters				Release Exponent	Apparent Diffusion Coefficient
Number of Freeze-Thaw Cycles	PVA Concentration (%)	Freezing Rate (°C/min)	Thawing Rate (°C/min)	$n \pm$ Standard Deviation	$D_{app} \pm \text{Standard Deviation} $ (× 10 ⁻⁹ cm ² /s)
1	10	0.10	0.10	$0.57~\pm~0.05$	12.8 ± 7.9
2	10	0.10	0.10	0.63 ± 0.01	9.2 ± 4.1
3	10	0.10	0.10	0.62 ± 0.03	4.6 ± 4.4
4	10	0.10	0.10	0.60 ± 0.02	2.7 ± 2.4
5	10	0.10	0.10	0.56 ± 0.03	1.8 ± 2.3
6	10	0.10	0.10	0.44 ± 0.12	1.2 ± 0.9
2	8	0.10	0.10	0.66 ± 0.07	13.0 ± 1.0
2	10	0.10	0.10	0.62 ± 0.02	10.4 ± 2.8
2	12	0.10	0.10	0.63 ± 0.04	5.3 ± 3.5
2	10	0.15	0.10	$0.55~\pm~0.08$	17.2 ± 2.3
2	10	0.10	0.05	0.58 ± 0.04	7.1 ± 1.1
2	10	0.10	0.50	0.67 ± 0.03	35.9 ± 10.3

TABLE 4.4. Controlled release of Serp-1 from PVA with varying PVA processing parameters. Shown are the release exponent values from the Ritger-Peppas model and diffusion coefficients for each combination of PVA processing parameters studied.

The apparent diffusion coefficients determined by this method ranged from 1.2 to 35.9×10^{-9} cm²/s showing a range of control for the various parameters tested. The standard deviations of the apparent diffusion coefficients and release exponents are also given in TABLE 4.4. The standard deviations show the variability within a sample size of three. The standard deviation values for the release exponents are low and demonstrate there is a reasonable amount of variability around the mean. The standard deviation values for the apparent diffusion coefficients, however, demonstrate variability. This is likely due to experimental error and batch to batch inconsistency during sample preparation. This could be further improved upon by repeating the experiments more than three times which may narrow the standard deviation.

In comparison to the apparent diffusion coefficients in TABLE 4.4, the diffusion coefficients found for BSA were on the order of 10^{-8} cm²/s, as were those from previous work of Yang [12]. Although the proteins are of comparable size Serp-1 appears to release at a slower rate. Since the release rate of a protein from a hydrogel matrix is also dependent on its interaction with the matrix [96], it is therefore possible that Serp-1 interacts more strongly with PVA hydrogels than BSA. From the results shown in the previous section 4.3.4.1, we have demonstrated that a portion of the Serp-1 has been permanently trapped in the PVA matrix and none of the conditions tested led to 100% release. The identification of trapped Serp-1 is very important in the interpretation of the controlled release data. In the Diffusion Model, the determination of *D* requires a knowledge of the initial protein loading, M_{∞} . If part of the initially loaded Serp-1 is trapped, then M_{∞} would have to be adjusted accordingly. The values of diffusion coefficients in TABLE 4.4 were calculated without taking into account the trapped Serp-1 and therefore they do not represent the true diffusion coefficients and are therefore termed D_{app} .

Knowing that some Serp-1 remains in the PVA matrix following the release studies and from TABLE 4.3 that 49 % Serp-1 remains after the release process is completed for a sample of two freeze-thaw cycles, it is possible to re-calculate the diffusion coefficient, *D*. This was done by re-plotting the release profile by using a M_{∞} value that takes into account the portion of Serp-1 that was not released. The 49 % remaining was determined for a sample prepared with 10 wt% PVA, two freeze-thaw cycles and freezing and thawing rates of 0.1 °C/min. The percentage of Serp-1 remaining in the matrix will likely vary when the processing parameters are changed due to structural changes in the hydrogel that may trap more or less protein. Thus, data with the same processing conditions was used when re-plotting to account for the 49 % Serp-1 remaining in the PVA matrix. Data was corrected by using a corrected M_{∞} value, M_{∞} ', equivalent to $0.51 \cdot M_{\infty}$. FIGURE 4.23 displays the original release profile and the corrected profile. By taking into account 49 % of the original drug loading remains in the matrix, the release profile now represents the true release profile.



FIGURE 4.23. Controlled release profile of Serp-1 from 10 wt% PVA with 2 freezethaw cycles from original data (\odot) and the corrected M_{∞} ' = 0.51· M_{∞} (\bullet) to account for 49 % of Serp-1 remaining in the PVA matrix. Error bars represent the standard deviation with n=3.

The corrected release profile was fitted with the Power Law (EQUATION 2.5) and the Diffusion Model (EQUATION 2.8 and EQUATION 2.9). FIGURE 4.24 shows the Power Law fit and FIGURE 4.25 shows the Diffusion Model fits for the early and late time approximations. Both models fit the data well. A summary of the results of this correction is given in TABLE 4.5 along with the uncorrected values calculated for D and n.



FIGURE 4.24. Power Law fit of the controlled release profile of Serp-1 from 10 wt% PVA with 2 freeze-thaw cycles corrected with M_{∞} '=0.51· M_{∞} to account for 49 % of Serp-1 remaining in the PVA matrix. R² = 0.9984. Error bars represent the standard deviation with n=3.



FIGURE 4.25. Diffusion Model fit of the controlled release profile of Serp-1 from 10 wt% PVA with 2 freeze-thaw cycles corrected with M_{∞} '=0.51· M_{∞} to account for 49 % of Serp-1 remaining in the PVA matrix. Shown are the early-time approximation ($R^2 = 0.9722$) and late-time approximation ($R^2 = 0.9905$). Error bars represent the standard deviation with n=3.

TABLE 4.5. Release exponents and diffusion coefficients of the uncorrected data and corrected data to account for 49 % of Serp-1 remaining in the PVA matrix for Serp-1 release from 10 wt% PVA with 2 freeze-thaw cycles.

	Release Exponent, n	Diffusion Coefficient, D _{early} (cm ² /s)	Diffusion Coefficient, D_{late} (cm ² /s)
Uncorrected Data (from TABLE 4.4)	0.62	10.4×10 ⁻⁹	n/a
Corrected Data (from FIGURE 4.24 and FIGURE 4.25)	0.66	3.86×10 ⁻⁸	4.22×10 ⁻⁸

From TABLE 4.5 it can be seen that the two diffusion coefficients of the original uncorrected data and the corrected data do not match. The original plot gives a diffusion coefficient that is underestimated by a factor close to 4. The corrected M_{∞} gives a good fit to the Diffusion Model. The new corrected diffusion coefficient is on the order of 10^{-8} cm²/s, which is consistent with the previously determined results for BSA release from PVA hydrogel [12]. Therefore, the apparent diffusion coefficients shown in TABLE 4.4 are not the actual diffusion coefficients unless they are corrected by taking into account the amounts of Serp-1 trapped in the hydrogel matrix.

It is interesting to note that although the diffusion coefficient is dependent on the value of M_{∞} , the release exponent, *n*, as defined in EQUATION 2.5 is not. This is confirmed by the values of *n* determined in TABLE 4.5. Correcting the release data to account for the portion of trapped Serp-1 will still result in the same slope for the log-log plot used to determine *n*. Therefore, the values of *n* in TABLE 4.4 are still applicable and are indicative of diffusion controlled release.

To determine the correct diffusion coefficients, the data sets for all the conditions tested need to be corrected to account for the portion of Serp-1 trapped irreversibly in the matrix. However, this percentage will vary with the processing conditions used. The PVA hydrogel processing conditions have an effect on the resulting hydrogel structure which in turn influences the release properties. It is expected that an increase in the number of freeze-thaw cycles would result in an increase in the amount of Serp-1 being trapped. For instance, PVA hydrogel of six freeze-thaw cycles will likely trap more Serp-1 than one prepared with two freeze-thaw cycles. Structurally this can be understood in terms of an increase in the volume fraction of the crystalline region with increasing number of freeze-thaw cycles [135]. Accordingly, the experiment conducted in section 4.3.4.1 to determine the amount of Serp-1 remaining in the PVA matrix following the release study, needs to be repeated for all the conditions tested. With that information, the entire data set could then be corrected to account for the portion of Serp-1 remaining in the matrix. The Diffusion Model could then be applied to determine the diffusion coefficients correctly.

Due to a variety of reasons, other than for two freeze-thaw cycles, we were not able to determine the amount of Serp-1 trapped in the PVA matrix. In order to arrive at the diffusion coefficients as a function of the number of freeze-thaw cycles, we made reasoning by drawing a parallel to the tensile mechanical properties of PVA. It is well known that the stiffness of this type of PVA hydrogel increases with increasing number of freeze-thaw cycles but this increase gradually tapers off in a non-linear way up to 10 freeze-thaw cycles [11, 167]. It is also known that this increase in the hydrogel stiffness is related to an increase in the volume fraction of crystalline regions of the hydrogel [144, 145]. Since any Serp-1 trapped is in the crystalline regions, it can be reasoned that the amount of the protein trapped is directly proportional to the increase in the PVA hydrogel crystalline regions as expressed in terms of increasing stiffness. Based on this argument and data in the literature [11], together with the data determined for the two freeze-thaw cycles sample presented in section 4.3.4.1, estimates given in TABLE 4.6 can be made.

Number of Freeze-Thaw Cycles	Serp-1 Trapped	Calculated M_{∞} '
1	0.45	$0.55 \cdot M_{\infty}$
2	0.50	$0.50 \cdot M_{\infty}$
3	0.55	$0.45 \cdot M_{\infty}$
4	0.58	$0.43 \cdot M_{\infty}$
5	0.60	$0.40 \cdot M_{\infty}$
6	0.60	$0.40\cdot M_{\infty}$

TABLE 4.6. Calculated values for corrected M_{∞} to account for the trapped Serp-1 as a function of the number of freeze-thaw cycles.

Based on the calculated M_{∞} or M_{∞} ', the experimental release data as a function of the number of freeze-thaw cycles shown in FIGURE 4.15 were re-calculated and are presented in FIGURE 4.26.



FIGURE 4.26. Release profiles corrected using M_{∞} ' to account for Serp-1 trapped in PVA matrix. The effect of the number of freeze-thaw cycles is demonstrated with 1 cycle (\bullet), 2 cycles (\checkmark), 3 cycles (\blacksquare), 4 cycles (\blacklozenge), 5 cycles (\blacktriangle) and 6 cycles (\blacklozenge). Studies were performed releasing Serp-1 (0.001 wt%) from PVA (10 wt%) into a buffered medium using Franz diffusion cells at 37 °C. Error bars represent the standard deviation with n=3.

The diffusion coefficients can now be calculated using the corrected data by way of a M_t/M_{∞} ' versus the square root of time plot, as shown in FIGURE 4.27. The diffusion coefficients obtained are collected in TABLE 4.7. It can be seen that the calculated diffusion coefficients are on the order of 10^{-8} cm²/s and reflect more closely a range

which is similar to the results from the BSA release studies. The trend also demonstrates a decreasing diffusion coefficient with increasing number of freeze-thaw cycles which correlates to a similar trend of increasing stiffness reported for tensile mechanical properties of the PVA hydrogel [11]. This illustrates the importance of accounting for any portion of the initial loading that may not be released and correcting M_{∞} accordingly for release kinetics determination.



FIGURE 4.27. An example of using the square root of time versus M_t/M_{∞} to find the diffusion coefficient, *D*. Shown here are the release profiles of Serp-1 corrected by M_{∞} ' to account for Serp-1 trapped in PVA matrix. The effect of the number of freeze-thaw cycles is demonstrated, with 1 cycle (\bullet), 2 cycles (\checkmark), 3 cycles (\blacksquare), 4 cycles (\blacklozenge), 5 cycles (\blacktriangle) and 6 cycles (\blacklozenge). The slope of representative of $4^2(D/\pi l^2)$ from the early time approximation of the Diffusion Model. R² values for the linear fits are 0.9956 (cycle 1), 0.9832 (cycle 2), 0.9916 (cycle 3), 0.9845 (cycle 4), 0.9896 (cycle 5), and 0.9949 (cycle 6).
TABLE 4.7. Controlled release of Serp-1 from PVA as a function of the number of freeze-thaw cycles. Shown are the diffusion coefficients for the corrected data set using calculated M_{∞} ' values to account for a portion of Serp-1 remaining in the PVA matrix. Studies were performed releasing Serp-1 (0.001 wt%) from PVA (10 wt%) processed with freezing and thawing rates of 0.10 °C/min.

Number of		Diffusion Coefficient	
Freeze-Thaw Cycles	Calculated M_{∞} '	$D \pm$ Standard Deviation (× 10 ⁻⁸ cm ² /s)	
1	$0.55 \cdot M_{\infty}$	4.2 ± 2.5	
2	$0.50 \cdot M_{\infty}$	3.7 ± 1.6	
3	$0.45 \cdot M_{\infty}$	2.3 ± 2.1	
4	$0.43 \cdot M_{\infty}$	1.4 ± 1.2	
5	$0.40 \cdot M_{\infty}$	1.1 ± 1.3	
6	$0.40 \cdot M_{\infty}$	0.8 ± 0.6	

4.3.6 Protein Loading

Protein loading was also investigated to determine its effect on the release profile of Serp-1 from PVA hydrogel. In FIGURE 4.28, it can be seen that by using loadings of 0.001 wt%, 0.005 wt%, and 0.010 wt%, the amount of Serp-1 released increased with increased loading. Again, for this study all other parameters were held constant with the number of freeze-thaw cycles at two, PVA concentration of 10 wt% and freezing and thawing rates of 0.1 °C/min.

The results of changing the protein loading are not an effect of the processing parameters like the aforementioned studies, but merely provide a simple manner to modify the release amount of Serp-1. The release kinetics should be quite similar for each loading, only the amount released will vary. The Serp-1 loadings studied here are below the therapeutic level, however suggest by increasing the loading an appropriate dosage may be reached. In the next section, more therapeutically relevant loadings are tested.



FIGURE 4.28. Controlled release profiles demonstrating the effect of the drug loading with 0.010 wt% Serp-1 (\blacksquare), 0.005 wt% Serp-1 (\blacklozenge), and 0.001 wt% Serp-1 (\blacktriangledown). Studies were performed releasing Serp-1 from PVA (10 wt%) with 2 freeze-thaw cycles into a buffered medium using Franz diffusion cells at 37 °C. Error bars represent the standard deviation with n=3.

4.3.7 Therapeutic Dosage and Timeframe

For a more practical approach, a higher loading is required for a therapeutic level of delivery to be achieved. *In vitro* release experiments were conducted to establish if a therapeutic level of Serp-1 could be loaded into the PVA matrix and released in an appropriate timeframe. Since Serp-1 is still under investigation in clinical trials, it has yet to be decided what release profile would be satisfactory. For an estimated timeframe it is thought that if the delivery can be sustained for more than the half-life of injected Serp-1, approximately one hour, the system would be successful. A typical dose for animal experiments was used as a goal to determine an appropriate dosage to aim for. Rat experiments with Serp-1 use 0.5 mg/kg of rat body mass, and an average rat weighs 250 g which works out to be an average dose of 125 μ g given at a single time point.

PVA hydrogel systems were prepared with selected parameters in an effort to tailor the release of Serp-1 to the above stated conditions. The samples were fabricated with two freeze-thaw cycles, 10 wt% PVA solution, 0.1 °C/min freezing and thawing rates, and loaded with about 200 μ g Serp-1. FIGURE 4.29 demonstrates the results of this set of conditions. Over approximately 100 hours, the goal of 125 μ g of Serp-1 was achieved. This is only one example of a possible therapeutic scenario, there are other possibilities although the ideal scenario in a clinical setting is still unknown. The results suggest Serp-1 delivery from PVA hydrogel can be extended for several days by adjusting the processing parameters and protein loading. To increase the duration of delivery, parameters such as freezing and thawing rates and number of cycles can be tuned to control the physical crosslinking of the hydrogel which ultimately controls the diffusion of Serp-1 out of the matrix. Therefore, once a therapeutic dosage and timeframe are identified for a clinical setting, the level of Serp-1 delivery can easily be adjusted.



FIGURE 4.29. *In vitro* release profile of Serp-1 from PVA at a therapeutic loading into a buffered medium. The PVA samples were prepared using two freeze-thaw cycles, 10 wt% PVA solution, 0.1 °C/min freezing and thawing rates, with about 200 μ g Serp-1 loaded. Data represents the average of 3 samples and the error bars are the standard deviation.

4.3.8 Serp-1 Release into Human Whole Blood

Up to now, the Serp-1 release experiments have been performed *in vitro* using buffers as the release medium. In an effort to create a more realistic biological environment to test the controlled release properties of Serp-1 from PVA hydrogels, human whole blood was investigated as a release medium.

Using the same Serp-1 loading and processing conditions as the previous study at a therapeutic dosage, an *in vitro* release experiment was conducted in human whole blood instead of buffer. FIGURE 4.30 displays the release profile for this case where the data is

preliminary and an average of 2 samples is shown. The most obvious difference from this study compared to the previous study in buffer, is that more Serp-1 is released in a shorter period of time. About 60 % of the loaded Serp-1 was released when buffer was used a release medium. However, in human whole blood 100 % release was observed. Also, the release reached completion in about 50 hours, half the time monitored in FIGURE 4.29.

The results, although preliminary, of this study suggest there may be a difference in release behaviour for the two different mediums. This becomes an important factor for the control of release, since the human whole blood represents a much more realistic biological setting. Possible reasons for the difference in release rate and amount may include a difference in ionic strength between the buffer and whole blood. As demonstrated in a previous section of this thesis using BSA as a model protein, the ionic strength of the release medium plays a role in the amount of protein released. If the ionic strength of the buffer is higher than the whole blood, then this may account for part of the decreased release in the buffer. Also, it may be that Serp-1 has more activity in whole blood and therefore was more easily detected, causing an increase in readings. Further studies need to be conducted to determine if this truly is a concern and that there is such a large difference in outcomes between the two release mediums.



FIGURE 4.30. *In vitro* release profile of Serp-1 from PVA at a therapeutic loading into human whole blood. The PVA samples were prepared using two freeze-thaw cycles, 10 wt% PVA solution, 0.1 °C/min freezing and thawing rates, with about 200 µg Serp-1 loaded. Data is preliminary and is the average of 2 samples.

4.4 DESIGN OF A CONTROLLED RELEASE SYSTEM

The previous sections of this chapter have discussed many results which are relevant when considering the design of a controlled release system. In particular, a controlled release system of Serp-1 protein from PVA hydrogels was of interest. Fundamental studies using a model protein, BSA, were done to investigate key behaviours of protein release from PVA hydrogel. This was followed by a systematic study of the properties of Serp-1 release from PVA hydrogel as a function of the processing parameters, including the number of freeze-thaw cycles, PVA concentration, freezing and thawing rates, as well as protein loading. Combining all this information together provides insight for designing a controlled release system for the reduction of restenosis.

For local restenosis reduction the idea is to implant the material locally to the site of vascular injury, whether as a coating for a DES or a cuff or patch implanted in the artery. Consequently, the drug delivery system will be in contact with the blood stream. In vivo, blood then becomes the equivalent to the release medium used in the in vitro studies. Blood contains many ions which could potentially contribute to an osmotic pressure effect on the hydrogel system which influences the release properties as demonstrated in section 4.1.3. The physiological ionic strength of blood is 0.15 M, thus as a release medium it can be most closely compared to the results with 1X PBS which has an ionic strength of 0.17 M. The results have demonstrated that with 1X PBS as a release medium there is a decrease in protein released amount due to shrinking of the PVA structure as water is drawn out of the hydrogel and an effective increase in PVA concentration. Therefore, it should be anticipated when a PVA hydrogel controlled release system is placed in a physiological environment this effect will be observed. For Serp-1, the *in vitro* studies were conducted with 1X PBS which has an ionic strength close to physiological conditions. Hence, the results reflect protein release amounts that could be expected in vivo.

The Serp-1 studies also demonstrated that a portion of the protein remains trapped within the PVA matrix. This is partially caused by osmotic pressure from the ionic strength of the release medium compared to the solvent of the hydrogel, leading to a decrease in release amount as discussed above. It is thought that there are other contributing factors to the high percentage of Serp-1 that remains trapped in the matrix, such as the interaction between Serp-1 and PVA. Regardless, it is important to account for a portion of Serp-1 remaining in the controlled release platform when developing a therapeutic system. The portion of Serp-1 remaining in PVA will depend on the processing conditions and the resulting hydrogel, thus, the percentage remaining needs to be determined for the particular set of parameters required for a clinically therapeutic system.

When designing a controlled release system for Serp-1, the current methods of treatment must be considered and improved on. Clinical trials of Serp-1 involve giving an infusion of Serp-1 immediately following angioplasty and stent deployment [66]. By infusing Serp-1 locally, the protein is delivered directly to the site of injury. However, the local concentration of Serp-1 will spike and then rapidly diminish as it is washed out and the plasma half-life is only about an hour. This is where a controlled release system can improve upon the current delivery method of infusion. By gradually releasing Serp-1 over time the local concentration can be maintained at a constant level and for a longer period of time. Since Serp-1 is still being investigated in clinical trials, the exact treatment protocols have yet to be established. Having options for a controlled release system will be of benefit, so that once the desired timeframe of delivery and dosage of Serp-1 are known, the system can be tailored to meet the requirements.

In this thesis it has been demonstrated that from a matrix-type system there are several processing parameters that can be varied to tune the PVA/Serp-1 system. The number of freeze-thaw cycles, PVA concentration, freezing and thawing rates, and protein loading can all be adjusted to tailor the system by release rate and release amount. Additionally, to adjust the release kinetics, a section in this thesis also discussed the possibility of using a two-layer reservoir-type system to release protein from PVA. Although for these studies BSA was used as a model protein, the results can be applied to Serp-1 and other water-soluble proteins. Depending on the intended application, two types of release kinetics, Fick's first and second laws, have been demonstrated. If a steady release rate is desired to maintain a constant concentration of protein delivered, the reservoir-type system should be used. If the application is more flexible and the release rate does not have to be constant, but a gradual method of delivery is still pertinent, the matrix-type system should be selected. For Serp-1, the matrix-type PVA system may be sufficient. It is thought that earlier time points of delivery are most important as injections of Serp-1 closest to the time of injury have proven to be the most effective at reducing restenosis [76]. With the PVA/Serp-1 release system, that follows diffusion controlled release, the protein release rate is faster at earlier times and slows down as

time progresses. This makes it a good candidate for an application that requires the highest concentration of drug delivery at early times.

For the application of a DES, the PVA/Serp-1 system would be a relevant coating material. It likely does not have the mechanical properties to be a fully polymeric stent, but could coat a metallic stent. This would allow for controlled delivery of Serp-1 to the local site of vascular injury when it is required the most as a stent is deployed.

PVA hydrogel by the freeze-thaw method is an excellent controlled release matrix for protein including Serp-1. Water-soluble protein delivery is most efficient in a hydrophilic environment as they will not readily diffuse through a hydrophobic matrix. Other hydrogels are also potential delivery matrices for protein, however, they must have a means to adjust the crosslinking density or other parameters which influence the rate of drug release without denaturing the protein by the use of chemical agents. This is where the PVA system proves to be advantageous with the physical crosslinking methods and many processing parameters which allow the system tunable. PVA hydrogel would be an applicable delivery matrix for other water-soluble proteins. As studied with BSA and Serp-1, the trends in release properties would be similar, although there may be some differences with Serp-1 and BSA. It would be expected for other proteins the release would be diffusion controlled and the system easily tuned in the same manner as with Serp-1 or BSA.

Chapter 5

CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE WORK

5.1 CONCLUSIONS

The focus of this thesis was the design of a PVA hydrogel controlled release system to deliver the Serp-1 protein for the management of restenosis. Serp-1 has shown promise in animal studies as being an effective anti-inflammatory agent and is currently under investigation in clinical trials. Serp-1 has a relatively short half-life *in vivo* and may require multiple injections or infusions for successful use, thus a more efficient means of delivery to prolong the activity of it is desired. PVA hydrogels prepared by the freeze-thaw method were investigated as a possible delivery matrix.

BSA was used a model protein to investigate the diffusion properties of PVA hydrogel. The controlled release properties were examined as a function of the number of freeze-thaw cycles and a decreasing trend in diffusion coefficient was observed with increasing number of cycles.

BSA was also used as a model protein to demonstrate the release profile of a matrix-type system versus a reservoir-type system. The reservoir-type system was found to follow Fick's first law with zero-order kinetics, while the traditional matrix-type system follows Fick's second law of diffusion. Therefore, the reservoir-type system provides an additional option for delivery kinetics. It was also established that the rate of protein release from the reservoir-type system was dependent on the thickness of the

outer barrier of protein-free PVA. The thicker the barrier layer, the slower the rate of release of BSA was.

BSA was further used as a model to study the effect of the release medium's ionic strength on the amount of protein released. For clinical application of biomaterials this effect is important since body fluid contains a high ion concentration. It was observed that using a release medium such as PBS instead of water, induces an osmotic pressure in the hydrogel comprised mainly of water. The effect of this draws water from the hydrogel, causing the hydrogel structure to shrink and causes an increase in apparent PVA concentration. Effectively this reduces the mesh space available for diffusion and a reduction in protein release was observed with increasing release medium ionic strength.

The release of Serp-1 from PVA hydrogels was characterized. It was found that Serp-1 also follows diffusion controlled release and a range of control can be attributed to the processing parameters selected. Analysis of the release process was complicated by a large percentage, up to 50 %, of Serp-1 remaining trapped in the PVA matrix, due to a combination of factors including a stronger interaction with PVA and reduced mesh space for diffusion from osmotic pressure induced by the release medium used. Diffusion coefficients must be corrected to account for the percentage of loaded Serp-1 that remains trapped in the PVA matrix. By correcting the diffusion coefficients it was demonstrated the release rate of Serp-1 is comparable to that of BSA. Increasing the number of freeze-thaw cycles again demonstrated a decrease in diffusion coefficient. Increasing the PVA solution concentration also caused a decrease in Serp-1 release. When the freezing or thawing rate was increased, the release rate of Serp-1 release.

Using PVA hydrogels by the freeze-thaw method appears to be a viable approach for Serp-1 delivery. The selection of processing parameters provides a means of control over the release properties. A therapeutic level of delivery can be achieved by selecting the appropriate processing parameters and increasing the drug loading accordingly. The release kinetics can be manipulated by selecting a one-layer matrix-type system or twolayer reservoir-type system depending on whether a constant release rate is required.

5.2 FUTURE WORK

The work of this thesis has demonstrated the *in vitro* controlled release properties of the PVA/Serp-1 system. However, the effectiveness of this system *in vivo* is not yet known. Ideally, to validate the use of the PVA/Serp-1 system, small animal studies must be done to determine its effect on the restenotic process. By implanting the material in an animal model, the release can be monitored to estimate the level of Serp-1 present at the local site. If Serp-1 remains detectable for a period greater than that from an infusion of Serp-1, than the system should be considered a success. The anti-inflammatory activity of the system should also be considered by monitoring the presence of immune cells surrounding the local implant site. Ideally, the slow controlled delivery of Serp-1 will reduce the local immune response. From the results of the initial animal studies, the controlled release properties can be tailored accordingly using the parameters studied in this thesis to adjust the release to be most effective.

From previous animal studies using injections, Serp-1 has been shown to be most effective for preventing restenosis at time points closest to the onset of injury. Therefore, diffusion controlled release may be most appropriate with the majority of release predominating in the early hours of release. However, should the clincal application turn out to be more suited to zero-order kinetics or a constant maintenance dosage is beneficial, the multi-layer system demonstrated in this thesis using BSA as a model protein, could be implemented.

Serp-1 delivery could potentially be accompanied by the delivery of another complementary therapeutic agent. Especially for the application of DESs, there are many potential biological targets. While Serp-1 may effectively manage restenosis in the shorter term of a day or two, another therapeutic agent may be required to maintain the stent's patency. For example, current treatment includes long term anti-platelet therapy

following stent implantation. It may be possible to incorporate a second anti-restenotic agent or anti-platelet agent in the PVA system along with Serp-1. For this, a multi-layer structure might be best to separate each molecule into an individual layer of PVA with separate release kinetics. Potentially an anti-platelet drug could be embedded in the inner layer to be released by zero-order kinetics over a longer and gradual timeframe, while Serp-1 could be delivered from the outer layer in a shorter diffusion controlled release profile. The compatibility of two agents releasing from a multi-layered PVA system has yet to be investigated, but could provide a great opportunity for a multi-targeted approach to reducing restenosis.

[1] Gershlick, A.H. Treating atherosclerosis: local drug delivery from laboratory studies to clinical trials. *Atherosclerosis*, **2002**, *160*(2), 259-271.

[2] Burt, H.M.; Hunter, W.L. Drug-eluting stents: A multidisciplinary success story. *Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev.*, **2006**, *58*(3), 350-357.

[3] Rajagopal, V.; Rockson, S.G. Coronary restenosis: A review of mechanisms and management. *Am. J. Med.*, **2003**, *115*(7), 547-553.

[4] Kraitzer, A.; Kloog, Y.; Zilberman, M. Approaches for prevention of restenosis. J. Biomed. Mater. Res. Part B, 2008, 85B(2), 583-603.

[5] Welt, F.G.P.; Rogers, C. Inflammation and restenosis in the stent era. *Arterioscler*. *Thromb. Vasc. Biol.*, **2002**, *22*(11), 1769-1776.

[6] Finn, A.V.; Nakazawa, G.; Joner, M.; Kolodgie, F.D.; Mont, E.K.; Gold, H.K.; Virmani, R. Vascular responses to drug eluting stents - Importance of delayed healing. *Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol.*, **2007**, *27*(7), 1500-1510.

[7] Joner, M.; Finn, A.V.; Farb, A.; Mont, E.K.; Kolodgie, F.D.; Ladich, E.; Kutys, R.; Skorija, K.; Gold, H.K.; Virmani, R. Pathology of drug-eluting stents in humans - Delayed healing and late thrombotic risk. *J. Am. Coll. Cardiol.*, **2006**, *48*(1), 193-202.

[8] Kavanagh, C.A.; Rochev, Y.A.; Gallagher, W.A.; Dawson, K.A.; Keenan, A.K. Local drug delivery in restenosis injury: thermoresponsive co-polymers as potential drug delivery systems. *Pharmacol. Ther.*, **2004**, *102*(1), 1-15.

[9] Nebeker, J.R.; Virmani, R.; Bennett, C.L.; Hoffman, J.M.; Samore, M.H.; Alvarez, J.; Davidson, C.J.; McKoy, J.M.; Raisch, D.W.; Whisenant, B.K.; Yarnold, P.R.; Belknap, S.M.; West, D.P.; Gage, J.E.; Morse, R.E.; Gligoric, G.; Davidson, L.; Feldman, M.D. Hypersensitivity cases associated with drug-eluting coronary stents - A review of available cases from the research on adverse drug events and reports (RADAR) project. *J. Am. Coll. Cardiol.*, **2006**, *47*(1), 175-181.

[10] Virmani, R.; Guagliumi, G.; Farb, A.; Musumeci, G.; Grieco, N.; Motta, T.; Mihalcsik, L.; Tespili, M.; Valsecchi, O.; Kolodgie, F.D. Localized hypersensitivity and late coronary thrombosis secondary to a sirolimus-eluting stent should we be cautious? *Circulation*, **2004**, *109*(6), 701-705.

[11] Wan, W.K.; Campbell, G.; Zhang, Z.F.; Hui, A.J.; Boughner, D.R. Optimizing the tensile properties of polyvinyl alcohol hydrogel for the construction of a bioprosthetic heart valve stent. *J. Biomed. Mater. Res.*, **2002**, *63*(6), 854-861.

[12] Yang, L. Poly(vinyl alcohol) Hydrogel-Based Controlled Release System for Wound Treatment, PhD Thesis, The University of Western Ontario, London, Ontario, Canada, **2008**.

[13] Li, J.K.; Wang, N.; Wu, X.S. Poly(vinyl alcohol) nanoparticles prepared by freezing-thawing process for protein/peptide drug delivery. *J. Controlled Release*, **1998**, *56*(1-3), 117-126.

[14] Lyoo, W.S.; Shin, D.S.; Han, S.S.; Noh, S.K.; Kim, J.A.; Choi, H.G.; Yong, C.S.; Kim, J.R.; Kim, J.H. Release behaviour of bovine serum albumin in syndiotactic poly(vinyl alcohol) hydrogel, prepared by freezing-thawing. *Polym. Polym. Compos.*, **2006**, *14*(1), 39-46.

[15] Hassan, C.M.; Stewart, J.E.; Peppas, N.A. Diffusional characteristics of freeze/thawed poly(vinyl alcohol) hydrogels: Applications to protein controlled release from multilaminate devices. *Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm.*, **2000**, *49*(2), 161-165.

[16] Lucas, A.; Dai, E.B.; Liu, L.Y.; Guan, H.Y.; Nash, P.; McFadden, G.; Miller, L. Transplant vasculopathy: Viral anti-inflammatory serpin regulation of atherogenesis. *J. Heart Lung Transplant.*, **2000**, *19*(11), 1029-1038.

[17] Lucas, A.; Liu, L.Y.; Macen, J.; Nash, P.; Dai, E.; Stewart, M.; Graham, K.; Etches, W.; Boshkov, L.; Nation, P.N.; Humen, D.; Hobman, M.L.; McFadden, G. Virus-encoded serine proteinase inhibitor SERP-1 inhibits atherosclerotic plaque development after balloon angioplasty. *Circulation*, **1996**, *94*(11), 2890-2900.

[18] van der Hoeven, B.L.; Pires, N.M.M.; Warda, H.M.; Oemrawsingh, P.V.; van Vlijmen, B.J.M.; Quax, P.H.A.; Schalij, M.J.; van der Wall, E.E.; Jukema, J.W. Drugeluting stents: results, promises and problems. *Int. J. Cardiol.*, **2005**, *99*(1), 9-17.

[19] Pendyala, L.; Jabara, R.; Robinson, K.; Chronos, N. Passive and Active Polymer Coatings for Intracoronary Stents: Novel Devices to Promote Arterial Healing. *J. Interv. Cardiol.*, **2009**, *22*(1), 37-48.

[20] Sousa, J.E.; Serruys, P.W.; Costa, M.A. New frontiers in cardiology - Drug-eluting stents: Part I. *Circulation*, **2003**, *107*(17), 2274-2279.

[21] Acharya, G.; Park, K. Mechanisms of controlled drug release from drug-eluting stents. *Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev.*, **2006**, *58*(3), 387-401.

[22] Muldowney, James A.S.,, III; Stringham, J.R.; Levy, S.E.; Gleaves, L.A.; Eren, M.; Piana, R.N.; Vaughan, D.E. Antiproliferative agents alter vascular plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 expression - A potential prothrombotic mechanism of drug-eluting stents. *Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol.*, **2007**, *27*(2), 400-406.

[23] Itoh, T.; Nonogi, H.; Miyazaki, S.; Itoh, A.; Daikoku, S.; Morii, I.; Goto, Y.; 3D-CAT investigators Local delivery of argatroban for the prevention of restenosis after coronary balloon angioplasty - A prospective randomized pilot study. *Circ. J.*, **2004**, *68*(7), 615-622.

[24] Jeong, M.H.; Ahn, Y.K.; Cho, J.G.; Park, J.C.; Na, K.J.; Kang, J.C. Successful coronary stent implantation using local nitric oxide donor delivery. *J. Interv. Cardiol.*, **2000**, *13*(3), 191-195.

[25] Kwok, O.H.; Chow, W.H.; Law, T.C.; Chiu, A.; Ng, W.; Lam, W.F.; Hong, M.K.; Popma, J.J. First human experience with angiopeptin-eluting stent: A quantitative coronary angiography and three-dimensional intravascular ultrasound study. *Catheter. Cardiovasc. Interv.*, **2005**, *66*(4), 541-546.

[26] Grube, E.; Silber, S.; Hauptmann, K.E.; Mueller, R.; Buellesfeld, L.; Gerckens, U.; Russell, M.E. Six- and twelve-month results from a randomized, double-blind trial on a slow-release paclitaxel-eluting stent for de novo coronary lesions. *Circulation*, **2003**, *107*(1), 38-42.

[27] Colombo, A.; Drzewiecki, J.; Banning, A.; Grube, E.; Hauptmann, K.; Silber, S.; Dudek, D.; Fort, S.; Schiele, F.; Zmudka, K.; Guagliumi, G.; Russell, M.E.; TAXUS II Study Grp Randomized study to assess the effectiveness of slow- and moderate-release polymer-based paclitaxel-eluting stents for coronary artery lesions. *Circulation*, **2003**, *108*(7), 788-794.

[28] Tanabe, K.; Serruys, P.W.; Grube, E.; Smits, P.C.; Selbach, G.; van der Giessen, W.J.; Staberock, M.; de Feyter, P.; Muller, R.; Regar, E.; Degertekin, M.; Ligthart, J.M.R.; Disco, C.; Backx, B.; Russell, M.E. TAXUS III trial - In-stent restenosis treated with stent-based delivery of paclitaxel incorporated in a slow-release polymer formulation. *Circulation*, **2003**, *107*(4), 559-564.

[29] Stone, G.W.; Ellis, S.G.; Cox, D.A.; Hermiller, J.; O'Shaughnessy, C.; Mann, J.T.; Turco, M.; Caputo, R.; Bergin, P.; Greenberg, J.; Popma, J.J.; Russell, M.E.; TAXUS-IV Investigators One-year clinical results with the slow-release, polymer-based, paclitaxel-eluting TAXUS Stent the TAXUS-IV trial. *Circulation*, **2004**, *109*(16), 1942-1947.

[30] Unverdorben, M.; Degenhardt, R.; Wiemer, M.; Horstkotte, D.; Schneider, H.; Nienaber, C.; Bocksch, W.; Gross, M.; Boxberger, M.; Vallbracht, C. The paclitaxeleluting Coroflex (TM) please stent pilot study (PECOPSI) - The one-year clinical followup. *Clin. Res. Cardiol.*, **2007**, *96*(11), 803-811. [31] Kataoka, T.; Grube, E.; Honda, Y.; Morino, Y.; Hur, S.H.; Bonneau, H.N.; Colombo, A.; Di Mario, C.; Guagliumi, G.; Hauptmann, K.E.; Pitney, M.R.; Lansky, A.J.; Stertzer, S.H.; Yock, P.G.; Fitzgerald, P.J.; SCORE Investigators 7-hexanoyltaxoleluting stent for prevention of neointimal growth - An intravascular ultrasound analysis from the study to COmpare REstenosis rate between QueST and QuaDS-QP2 (SCORE). *Circulation*, **2002**, *106*(14), 1788-1793.

[32] Liistro, F.; Stankovic, G.; Di Mario, C.; Takagi, T.; Chieffo, A.; Moshiri, S.; Montorfano, M.; Carlino, M.; Briguori, C.; Pagnotta, P.; Albiero, R.; Corvaja, N.; Colombo, A. First clinical experience with a paclitaxel derivate-eluting polymer stent system implantation for in-stent restenosis - Immediate and long-term clinical and angiographic outcome. *Circulation*, **2002**, *105*(16), 1883-1886.

[33] Honda, Y.; Grube, E.; de la Fuente, L.M.; Yock, P.G.; Stertzer, S.H.; Fitzgerald, P.J. Novel drug-delivery stent - Intravascular ultrasound observations from the first human experience with the QP2-eluting polymer stent system. *Circulation*, **2001**, *104*(4), 380-383.

[34] Morice, M.; Serruys, P.W.; Sousa, J.E.; Fajadet, J.; Hayashi, E.B.; Perin, M.; Colombo, A.; Schuler, G.; Barragan, P.; Guagliumi, G.; Molnar, F.; Falotico, R.; RAVEL Study Grp A randomized comparison of a sirolimus-eluting stent with a standard stent for coronary revascularization. *N. Engl. J. Med.*, **2002**, *346*(23), 1773-1780.

[35] Holmes, D.R.; Leon, M.B.; Moses, J.W.; Popma, J.J.; Cutlip, D.; Fitzgerald, P.J.; Brown, C.; Fischell, T.; Wong, S.C.; Midei, M.; Snead, D.; Kuntz, R.E. Analysis of 1-year clinical outcomes in the SIRIUS trial - A randomized trial of a sirolimus-eluting stent versus a standard stent in patients at high risk for coronary restenosis. *Circulation*, **2004**, *109*(5), 634-640.

[36] Moses, J.W.; Leon, M.B.; Popma, J.J.; Fitzgerald, P.J.; Holmes, D.R.; O'Shaughnessy, C.; Caputo, R.P.; Kereiakes, D.J.; Williams, D.O.; Teirstein, P.S.; Jaeger, J.L.; Kuntz, R.E.; SIRIUS Investigators Sirolimus-eluting stents versus standard stents in patients with stenosis in a native coronary artery. *N. Engl. J. Med.*, **2003**, *349*(14), 1315-1323.

[37] Tamburino, C.; Di Salvo, M.E.; Capodanno, D.; Capranzano, P.; Parisi, R.; Mirabella, F.; Scardaci, F.; Ussia, G.; Galassi, A.R.; Fiscella, D.; Mehran, R.; Dangas, G. Real World Safety and Efficacy of the Janus Tacrolimus-Eluting Stent: Long-Term Clinical Outcome and Angiographic Findings from the Tacrolimus-Eluting Stent (TEST) Registry. *Catheter. Cardiovasc. Interv.*, **2009**, *73*(2), 243-248.

[38] Grube, E.; Sonoda, S.; Ikeno, F.; Honda, Y.; Kar, S.; Chan, C.; Gerckens, U.; Lansky, A.J.; Fitzgerald, P.J. Six- and twelve-month results from first human experience using everolimus-eluting stents with bioabsorbable polymer. *Circulation*, **2004**, *109*(18), 2168-2171.

[39] Tsuchida, K.; Garcia-Garcia, H.M.; Ong, A.T.L.; Valgimigli, M.; Aoki, J.; Rademaker, T.A.M.; Morel, M.A.M.; van Es, G.A.; Bruining, N.; Serruys, P.W. Revisiting late loss and neointimal volumetric measurements in a drug-eluting stent trial: Analysis from the SPIRIT FIRST Trial. *Catheter. Cardiovasc. Interv.*, **2006**, *67*(2), 188-197.

[40] Fajadet, J.; Wijns, W.; Laarman, G.; Kuck, K.; Ormiston, J.; Munzel, T.; Popma, J.J.; Fitzgerald, P.J.; Bonan, R.; Kuntz, R.E.; ENDEAVOUR II Investigators Randomized, double-blind, multicenter study of the Endeavor zotarolimus-eluting phosphorylcholine encapsulated stent for treatment of native coronary artery lesions: Clinical and angiographic results of the ENDEAVOR II trial. *Circulation*, **2006**, *114*(8), 798-806.

[41] Abizaid, A.; Lansky, A.J.; Fitzgerald, P.J.; Tanajura, L.F.; Feres, F.; Staico, R.; Mattos, L.; Abizaid, A.; Chaves, A.; Centemero, M.; Sousa, A.G.M.R.; Sousa, J.E.; Zaugg, M.J.; Schwartz, L.B. Percutaneous coronary revascularization using a trilayer metal phosphorylcholine-coated zotarolimus-eluting stent. *Am. J. Cardiol.*, **2007**, *99*(10), 1403-1408.

[42] Serruys, P.W.; Ormiston, J.A.; Sianos, G.; Sousa, J.E.; Grube, E.; den Heijer, P.; de Feyter, P.; Buszman, P.; Schomig, A.; Marco, J.; Polonski, L.; Thuesen, L.; Zeiher, A.M.; Bett, J.H.N.; Suttorp, M.J.; Glogar, H.D.; Pitney, M.; Wilkins, G.T.; Whitbourn, R.; Veldhof, S.; Miquel, K.; Johnson, R.; Coleman, L.; Virmani, R.; ACTION Investigators Actinomycin-eluting stent for coronary revascularization - A randomized feasibility and safety study: The ACTION trial. *J. Am. Coll. Cardiol.*, **2004**, *44*(7), 1363-1367.

[43] De Scheerder, I.; Liu, X.; Huang, Y. Anti-migratory drugs and mechanisms of action. In: *Textbook of Interventional Cardiovascular Pharmacology;* Kipshidze, N.N., Fareed, J., Moses, J.W. and Serruys, P.W., Eds.; Informa Healthcare: London, **2007;** pp 325-337.

[44] Liu, X.S.; Huang, Y.M.; Hanet, C.; Vandormael, M.; Legrand, V.; Dens, J.; Vandenbossche, J.L.; Missault, L.; Vrints, C.; De Scheerder, I. Study of antirestenosis with the BiodivYsio dexamethasone-eluting stent (STRIDE): A first-in-human multicenter pilot trial. *Catheter. Cardiovasc. Interv.*, **2003**, *60*(2), 172-178.

[45] Han, S.H.; Ahn, T.H.; Kang, W.C.; Oh, K.J.; Chung, W.; Shin, M.; Koh, K.K.; Choi, I.S.; Shin, E.K. The favorable clinical and angiographic outcomes of a high-dose dexamethasone-eluting stent: Randomized controlled prospective study. *Am. Heart J.*, **2006**, *152*(5), 887.e1.

[46] Koenig, A.; Leibig, M.; Rieber, J.; Schiele, T.M.; Theisen, K.; Siebert, U.; Gothe, R.M.; Klauss, V. Randomized comparison of dexamethasone-eluting stents with bare metal stent implantation in patients with acute coronary syndrome: Serial angiographic and sonographic analysis. *Am. Heart J.*, **2007**, *153*(6), 979.e1.

[47] Abizaid, A.; Albertal, M.; Ormiston, J.; Londero, H.; Ruygrok, P.; Seixas, A.C.; Feres, F.; Mattos, L.A.; Staico, R.; Silva, R.L.; Webster, M.; Stewart, J.; Paoletti, F.; Kataoka, T.; Fitzgerald, P.; Sousa, A.; Sousa, J.E. IMPACT trial: Angiographic and intravascular ultrasound observations of the first human experience with mycophenolic acid-eluting polymer Stent system. *Catheter. Cardiovasc. Interv.*, **2005**, *66*(4), 491-495.

[48] Laitinen, M.; Hartikainen, J.; Hiltunen, M.O.; Eranen, J.; Kiviniemi, M.; Narvanen, O.; Makinen, K.; Manninen, H.; Syvanne, M.; Martin, J.F.; Laakso, M.; Yla-Herttuala, S. Catheter-mediated vascular endothelial growth factor gene transfer to human coronary arteries after angioplasty. *Hum. Gene Ther.*, **2000**, *11*(2), 263-270.

[49] Abizaid, A.; Chaves, A.J.; Leon, M.B.; Hauptmann, K.; Mehran, R.; Lansky, A.J.; Baumbach, W.; Shankar, H.; Muller, R.; Feres, F.; Sousa, A.G.M.R.; Sousa, J.E.; Grube, E. Randomized, double-blind, multicenter study of the polymer-based 17-beta estradioleluting stent for treatment of native coronary artery lesions: Six-month results of the ETHOS I trial. *Catheter. Cardiovasc. Interv.*, **2007**, *70*(5), 654-660.

[50] Abizaid, A.; Albertal, M.; Costa, M.A.; Abizaid, A.S.; Staico, R.; Feres, F.; Mattos, L.A.; Sousa, A.G.M.R.; Moses, J.; Kipshidize, N.; Roubin, G.S.; Mehran, R.; New, G.; Leon, M.B.; Sousa, J.E. First human experience with the 17-beta-estradiol-eluting stent - The Estrogen And Stents To Eliminate Restenosis (EASTER) Trial. *J. Am. Coll. Cardiol.*, **2004**, *43*(6), 1118-1121.

[51] Aoki, J.; Serruys, P.W.; van Beusekom, H.; Ong, A.T.L.; McFadden, E.P.; Sianos, G.; van der Giessen, W.J.; Regar, E.; de Feyter, P.J.; Davis, H.R.; Rowland, S.; Kutryk, M.J.B. Endothelial progenitor cell capture by stents coated with antibody against CD34 - The HEALING-FIM (healthy endothelial accelerated lining inhibits neointimal growth-first in man) registry. *J. Am. Coll. Cardiol.*, **2005**, *45*(10), 1574-1579.

[52] Tesfamariam, B. Drug release kinetics from stent device-based delivery systems. J. Cardiovasc. Pharmacol., 2008, 51(2), 118-125.

[53] Mani, G.; Feldman, M.D.; Patel, D.; Agrawal, C.M. Coronary stents: A materials perspective. *Biomaterials*, **2007**, *28*(9), 1689-1710.

[54] Kocsis, J.F.; Llanos, G.; Holmer, E. Heparin-coated stents. J. Long. Term. Eff. Med., **2000**, 10(1-2), 19-45.

[55] Rowinsky, E.K.; Donehower, R.C. Drug-Therapy - Paclitaxel (Taxol). N. Engl. J. Med., **1995**, 332(15), 1004-1014.

[56] Blagosklonny, M.V.; Darzynkiewicz, Z.; Halicka, H.D.; Pozarowski, P.; Demidenko, Z.N.; Barry, J.J.; Kamath, K.R.; Herrmann, R.A. Paclitaxel induces primary and postmitotic G(1) arrest in human arterial smooth muscle cells. *Cell Cycle*, **2004**, *3*(8), 1050-1056.

[57] Parry, T.J.; Brosius, R.; Thyagarajan, R.; Carter, D.; Argentieri, D.; Falotico, R.; Siekierka, J. Drug-eluting stents: Sirolimus and paclitaxel differentially affect cultured cells and injured arteries. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.*, **2005**, *524*(1-3), 19-29.

[58] Stone, G.W.; Ellis, S.G.; Cox, D.A.; Hermiller, J.; O'Shaughnessy, C.; Mann, J.T.; Turco, M.; Caputo, R.; Bergin, P.; Greenberg, J.; Popma, J.J.; Russell, M.E.; TAXUS-IV Investigators A polymer-based, paclitaxel-eluting stent in patients with coronary artery disease. *N. Engl. J. Med.*, **2004**, *350*(3), 221-231.

[59] Dawkins, K.D.; Grube, E.; Guagliumi, G.; Banning, A.P.; Zmudka, K.; Colombo, A.; Thuesen, L.; Hauptman, K.; Marco, J.; Wijns, W.; Popma, J.J.; Koglin, J.; Russell, M.E.; TAXUS VI Investigators Clinical efficacy of polymer-based paclitaxel-eluting stents in the treatment of complex, long coronary artery lesions from a multicenter, randomized trial - Support for the use of drug-eluting Stents in contemporary clinical practice. *Circulation*, **2005**, *112*(21), 3306-3313.

[60] Stone, G.W.; Ellis, S.G.; Cannon, L.; Mann, J.T.; Greenberg, J.D.; Spriggs, D.; O'Shaughnessy, C.D.; DeMaio, S.; Hall, P.; Popma, J.J.; Koglin, J.; Russell, M.E.; TAXUS V Investigators Comparison of a polymer-based paclitaxel-eluting stent with a bare metal stent in patients with complex coronary artery disease - A randomized controlled trial. *JAMA-J. Am. Med. Assoc.*, **2005**, *294*(10), 1215-1223.

[61] Marx, S.O.; Marks, A.R. Bench to bedside - The development of rapamycin and its application to stent restenosis. *Circulation*, **2001**, *104*(8), 852-855.

[62] Dumont, F.J.; Staruch, M.J.; Koprak, S.L.; Melino, M.R.; Sigal, N.H. Distinct Mechanisms of Suppression of Murine T-Cell Activation by the Related Macrolides Fk-506 and Rapamycin. *J. Immunol.*, **1990**, *144*(1), 251-258.

[63] Kukreja, N.; Onuma, Y.; Serruys, P.W. Xience V (TM) everolimus-eluting coronary stent. *Expert Rev. Med. Devices*, **2009**, *6*(3), 219-229.

[64] Chen, Y.; Smith, M.L.; Sheets, M.; Ballaron, S.; Trevillyan, J.M.; Burke, S.E.; Rosenberg, T.; Henry, C.; Wagner, R.; Bauch, J.; Marsh, K.; Fey, T.A.; Hsieh, G.; Gauvin, D.; Mollison, K.W.; Carter, G.W.; Djuric, S.W. Zotarolimus, a novel Sirolimus analogue with potent anti-proliferative activity on coronary smooth muscle cells and reduced potential for systemic immunosuppression. *J. Cardiovasc. Pharmacol.*, **2007**, *49*(4), 228-235.

[65] Richardson, J.; Viswanathan, K.; Lucas, A. Serpins, the vasculature, and viral therapeutics. *Front. Biosci.*, **2006**, *11*, 1042-1056.

[66] Lucas, A.; Liu, L.; Dai, E.; Bot, I.; Viswanathan, K.; Munuswamy-Ramunujam, G.; Davids, J.A.; Bartee, M.Y.; Richardson, J.; Christov, A.; Wang, H.; Macaulay, C.; Poznansky, M.; Zhong, R.; Miller, L.; Biessen, E.; Richardson, M.; Sullivan, C.; Moyer,

R.; Hatton, M.; Lomas, D.A.; McFadden, G. The Serpin Saga; Development of a New Class of Virus Derived Anti-Inflammatory Protein Immunotherapeutics. *Adv. Exp. Med. Biol.*, **2009**, *666*, 132-156.

[67] Law, R.H.P.; Zhang, Q.W.; McGowan, S.; Buckle, A.M.; Silverman, G.A.; Wong, W.; Rosado, C.J.; Langendorf, C.G.; Pike, R.N.; Bird, P.I.; Whisstock, J.C. An overview of the serpin superfamily. *Genome Biol.*, **2006**, *7*(5), 216.

[68] Dai, E.B.; Viswanathan, K.; Sun, Y.M.; Li, X.; Liu, L.Y.; Togonu-Bickersteth, B.; Richardson, J.; Macaulay, C.; Nash, P.; Turner, P.; Nazarian, S.H.; Moyer, R.; McFadden, G.; Lucas, A.R. Identification of myxomaviral serpin reactive site loop sequences that regulate innate immune responses. *J. Biol. Chem.*, **2006**, *281*(12), 8041-8050.

[69] Dai, E.; Guan, H.Y.; Liu, L.Y.; Little, S.; McFadden, G.; Vaziri, S.; Cao, H.N.; Ivanova, I.A.; Bocksch, L.; Lucas, A. Serp-1, a viral anti-inflammatory serpin, regulates cellular serine proteinase and serpin responses to vascular injury. *J. Biol. Chem.*, **2003**, *278*(20), 18563-18572.

[70] Falkenberg, M.; Tom, C.; DeYoung, M.B.; Wen, S.; Linnemann, R.; Dichek, D.A. Increased expression of urokinase during atherosclerotic lesion development causes arterial constriction and lumen loss, and accelerates lesion growth. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, **2002**, *99*(16), 10665-10670.

[71] Vaughan, D.E. PAI-1 and atherothrombosis. *J. Thromb. Haemost.*, **2005**, *3*(8), 1879-1883.

[72] Nash, P.; Whitty, A.; Handwerker, J.; Macen, J.; McFadden, G. Inhibitory specificity of the anti-inflammatory myxoma virus serpin, SERP-1. *J. Biol. Chem.*, **1998**, *273*(33), 20982-20991.

[73] Li, X.; Schneider, H.; Peters, A.; Macaulay, C.; King, E.; Sun, Y.; Liu, L.; Dai, E.; Davids, J.A.; McFadden, G.; Lucas, A. Heparin alters viral serpin, serp-1, anti-thrombolytic activity to anti-thrombotic activity. *Open Biochem. J.*, **2008**, *2*, 6-15.

[74] Viswanathan, K.; Liu, L.Y.; Vaziri, S.; Dai, E.; Richardson, J.; Togonu-Bickersteth, B.; Vatsya, P.; Christov, A.; Lucas, A.R. Myxoma viral serpin, Serp-I, a unique interceptor of coagulation and innate immune pathways. *Thromb. Haemost.*, **2006**, *95*(3), 499-510.

[75] Viswanathan, K.; Richardson, J.; Togonu-Bickersteth, B.; Dai, E.; Liu, L.; Vatsya, P.; Sun, Y.; Yu, J.; Munuswamy-Ramanujam, G.; Baker, H.; Lucas, A.R. Myxoma viral serpin, Serp-1, inhibits human monocyte adhesion through regulation of actin-binding protein filamin B. *J. Leukoc. Biol.*, **2009**, *85*(3), 418-426.

[76] Bot, I.; von der Thusen, J.H.; Donners, M.M.P.C.; Lucas, A.; Fekkes, M.L.; de Jager, S.C.A.; Kuiper, J.; Daemen, M.J.A.P.; van Berkel, T.J.C.; Heeneman, S.; Biessen, E.A.L. Serine protease inhibitor Serp-1 strongly impairs atherosclerotic lesion formation and induces a stable plaque phenotype in ApoE(-/-) mice. *Circ. Res.*, **2003**, *93*(5), 464-471.

[77] Miller, L.W.; Dai, E.; Nash, P.; Liu, L.Y.; Icton, C.; Klironomos, D.; Fan, L.; Nation, P.N.; Zhong, R.; McFadden, G.; Lucas, A. Inhibition of transplant vasculopathy in a rat aortic allograft model after infusion of anti-inflammatory viral serpin. *Circulation*, **2000**, *101*(13), 1598-1605.

[78] Bedard, E.L.R.; Jiang, J.F.; Arp, J.; Qian, H.; Wang, H.; Guan, H.Y.; Liu, L.Y.; Parry, N.; Kim, P.; Garcia, B.; Li, X.; Macaulay, C.; McFadden, G.; Lucas, A.; Zhong, R. Prevention of chronic renal allograft rejection by SERP-1 protein. *Transplantation*, **2006**, *81*(6), 908-914.

[79] Maksymowych, W.P.; Nation, N.; Nash, P.; Macen, J.; Lucas, A.; McFadden, G.; Russell, A.S. Amelioration of antigen induced arthritis in rabbits treated with a secreted viral serine proteinase inhibitor. *J. Rheumatol.*, **1996**, *23*(5), 878-882.

[80] Richardson, M.; Liu, L.; Dunphy, L.; Wong, D.; Sun, Y.; Viswanathan, K.; Singh, G.; Lucas, A. Viral serpin, Serp-1, inhibits endogenous angiogenesis in the chicken chorioallantoic membrane model. *Cardiovasc. Pathol.*, **2007**, *16*(4), 191-202.

[81] Nieh, M.; Katsaras, J.; Qi, X. Controlled release mechanisms of spontaneously forming unilamellar vesicles. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta-Biomembr.*, **2008**, *1778*(6), 1467-1471.

[82] Alsaleh, F.M.; Smith, F.J.; Keady, S.; Taylor, K.M.G. Insulin pumps: from inception to the present and toward the future. *J. Clin. Pharm. Ther.*, **2010**, *35*(2), 127-138.

[83] Wessely, R.; Hausleiter, J.; Michaelis, C.; Jaschke, B.; Vogeser, M.; Milz, S.; Behnisch, B.; Schratzenstaller, T.; Renke-Gluszko, M.; Stover, M.; Wintermantel, E.; Kastrati, A.; Schomig, A. Inhibition of neointima formation by a novel drug-eluting stent system that allows for dose-adjustable, multiple, and on-site stent coating. *Arterioscler*. *Thromb. Vasc. Biol.*, **2005**, *25*(4), 748-753.

[84] Saltzman, W.M. Controlled Drug Delivery Systems. In: *Drug Delivery: Engineering Principles for Drug Delivery;* Oxford University Press: New York, **2001;** pp 235-280.

[85] Srikonda, S.; Kotamraj, P.; Barclay, B. Osmotic Controlled Drug Delivery Systems. In: *Design of Controlled Release Drug Delivery Systems;* Li, X., Jasti, B.R., Eds.; McGraw-Hill: New York, **2006**; pp 203-230. [86] Kanjickal, D.G.; Lopina, S.T. Modeling of drug release from polymeric delivery systems - A review. *Crit. Rev. Ther. Drug Carrier Syst.*, **2004**, *21*(5), 345-386.

[87] Siepmann, J.; Siepmann, F. Mathematical modeling of drug delivery. *Int. J. Pharm.*, **2008**, *364*(2), 328-343.

[88] Baker, R.W.; Lonsdale, H.K. Controlled release: Mechanisms and rates. In: *Controlled release of biologically active agents;* Lacey, R.E., Tanquary, A.C., Eds.; Plenum Press: New York, **1974;** pp 15-72.

[89] Liu, P.; Ju, T.; Qiu, Y. Diffusion-Controlled Drug Delivery Systems. In: *Design of Controlled Release Drug Delivery Systems;* Li, X., Jasti, B.R., Eds.; McGraw-Hill: New York, **2006;** pp 107-137.

[90] Higuchi, T. Rate of Release of Medicaments from Ointment Bases Containing Drugs in Suspension. *J. Pharm. Sci.*, **1961**, *50*(10), 874-&.

[91] Siepmann, J.; Peppas, N.A. Modeling of drug release from delivery systems based on hydroxypropyl methylcellulose (HPMC). *Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev.*, **2001**, *48*(2-3), 139-157.

[92] Ritger, P.L.; Peppas, N.A. A simple equation for description of solute release. I. Fickian and non-Fickian release from non-swellable devices in the form of slabs, spheres, cylinders or disks. *J. Control. Release*, **1987**, *5*(1), 23-36.

[93] Singh, R.; Singh, S.; Lillard, J.W. Past, present, and future technologies for oral delivery of therapeutic proteins. *J. Pharm. Sci.*, **2008**, *97*(7), 2497-2523.

[94] Lee, K.Y.; Yuk, S.H. Polymeric protein delivery systems. *Prog. Polym. Sci.*, **2007**, *32*(7), 669-697.

[95] Lee, V.H.L. Peptide and Protein Drug Delivery - Opportunities and Challenges. *Pharm. Int.*, **1986**, 7(8), 208-212.

[96] Kobsa, S.; Saltzman, W.M. Bioengineering approaches to controlled protein delivery. *Pediatr. Res.*, **2008**, *63*(5), 513-519.

[97] Shtilman, M.I. Response of Organism to a Foreign Object. In: *Polymeric Biomaterials. Part I. Polymer Implants;* VSP: Boston, **2003;** pp 1-45.

[98] Gorbet, M.B.; Sefton, M.V. Biomaterial-associated thrombosis: roles of coagulation factors, complement, platelets and leukocytes. *Biomaterials*, **2004**, *25*(26), 5681-5703.

[99] Chan, M.Y.; Weitz, J.I.; Merhi, Y.; Harrington, R.A.; Becker, R.C. Catheter thrombosis and percutaneous coronary intervention: fundamental perspectives on blood,

artificial surfaces and antithrombotic drugs. J. Thromb. Thrombolysis, 2009, 28(3), 366-380.

[100] Werner, C.; Maitz, M.F.; Sperling, C. Current strategies towards hemocompatible coatings. J. Mater. Chem., 2007, 17(32), 3376-3384.

[101] Takahashi, H.; Letourneur, D.; Grainger, D.W. Delivery of large biopharmaceuticals from cardiovascular stents: A review. *Biomacromolecules*, **2007**, *8*(11), 3281-3293.

[102] Ranade, S.V.; Miller, K.M.; Richard, R.E.; Chan, A.K.; Allen, M.J.; Helmus, M.N. Physical characterization of controlled release of paclitaxel from the TAXUS(TM) Express(2TM) drug-eluting stent. *J. Biomed. Mater. Res. Part A*, **2004**, *71A*(4), 625-634.

[103] Virmani, R.; Farb, A.; Guagliumi, G.; Kolodgie, F.D. Drug-eluting stents: caution and concerns for long-term outcome. *Coron. Artery Dis.*, **2004**, *15*(6), 313-318.

[104] Kipshidze, N.N.; Iversen, P.; Kim, H.S.; Yiazdi, H.; Dangas, G.; Seaborn, R.; New, G.; Tio, F.; Waksman, R.; Mehran, R.; Tsapenko, M.; Stone, G.W.; Roubin, G.S.; Iyer, S.; Leon, M.B.; Moses, J.W. Advanced c-myc antisense (AVI-4126)-eluting phosphorylcholine-coated stent implantation is associated with complete vascular healing and reduced neointimal formation in the porcine coronary restenosis model. *Catheter. Cardiovasc. Interv.*, **2004**, *61*(4), 518-527.

[105] Lewis, A.L.; Vick, T.A.; Collias, A.C.M.; Hughes, L.G.; Palmer, R.R.; Leppard, S.W.; Furze, J.D.; Taylor, A.S.; Stratford, P.W. Phosphorylcholine-based polymer coatings for stent drug delivery. *J. Mater. Sci. -Mater. Med.*, **2001**, *12*(10-12), 865-870.

[106] Sharif, F.; Hynes, S.O.; McMahon, J.; Cooney, R.; Conroy, S.; Dockery, P.; Duffy, G.; Daly, K.; Crowley, J.; Bartlett, J.S.; O'Brien, T. Gene-eluting stents: Comparison of adenoviral and adeno-associated viral gene delivery to the blood vessel wall in vivo. *Hum. Gene Ther.*, **2006**, *17*(7), 741-750.

[107] Johnson, T.W.; Wu, Y.X.; Herdeg, C.; Baumbach, A.; Newby, A.C.; Karsch, K.R.; Oberhoff, M. Stent-based delivery of tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase-3 adenovirus inhibits neointimal formation in porcine coronary arteries. *Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol.*, **2005**, *25*(4), 754-759.

[108] Walter, D.H.; Cejna, M.; Diaz-Sandoval, L.; Willis, S.; Kirkwood, L.; Stratford, P.W.; Tietz, A.B.; Kirchmair, R.; Silver, M.; Curry, C.; Wecker, A.; Yoon, Y.S.; Heidenreich, R.; Hanley, A.; Kearney, M.; Tio, F.O.; Kuenzler, P.; Isner, J.M.; Losordo, D.W. Local gene transfer of phVEGF-2 plasmid by gene-eluting stents - An alternative strategy for inhibition of restenosis. *Circulation*, **2004**, *110*(1), 36-45.

[109] Atalar, E.; Haznedaroglu, I.; Aytemir, K.; Aksoyek, S.; Ovunc, K.; Oto, A.; Ozmen, F. Effects of stent coating on platelets and endothelial cells after intracoronary stent implantation. *Clin. Cardiol.*, **2001**, *24*(2), 159-164.

[110] Whelan, D.M.; van der Giessen, W.J.; Krabbendam, S.C.; van Vliet, E.A.; Verdouw, P.D.; Serruys, P.W.; van Beusekom, H.M.M. Biocompatibility of phosphorylcholine coated stents in normal porcine coronary arteries. *Heart*, **2000**, *83*(3), 338-345.

[111] Kuiper, K.K.J.; Robinson, K.A.; Chronos, N.A.F.; Cui, J.H.; Palmer, S.J.; Nordrehaug, J.E. Phosphorylcholine-coated metallic stents in rabbit iliac and porcine coronary arteries. *Scand. Cardiovasc. J.*, **1998**, *32*(5), 261-268.

[112] Lewis, A.L.; Tolhurst, L.A.; Stratford, P.W. Analysis of a phosphorylcholine-based polymer coating on a coronary stent pre- and post-implantation. *Biomaterials*, **2002**, *23*(7), 1697-1706.

[113] Steffel, J.; Eberli, F.R.; Luescher, T.F.; Tanner, F.C. Drug-eluting stents - what should be improved? *Ann. Med.*, **2008**, *40*(4), 242-252.

[114] Brown, D.A.; Lee, E.W.; Loh, C.T.; Kee, S.T. A New Wave in Treatment of Vascular Occlusive Disease: Biodegradable Stents-Clinical Experience and Scientific Principles. *J. Vasc. Interv. Radiol.*, **2009**, *20*(3), 315-324.

[115] Ormiston, J.A.; Serruys, P.W.; Regar, E.; Dudek, D.; Thuesen, L.; Webster, M.W.I.; Onuma, Y.; Garcia-Garcia, H.M.; McGreevy, R.; Veldhof, S. A bioabsorbable everolimus-eluting coronary stent system for patients with single de-novo coronary artery lesions (ABSORB): a prospective open-label trial. *Lancet*, **2008**, *371*(9616), 899-907.

[116] Serruys, P.W.; Ormiston, J.A.; Onuma, Y.; Regar, E.; Gonzalo, N.; Garcia-Garcia, H.M.; Nieman, K.; Bruining, N.; Dorange, C.; Miquel-Hebert, K.; Veldhof, S.; Webster, M.; Thuesen, L.; Dudek, D. A bioabsorbable everolimus-eluting coronary stent system (ABSORB): 2-year outcomes and results from multiple imaging methods. *Lancet*, **2009**, *373*(9667), 897-910.

[117] Yang, C.M.; Burt, H.A. Drug-eluting stents: Factors governing local pharmacokinetics. *Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev.*, **2006**, *58*(3), 402-411.

[118] Hwang, C.W.; Wu, D.; Edelman, E.R. Physiological transport forces govern drug distribution for stent-based delivery. *Circulation*, **2001**, *104*(5), 600-605.

[119] Tesfamariam, B. Local vascular toxicokinetics of stent-based drug delivery. *Toxicol. Lett.*, **2007**, *168*(2), 93-102.

[120] Tzafriri, A.R.; Levin, A.D.; Edelman, E.R. Diffusion-limited binding explains binary dose response for local arterial and tumour drug delivery. *Cell Prolif.*, **2009**, *42*(3), 348-363.

[121] Balakrishnan, B.; Dooley, J.F.; Kopia, G.; Edelman, E.R. Intravascular drug release kinetics dictate arterial drug deposition, retention, and distribution. *J. Controlled Release*, **2007**, *123*(2), 100-108.

[122] Lansky, A.J.; Costa, R.A.; Mintz, G.S.; Tsuchiya, Y.; Midei, M.; Cox, D.A.; O'Shaughnessy, C.; Applegate, R.A.; Cannon, L.A.; Mooney, M.; Farah, A.; Tannenbaum, M.A.; Yakubov, S.; Kereiakes, D.J.; Wong, S.C.; Kaplan, B.; Cristea, E.; Stone, G.W.; Leon, M.B.; Knopf, W.D.; O'Neill, W.W.; DELIVER Clin Trial Investigators Non-polymer-based paclitaxel-coated coronary stents for the treatment of patients with de novo coronary lesions - Angiographic follow-up of the DELIVER clinical trial. *Circulation*, **2004**, *109*(16), 1948-1954.

[123] Finkelstein, A.; McClean, D.; Kar, S.; Takizawa, K.; Varghese, K.; Baek, N.; Park, K.; Fishbein, M.C.; Makkar, R.; Litvack, F.; Eigler, N.L. Local drug delivery via a coronary stent with programmable release pharmacokinetics. *Circulation*, **2003**, *107*(5), 777-784.

[124] Venkatraman, S.; Boey, F. Release profiles in drug-eluting stents: Issues and uncertainties. *J. Controlled Release*, **2007**, *120*(3), 149-160.

[125] Serruys, P.W.; Kutryk, M.J.B.; Ong, A.T.L. Drug therapy - Coronary-artery stents. *N. Engl. J. Med.*, **2006**, *354*(5), 483-495.

[126] Sakurai, R.; Hongo, Y.; Yamasaki, M.; Honda, Y.; Bonneau, H.N.; Yock, P.G.; Cutlip, D.; Popma, J.J.; Zimetbaum, P.; Fajadet, J.; Kuntz, R.E.; Wijns, W.; Fitzgerald, P.J.; ENDEAVOR II Trial Invest Detailed intravascular ultrasound analysis of Zotarolimus-eluting phosphorylcholine-coated cobalt-chromium alloy stent in de Novo Coronary lesions (results from the ENDEAVOR II trial). *Am. J. Cardiol.*, **2007**, *100*(5), 818-823.

[127] Deconinck, E.; Sohier, I.; De Scheerder, I.; Van Den Mooter, G. Pharmaceutical Aspects of Drug Eluting Stents. *J. Pharm. Sci.*, **2008**, *97*(12), 5047-5060.

[128] Choi, J.; Konno, T.; Takai, M.; Ishihara, K. Controlled drug release from multilayered phospholipid polymer hydrogel on titanium alloy surface. *Biomaterials*, **2009**, *30*(28), 5201-5208.

[129] Meng, S.; Liu, Z.; Shen, L.; Guo, Z.; Chou, L.L.; Zhong, W.; Du, Q.; Ge, J. The effect of a layer-by-layer chitosan-heparin coating on the endothelialization and coagulation properties of a coronary stent system. *Biomaterials*, **2009**, *30*(12), 2276-2283.

[130] Soppimath, K.S.; Kulkarni, A.R.; Aminabhavi, T.M. Controlled release of antihypertensive drug from the interpenetrating network poly(vinyl alcohol)-guar gum hydrogel microspheres. *J Biomater Sci Polym Ed*, **2000**, *11*(1), 27-43.

[131] Pillay, V.; Sibanda, W.; Danckwerts, M.P. Sequential design of a novel PVA-based crosslinked ethylenic homopolymer for extended drug delivery. *Int J Pharm*, **2005**, *301*(1-2), 89-101.

[132] Juntanon, K.; Niamlang, S.; Rujiravanit, R.; Sirivat, A. Electrically controlled release of sulfosalicylic acid from crosslinked poly(vinyl alcohol) hydrogel. *Int J Pharm*, **2008**, *356*(1-2), 1-11.

[133] Bourke, S.L.; Al-Khalili, M.; Briggs, T.; Michniak, B.B.; Kohn, J.; Poole-Warren, L.A. A photo-crosslinked poly(vinyl alcohol) hydrogel growth factor release vehicle for wound healing applications. *AAPS PharmSci*, **2003**, *5*(4), (E33) 1-11.

[134] Bodugoz-Senturk, H.; Choi, J.; Oral, E.; Kung, J.H.; Macias, C.E.; Braithwaite, G.; Muratoglu, O.K. The effect of polyethylene glycol on the stability of pores in polyvinyl alcohol hydrogels during annealing. *Biomaterials*, **2008**, *29*(2), 141-9.

[135] Hickey, A.S.; Peppas, N.A. Mesh Size and Diffusive Characteristics of Semicrystalline Poly(vinyl Alcohol) Membranes Prepared by Freezing-Thawing Techniques. J. Membr. Sci., **1995**, 107(3), 229-237.

[136] Mandal, T.K.; Bostanian, L.A.; Graves, R.A.; Chapman, S.R. Poly(D,L-lactide-coglycolide) encapsulated poly(vinyl alcohol) hydrogel as a drug delivery system. *Pharm Res*, **2002**, *19*(11), 1713-9.

[137] Wieman, T.J.; Smiell, J.M.; Su, Y. Efficacy and safety of a topical gel formulation of recombinant human platelet-derived growth factor-BB (becaplermin) in patients with chronic neuropathic diabetic ulcers. A phase III randomized placebo-controlled double-blind study. *Diabetes Care*, **1998**, *21*(5), 822-7.

[138] Mongia, N.K.; Anseth, K.S.; Peppas, N.A. Mucoadhesive poly(vinyl alcohol) hydrogels produced by freezing/thawing processes: applications in the development of wound healing systems. *J Biomater Sci Polym Ed*, **1996**, *7*(12), 1055-64.

[139] Trieu, H.; Qutubuddin, S. Poly(vinyl alcohol) hydrogels: 2. Effects of processing parameters on structure and properties. *Polymer*, **1995**, *36*(13), 2531-2539.

[140] Yokoyama, F.; Masada, I.; Shimamura, K.; Ikawa, T.; Monobe, K. Morphology and structure of highly elastic poly(vinyl alcohol) hydrogel prepared by repeated freezing-and-melting. *Colloid Polym. Sci.*, **1986**, *264*(7), 595-601.

[141] Peppas, N.A.; Merrill, E.W. Development of semicrystalline poly(vinyl alcohol) hydrogels for biomedical applications. *J Biomed Mater Res*, **1977**, *11*(3), 423-34.

[142] Peppas, N.A.; Stauffer, S.R. Reinforced Uncrosslinked Poly (Vinyl Alcohol) Gels Produced by Cyclic Freezing-Thawing Processes - a Short Review. *J. Controlled Release*, **1991**, *16*(3), 305-310.

[143] Abdel-Mottaleb, M.M.A.; Mortada, N.D.; El-Shamy, A.A.; Awad, G.A.S. Physically Cross-Linked Polyvinyl Alcohol for the Topical Delivery of Fluconazole. *Drug Dev. Ind. Pharm.*, **2009**, *35*(3), 311-320.

[144] Willcox, P.J.; Howie, D.W.; Schmidt-Rohr, K.; Hoagland, D.A.; Gido, S.P.; et.al Microstructure of poly(vinyl alcohol) hydrogels produced by freeze/thaw cycling. *J Polym Sci [B]: Polym Phys*, **1999**, *37*(24), 3438-3454.

[145] Millon, L.E.; Nieh, M.; Hutter, J.L.; Wan, W. SANS characterization of an anisotropic poly(vinyl alcohol) hydrogel with vascular applications. *Macromolecules*, **2007**, 40(10), 3655-3662.

[146] Hudson, S.D.; Hutter, J.L.; Nieh, M.; Pencer, J.; Millon, L.E.; Wan, W. Characterization of anisotropic poly(vinyl alcohol) hydrogel by small- and ultra-small-angle neutron scattering. *J. Chem. Phys.*, **2009**, *130*(3), 034903.

[147] Kanaya, T.; Ohkura, M.; Kaji, K.; Furusaka, M.; Misawa, M. Structure of Poly(vinyl Alcohol) Gels Studied by Wide-Angle and Small-Angle Neutron-Scattering. *Macromolecules*, **1994**, *27*(20), 5609-5615.

[148] Kanaya, T.; Ohkura, M.; Takeshita, H.; Kaji, K.; Furusaka, M.; Yamaoka, H.; Wignall, G.D. Gelation Process of Poly(vinyl Alcohol) as Studied by Small-Angle Neutron and Light-Scattering. *Macromolecules*, **1995**, *28*(9), 3168-3174.

[149] Fergg, F.; Keil, F.J.; Quader, H. Investigations of the microscopic structure of poly(vinyl alcohol) hydrogels by confocal laser scanning microscopy. *Colloid Polym. Sci.*, **2001**, *279*(1), 61-67.

[150] Ricciardi, R.; Auriemma, F.; De Rosa, C.; Laupretre, F. X-ray diffraction analysis of poly(vinyl alcohol) hydrogels, obtained by freezing and thawing techniques. *Macromolecules*, **2004**, *37*(5), 1921-1927.

[151] Ricciardi, R.; Mangiapia, G.; Lo Celso, F.; Paduano, L.; Triolo, R.; Auriemma, F.; De Rosa, C.; Laupretre, F. Structural organization of poly(vinyl alcohol) hydrogels obtained by freezing and thawing techniques: A SANS study. *Chem. Mat.*, **2005**, *17*(5), 1183-1189.

[152] Ficek, B.J.; Peppas, N.A. Novel Preparation of Poly(vinyl Alcohol) Microparticles without Cross-Linking Agent for Controlled Drug-Delivery of Proteins. *J. Controlled Release*, **1993**, *27*(3), 259-264.

[153] Peppas, N.A.; Scott, J.E. Controlled Release from Poly(vinyl Alcohol) Gels Prepared by Freezing-Thawing Processes. *J. Controlled Release*, **1992**, *18*(2), 95-100.

[154] Suzuki, M.; Matsuzawa, M.; Saito, M. Freezing Rate Dependence of Fine Structure of Amphoteric PVA Hydrogel. *Polym. Prepr. Japan (Engl. Edn.)*, **1990**, *39*(1-4), 367.

[155] Peppas, N.A.; Mongia, N.K. Ultrapure poly(vinyl alcohol) hydrogels with mucoadhesive drug delivery characteristics. *European Journal of Pharmaceutics and Biopharmaceutics*, **1997**, *43*(1), 51-58.

[156] Papancea, A.; Valente, A.J.M.; Patachia, S.; Miguel, M.G.; Lindman, B. PVA-DNA cryogel membranes: Characterization, swelling, and transport studies. *Langmuir*, **2008**, *24*(1), 273-279.

[157] Nugent, M.J.D.; Hanley, A.; Tomkins, P.T.; Higginbotham, C.L. Investigation of a novel freeze-thaw process for the production of drug delivery hydrogels. *J. Mater. Sci. - Mater. Med.*, **2005**, *16*(12), 1149-1158.

[158] Grines, C.L.; Bonow, R.O.; Casey, D.E., Jr.; Gardner, T.J.; Lockhart, P.B.; Moliterno, D.J.; O'Gara, P.; Whitlow, P. Prevention of premature discontinuation of dual antiplatelet therapy in patients with coronary artery stents - A science advisory from the American Heart Association, American College of Cardiology, Society for Cardiovascular Angiography and Interventions, American College of Surgeons, and American Dental Association, with representation from the American College of Physicians. *Circulation*, **2007**, *115*(6), 813-818.

[159] Daemen, J.; Wenaweser, P.; Tsuchida, K.; Abrecht, L.; Sophia, V.; Morger, C.; Kukreja, N.; Jueni, P.; Sianos, G.; Hellige, G.; van Domburg, R.T.; Hess, O.M.; Boersma, E.; Meier, B.; Windecker, S.; Serruys, P.W. Early and late coronary stent thrombosis of sirolimus-eluting and paclitaxel-eluting stents in routine clinical practice: data from a large two-institutional cohort study. *Lancet*, **2007**, *369*(9562), 667-678.

[160] Carter, D.C.; Ho, J.X. Structure of Serum-Albumin. *Adv. Protein Chem.*, **1994**, *45*, 153-203.

[161] Patachia, S.; Valente, A.J.M.; Baciu, C. Effect of non-associated electrolyte solutions on the behaviour of poly(vinyl alcohol)-based hydrogels. *Eur. Polym. J.*, **2007**, *43*(2), 460-467.

[162] Wong, E.Y.L. Unpublished data.

[163] Mallapragada, S.K.; Peppas, N.A.; Colombo, P. Crystal dissolution-controlled release systems .2. Metronidazole release from semicrystalline poly(vinyl alcohol) systems. *J. Biomed. Mater. Res.*, **1997**, *36*(1), 125-130.

[164] Huang, X.; Brazel, C.S. Analysis of burst release of proxyphylline from poly(vinyl alcohol) hydrogels. *Chem. Eng. Commun.*, **2003**, *190*(4), 519-532.

[165] Colombo, P.; Conte, U.; Gazzaniga, A.; Maggi, L.; Sangalli, M.E.; Peppas, N.A.; Lamanna, A. Drug Release Modulation by Physical Restrictions of Matrix Swelling. *Int. J. Pharm.*, **1990**, *63*(1), 43-48.

[166] Peppas, N.A.; Sahlin, J.J. A Simple Equation for the Description of Solute Release .3. Coupling of Diffusion and Relaxation. *Int. J. Pharm.*, **1989**, *57*(2), 169-172.

[167] Chu, K.C.; Rutt, B.K. Polyvinyl alcohol cryogel: An ideal phantom material for MR studies of arterial flow and elasticity. *Magn. Reson. Med.*, **1997**, *37*(2), 314-319.

Appendix A

ELISA PROTOCOL

SERP-1 SANDWICH ELISA PROCEDURE

MATERIALS

PBS (10X, 1 L)	 2.4 g Potassium Phosphate (KH2PO4) 2.0 g Potassium Chloride (KCl) 80.0 g Sodium Chloride (NaCl) 26.8 g Sodium Phosphate, Dibasic Heptahydrate (Na₂HPO₄.7H₂O) Add chemicals to ddH₂0 for a final volume of 1 L. Expiry is 1 year from date prepared.
Carbonate Coating	Carbonate-bicarbonate buffer capsules (Sigma, C-3041) Buffer (CCB) Dissolve one capsule in 100 mL deionized water to yield a 0.05 M buffer, pH9.6 at 25 °C. Store at 4 °C and expiry is 1 year from date prepared.
Blocking Buffer (1 L)	100 mL of 10X PBS 20 g BSA 0.5 mL Tween-20 Add chemicals to ddH_20 for a final volume of 1 L. Aliquot and store at -20 °C up to 1 year from date prepared.
Wash Buffer (1 L)	 0.05 % Tween-20 in PBS 100 mL of 10X PBS 0.5 mL Tween-20 Add chemicals to ddH₂0 for a final volume of 1 L. Store at room temperature.
Assay Buffer (1 L)	1 % BSA/0.025 % Tween-20 in PBS (50 % blocking buffer + 50 % wash buffer) Aliquot and store at -20 °C. Expiry is 1 year from date prepared.
Stop Solution	$2 \text{ N H}_2\text{SO}_4$ Add 27.75 mL 18 N H $_2\text{SO}_4$ in to 222.25 mL ddH $_2\text{O}$. Store at room temperature in acid cabinet.
Capture Antibody	ATD11, Serp-1 mAb (Viron Therapeutics Inc.)
Detection Antibody	bAXB7.9, Serp-1 mAb (Viron Therapeutics Inc.)

HRP Streptavidin	P21124 (Pierce Biotechnology, Inc. (Thermo Fisher Scientific))	
TMB Substrate Kit	DY999 (R&D Systems)	

METHODS

Step 1: Coat - Capture mAb (ATD11), 1.6 µg/mL on 96 well plate (Corning 3590)

- For one plate, 7.33 uL of 1.2 mg/mL ATD11 in 5.5 mL CCB, dispense 50 µL per well
- Cover plate with parafilm and incubate in fridge (4 °C) overnight or up to one week

Remove coat antibody by inverting plate over sink and blotting plate on paper towel

Step 2: Block - Blocking buffer

- Dispense 200 µL per well
- Incubate at room temperature for one hour

Wash 3X – Wash buffer, 200 µL per well

Step 3: Standards and samples - Dilute standards and samples in assay buffer

- For standard curve, dilute purified Serp-1 by adding 450 μL of assay buffer to a 50 μL aliquot of 2.0 $\mu g/mL$ Serp-1 to get 200 ng/mL Serp-1
- In first two columns of the polypropylene dilution plate, dilute Serp-1 standard from 0-24 ng/mL as follows

Final Concentration (ng/mL)	Assay Buffer (µL)	200 ng/mL Serp-1 (µL)
24	176	24
20	180	20
16	184	16
12	188	12
8	192	8
4	196	4
2	198	2
0	200	0

- For samples, dilute serially using assay buffer in remaining columns of dilution plate using wet tip method
- All dilutions are done in polypropylene dilution plate and then transferred to polystyrene assay plate, 50 µL per well, running all samples in duplicate
- Incubate at room temperature for one hour

Wash 3X – Wash buffer, 200 µL per well

Step 4: Biotinylation - Detection mAb (bAXB7.9), 0.1 µg/mL

• For one plate, 55 μ L of 10 μ g/mL bAXB7.9 in 5.5 mL assay buffer, dispense 50 μ L/well

• Incubate at room temperature for one hour

Wash 3X - Wash buffer, 200 μL per well

Step 5: Biotin detection - HRP Streptavidin, 0.25 µg/mL

- Add 500 μ l of 5 μ g/ml HRP Streptavidin to 10 mL assay buffer (enough for 2 plates), dispense 50 μ L per well
- Incubate at room temperature for one hour

Wash 3X - Wash buffer, 200 µL per well

Step 6: Colour development - TMB kit

- Mix 5.5 mL vial A (stabilized hydrogen peroxide) and 5.5 mL vial B (stabilized tetramethylbenzidine), use immediately by dispensing 100 μ L per well
- Incubate at room temperature for only 4 minutes

Step 7: Stop - 2 N H₂SO₄

- 100 μ L per well pipetted in the same order as previous step
- Read plate immediately

Step 8: Read - Microplate reader at 450 nm

- Zero plate reader by reading blank wells and set the average value to first well
- Turn on the autoreader and manually maneuver plate to read each well in order of pipetting
- Output data to text file and import into spreadsheet

Appendix B

SDS-PAGE PROTOCOL

SDS-PAGE PROCEDURE

MATERIALS

SDS-PAGE Sample Buffer (2X, 100 mL)	 20 mL of Glycerol 4 g Sodium Dodecyl Sulfate (SDS) 200 mg Bromophenol Blue 20 mL 1 M Dithiothreitol 10 mL 1 M Tris Add chemicals to ddH₂0 for a final volume of 100 mL.
SDS-PAGE Running Buffer (10X, 1 L)	30 g of Tris 144 g of Glycine 10 g SDS Add chemicals to ddH_20 for a final volume of 1 L.
Serp-1 Control	1.8 mg/mL Serp-1 (Viron Therapeutics, Inc.)

METHODS

Step 1: Prepare samples and controls

- Dilute samples in SDS-PAGE sample buffer
- Serp-1 (1.8 mg/mL) control dilute in SDS-PAGE sample buffer
- Centrifuge samples briefly to mix and heat at 95 °C for 5 min

Step 2: Load gel

- Place pre-made gels (Bio-Rad 161-1105) in electrophoresis box and fill with 1X SDS-PAGE running buffer
- Load 10 µL standard (Bio-Rad 161-0376) as marker in first lane
- Pipette samples and controls at volumes to achieve appropriate loading in remaining lanes

Step 3: Electrophoresis

- Run gel at constant voltage (200 V) using Bio-Rad Power Pack 300 for 25 min
- Reduce voltage to 120 V and run another 25 min
- Remove gel from assembly and rinse with dH₂0
Appendix C

WESTERN BLOT PROTOCOL

WESTERN BLOT PROCEDURE FOR SERP-1

MATERIALS

Transfer Buffer (10X, 1 L) (without methanol)	30 g of Tris 144 g of Glycine Add chemicals to ddH_20 for a final volume of 1 L.
Transfer Buffer (1X, 1 L) (with methanol)	100 mL of 10X transfer buffer 200 mL Methanol Add chemicals to ddH ₂ 0 for a final volume of 1 L.
PBS (10X, 1 L)	 2.4 g Potassium Phosphate (KH2PO4) 2.0 g Potassium Chloride (KCl) 80.0 g Sodium Chloride (NaCl) 26.8 g Sodium Phosphate, Dibasic Heptahydrate (Na₂HPO₄.7H₂O) Add chemicals to ddH₂0 for a final volume of 1 L.
Blocking Buffer (100 mL)	5 g of Instant Skim Milk Powder 0.2 mL of Tween-20 10 mL of 10X PBS 89.8 mL ddH ₂ 0
Wash Buffer (1 L)	 0.2 % Tween-20 in PBS 100 mL of 10X PBS 2 mL Tween-20 Add chemicals to ddH₂0 for a final volume of 1 L.
Primary Antibody	AQH9.6, Serp-1 mAb in 50 % glycerol (Viron Therapeutics Inc.)
Secondary Antibody	Goat Anti-mouse Antibody (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Inc)
Western Blotting Detection Reagent	1059243 (Amersham Life Science)

METHODS

Step 1: Transfer (blot)

- Pour chilled 1X transfer buffer into both sides of blot assembly tray
- Presoak filter paper and nitrocellulose membrane (Amersham RPN303E) in 1X transfer buffer
- Assemble sandwich with three pieces of filter paper, then electrophoresis gel, then membrane, then three more pieces of filter paper and roll out bubbles
- Close cassette and pour off excess buffer
- Run blot at constant current (480 mA) for 40 min using Bio-Rad Power Pack 200

Step 2: Blocking buffer

- Place membrane in blocking buffer
- Incubate at room temperature on rocker for one hour

Step 3: Primary antibody – mAb AQH9.6 (50 % glycerol)

- Dilute first antibody (7 µL) in blocking buffer (20 mL)
- Incubate at room temperature on rocker for one hour

Wash 3X – Place membrane in wash buffer for 5-10 min on rocker

Step 4: Secondary antibody – HRP goat anti-mouse

- Dilute second antibody $(7 \ \mu L)$ in blocking buffer $(20 \ mL)$
- Add in 4 µL antibody for Bio-Rad marker ladder (Bio-Rad 310003685, Precision StrepTactin-HRP Conjugate)
- Incubate at 4 °C overnight on rocker

Wash 3X – Place membrane in wash buffer for 5-10 min on rocker

Step 5: Detection solution

- Coat membrane with detection solution (1 mL A + 1 mL B) for 1-2 min
- Blot dry on Kim wipe
- Place membrane between two plastic sheets in film cassette

Step 6: Film development

- In dark room, add film to cassette with membrane for 5 s exposure
- Run film through developer

Step 7: Bio-Rad Gel Doc system

- Add film to Gel Doc system and turn on lights
- Open software, adjust image and save as a TIFF file

Appendix D

COPYRIGHT PERMISSIONS

COPYRIGHT PERMISSIONS

ELSEVIER LICENSE – PAGE 1 OF 5

Rightslink Printable License

Page 1 of 5

ELSEVIER LICENSE TERMS AND CONDITIONS

Aug 26, 2010

This is a License Agreement between Karen L Kennedy ("You") and Elsevier ("Elsevier") provided by Copyright Clearance Center ("CCC"). The license consists of your order details, the terms and conditions provided by Elsevier, and the payment terms and conditions.

All payments must be made in full to CCC. For payment instructions, please see information listed at the bottom of this form.

Supplier	Elsevier Limited The Boulevard,Langford Lane Kidlington,Oxford,OX5 1GB,UK
Registered Company Number	1982084
Customer name	Karen L Kennedy
Customer address	Biomedical Engineering, Room 2001 SEB
	London, ON N6A3L8
License number	2496621046185
License date	Aug 26, 2010
Licensed content publisher	Elsevier
Licensed content publication	Elsevier Books
Licensed content title	Advances in Protein Chemistry, Volume 45
Licensed content author	Daniel C. Carter, Joseph X. Ho
Licensed content date	1994
Number of pages	41
Type of Use	reuse in a thesis/dissertation
Requestor type	Not specified
Intended publisher of new work	n/a
Portion	figures/tables/illustrations
Number of figures/tables/illustrations	1
Format	both print and electronic
Are you the author of this Elsevier chapter?	No
Will you be translating?	No
Order reference number	
Title of your thesis/dissertation	Controlled Delivery of Serp-1 Protein from Poly(vinyl alcohol) Hydrogel
Expected completion date	Aug 2010

https://s100.copyright.com/CustomerAdmin/PrintableLicenseFrame.jsp?licenseID=201008... 8/26/2010

ELSEVIER LICENSE – PAGE 2 OF 5

Rightslink Printable License

Estimated size (number of 150 pages) Elsevier VAT number GB 494 6272 12 Terms and Conditions

INTRODUCTION

 The publisher for this copyrighted material is Elsevier. By clicking "accept" in connection with completing this licensing transaction, you agree that the following terms and conditions apply to this transaction (along with the Billing and Payment terms and conditions established by Copyright Clearance Center, Inc. ("CCC"), at the time that you opened your Rightslink account and that are available at any time at http://myaccount.copyright.com).

GENERAL TERMS

Elsevier hereby grants you permission to reproduce the aforementioned material subject to the terms and conditions indicated.

3. Acknowledgement: If any part of the material to be used (for example, figures) has appeared in our publication with credit or acknowledgement to another source, permission must also be sought from that source. If such permission is not obtained then that material may not be included in your publication/copies. Suitable acknowledgement to the source must be made, either as a footnote or in a reference list at the end of your publication, as follows:

"Reprinted from Publication title, Vol /edition number, Author(s), Title of article / title of chapter, Pages No., Copyright (Year), with permission from Elsevier [OR APPLICABLE SOCIETY COPYRIGHT OWNER]." Also Lancet special credit - "Reprinted from The Lancet, Vol. number, Author(s), Title of article, Pages No., Copyright (Year), with permission from Elsevier."

Reproduction of this material is confined to the purpose and/or media for which permission is hereby given.

5. Altering/Modifying Material: Not Permitted. However figures and illustrations may be altered/adapted minimally to serve your work. Any other abbreviations, additions, deletions and/or any other alterations shall be made only with prior written authorization of Elsevier Ltd. (Please contact Elsevier at permissions@elsevier.com)

6. If the permission fee for the requested use of our material is waived in this instance, please be advised that your future requests for Elsevier materials may attract a fee.

 Reservation of Rights: Publisher reserves all rights not specifically granted in the combination of (i) the license details provided by you and accepted in the course of this licensing transaction, (ii) these terms and conditions and (iii) CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions.

License Contingent Upon Payment: While you may exercise the rights licensed immediately upon issuance of the license at the end of the licensing process for the

https://s100.copyright.com/CustomerAdmin/PrintableLicenseFrame.jsp?licenseID=201008... 8/26/2010

Page 2 of 5

ELSEVIER LICENSE – PAGE 3 OF 5

Rightslink Printable License

transaction, provided that you have disclosed complete and accurate details of your proposed use, no license is finally effective unless and until full payment is received from you (either by publisher or by CCC) as provided in CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions. If full payment is not received on a timely basis, then any license preliminarily granted shall be deemed automatically revoked and shall be void as if never granted. Further, in the event that you breach any of these terms and conditions or any of CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions, the license is automatically revoked and shall be void as if never granted. Use of materials as described in a revoked license, as well as any use of the materials beyond the scope of an unrevoked license, may constitute copyright infringement and publisher reserves the right to take any and all action to protect its copyright in the materials.

9. Warranties: Publisher makes no representations or warranties with respect to the licensed material.

10. Indemnity: You hereby indemnify and agree to hold harmless publisher and CCC, and their respective officers, directors, employees and agents, from and against any and all claims arising out of your use of the licensed material other than as specifically authorized pursuant to this license.

 No Transfer of License: This license is personal to you and may not be sublicensed, assigned, or transferred by you to any other person without publisher's written permission.

12. No Amendment Except in Writing: This license may not be amended except in a writing signed by both parties (or, in the case of publisher, by CCC on publisher's behalf).

13. Objection to Contrary Terms: Publisher hereby objects to any terms contained in any purchase order, acknowledgment, check endorsement or other writing prepared by you, which terms are inconsistent with these terms and conditions or CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions. These terms and conditions, together with CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions (which are incorporated herein), comprise the entire agreement between you and publisher (and CCC) concerning this licensing transaction. In the event of any conflict between your obligations established by these terms and conditions and those established by CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions, these terms and conditions shall control.

14. Revocation: Elsevier or Copyright Clearance Center may deny the permissions described in this License at their sole discretion, for any reason or no reason, with a full refund payable to you. Notice of such denial will be made using the contact information provided by you. Failure to receive such notice will not alter or invalidate the denial. In no event will Elsevier or Copyright Clearance Center be responsible or liable for any costs, expenses or damage incurred by you as a result of a denial of your permission request, other than a refund of the amount(s) paid by you to Elsevier and/or Copyright Clearance Center for denied permissions.

LIMITED LICENSE

The following terms and conditions apply only to specific license types:

15. Translation: This permission is granted for non-exclusive world English rights only

https://s100.copyright.com/CustomerAdmin/PrintableLicenseFrame.jsp?licenseID=201008... 8/26/2010

Page 3 of 5

ELSEVIER LICENSE – PAGE 4 OF 5

Rightslink Printable License

unless your license was granted for translation rights. If you licensed translation rights you may only translate this content into the languages you requested. A professional translator must perform all translations and reproduce the content word for word preserving the integrity of the article. If this license is to re-use 1 or 2 figures then permission is granted for non-exclusive world rights in all languages.

 Website: The following terms and conditions apply to electronic reserve and author websites:

Electronic reserve: If licensed material is to be posted to website, the web site is to be password-protected and made available only to bona fide students registered on a relevant course if:

This license was made in connection with a course,

This permission is granted for 1 year only. You may obtain a license for future website posting,

All content posted to the web site must maintain the copyright information line on the bottom of each image,

A hyper-text must be included to the Homepage of the journal from which you are licensing at <u>http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/journal/xxxxx</u> or the Elsevier homepage for books <u>at http://www.elsevier.com</u>, and

Central Storage: This license does not include permission for a scanned version of the material to be stored in a central repository such as that provided by Heron/XanEdu.

17. Author website for journals with the following additional clauses:

All content posted to the web site must maintain the copyright information line on the bottom of each image, and

he permission granted is limited to the personal version of your paper. You are not allowed to download and post the published electronic version of your article (whether PDF or HTML, proof or final version), nor may you scan the printed edition to create an electronic version,

A hyper-text must be included to the Homepage of the journal from which you are licensing at <u>http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/journal/xxxxxx</u>, As part of our normal production process, you will receive an e-mail notice when your article appears on Elsevier's online service ScienceDirect (www.sciencedirect.com). That e-mail will include the article's Digital Object Identifier (DOI). This number provides the electronic link to the published article and should be included in the posting of your personal version. We ask that you wait until you receive this e-mail and have the DOI to do any posting.

Central Storage: This license does not include permission for a scanned version of the material to be stored in a central repository such as that provided by Heron/XanEdu.

18. Author website for books with the following additional clauses: Authors are permitted to place a brief summary of their work online only. A hyper-text must be included to the Elsevier homepage at http://www.elsevier.com

All content posted to the web site must maintain the copyright information line on the bottom of each image

You are not allowed to download and post the published electronic version of your chapter, nor may you scan the printed edition to create an electronic version. Central Storage: This license does not include permission for a scanned version of the

material to be stored in a central repository such as that provided by Heron/XanEdu.

https://s100.copyright.com/CustomerAdmin/PrintableLicenseFrame.jsp?licenseID=201008... 8/26/2010

Page 4 of 5

ELSEVIER LICENSE – PAGE 5 OF 5

Rightslink Printable License

19. Website (regular and for author): A hyper-text must be included to the Homepage of the journal from which you are licensing at

http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/journal/xxxxx. or for books to the Elsevier homepage at http://www.elsevier.com

20. Thesis/Dissertation: If your license is for use in a thesis/dissertation your thesis may be submitted to your institution in either print or electronic form. Should your thesis be published commercially, please reapply for permission. These requirements include permission for the Library and Archives of Canada to supply single copies, on demand, of the complete thesis and include permission for UMI to supply single copies, on demand, of the complete thesis. Should your thesis be published commercially, please reapply for permission.

21. Other Conditions:

v1.6

Gratis licenses (referencing \$0 in the Total field) are free. Please retain this printable license for your reference. No payment is required.

If you would like to pay for this license now, please remit this license along with your payment made payable to "COPYRIGHT CLEARANCE CENTER" otherwise you will be invoiced within 48 hours of the license date. Payment should be in the form of a check or money order referencing your account number and this invoice number RLNK10838495.

Once you receive your invoice for this order, you may pay your invoice by credit card. Please follow instructions provided at that time.

Make Payment To: Copyright Clearance Center Dept 001 P.O. Box 843006 Boston, MA 02284-3006

If you find copyrighted material related to this license will not be used and wish to cancel, please contact us referencing this license number 2496621046185 and noting the reason for cancellation.

Questions? <u>customercare@copyright.com</u> or +1-877-622-5543 (toll free in the US) or +1-978-646-2777.

https://s100.copyright.com/CustomerAdmin/PrintableLicenseFrame.jsp?licenseID=201008... 8/26/2010

Page 5 of 5

KAREN L. KENNEDY

EDUCATION

2010	Doctor of Philosophy (PhD) in Biomedical Engineering The University of Western Ontario, London, Ontario <i>Controlled Delivery of Serp-1 Protein from Poly(vinyl alcohol) Hydrogel</i> Supervisor: Dr. Wankei Wan
2003	Bachelor of Engineering (BEng) Dalhousie University, Halifax, Nova Scotia Biosystems Engineering: Biomachines and Robotics Option
2000	Bachelor of Science (BSc) Saint Mary's University, Halifax, Nova Scotia Major: Biology, Minor: Chemistry

AWARDS

2009	Canadian Biomaterials Society Conference Travel Award (\$500)
2005 - 2008	Western Graduate Research Scholarship (WGRS) (\$6600 per year)
2005 - 2007	CIHR Training Award in Vascular Research (\$10,000 per year)

RELATED WORK EXPERIENCE

2006 – 2008	Graduate Teaching Assistant in Biomaterials Engineering Biomedical Engineering Graduate Program The University of Western Ontario Supervisors: Dr. W.K. Wan and Dr. A. Rizkalla
2006 – 2007	Graduate Teaching Assistant in Introduction to Biomedical Engineering Biomedical Engineering Graduate Program The University of Western Ontario Supervisor: Dr. I. MacDonald

RELATED WORK EXPERIENCE continued

2005 – 2006	Graduate Teaching Assistant in BME Graduate Seminar Series Biomedical Engineering Graduate Program The University of Western Ontario Supervisor: Dr. T. Jenkyn
2003 - 2005	Graduate Teaching Assistant in Industrial Organic Chemistry Department of Chemical and Biochemical Engineering The University of Western Ontario Supervisor: Dr. Paul Charpentier

CONFERENCE PRESENTATIONS

- **Kennedy, K.L.**, Wan, W.K. (2010) Controlled Release of Protein from Poly(vinyl alcohol) Hydrogels. Poster Presentation at the 28th Annual Meeting of the Canadian Biomaterials Society, Kingston, Ontario.
- **Kennedy, K.L.**, Lucas, A.R. and Wan, W.K. (2009) Controlled Release of an Antiinflammatory Protein. Oral Presentation at the 27th Annual Meeting of the Canadian Biomaterials Society, Quebec, Quebec.
- **Kennedy, K.L.**, Lucas, A.R. and Wan, W.K. (2008) Controlled Drug Delivery of an Anti-inflammatory Protein. Poster Presentation at the 8th World Biomaterials Congress, Amsterdam, The Netherlands.
- **Kennedy, K.L.**, Lucas, A.R. and Wan, W.K. (2007) Controlled Drug Delivery of a Viral Anti-inflammatory Protein from Poly(Vinyl Alcohol). Oral Presentation at the 26th Annual Meeting of the Canadian Biomaterials Society, London, Ontario.
- Wong, E.Y.L, **Kennedy, K.L.**, and Wan, W.K. (2006) Mechanical Properties of Optically Transparent Poly(Vinyl Alcohol) by the Freeze-Thaw Method. Poster Presentation at the 25th Annual Meeting of the Canadian Biomaterials Society, Calgary, Alberta.
- **Kennedy, K.L.**, Mohammadi, H., Yang, L. and Wan, W.K. (2005) Protein Release from a Poly(Vinyl Alcohol) Hydrogel Matrix. Poster Presentation at the AFMnet Hydrogel Workshop, London, Ontario.
- Yang, L., Chan, B.M.C., Gan, B.S., Kennedy, K.L., and Wan, W.K. (2005) Polyvinyl Alcohol Wound Dressing With Sustainable Antibiotic Delivery. Oral Presentation at the 24th Annual Meeting of the Canadian Biomaterials Society, Waterloo, Ontario.